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Awards #£J8 (2018-2019)

WAIYUEN TONG (AT

Quality Tourism Services Association (QTSA)
B & IR AR 75 15 & (QTSA)

Outstanding QTS Merchant Service Supervisory Staff —
Silver Award (Foodstuffs)

BEEEE RGP 18 H TIRGS — S (— i frih)

Hong Kong Brand Development Council

FEmEERR

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark) 2019
TIEA RS (TOP ) 2019

The Nielsen Company
JERARRF]

Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder Ranked 1st in Sales Value
& Sales Volume for 5 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong*

DGR A B UL R A 51 15 40 SR 1 B A ey

Based in part on data reported by Nielsen through its Retail Index Service for the defined Hou Cho Powder
segment of Cough Remedy category for the 5-year period ending May 2018 (from June 2013 to May 2018), for
Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright © 2018 The Nielsen Company)

IR Nielsen EBAR R RAIE E 20185 A IS F R (B 2013F 6 AR 2018F 5 A7) 2B EHBA IS - EFIE
RERRIERETERERE (02018 EBRAANRENE)

LUXEMBOURG MEDICINE Ji 75 #8 K 88 i

The Nielsen Company
[EBAR A R]

Madame Pearl’s Ranked 1st in Sales Value for
8 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong*

IR N A ) \ AT 2 5 A 6 4 i B

Based in part on data reported by Nielsen through its Retail Index Service for the defined Cough Syrup category for the
8-year period ending December 2017 (from January 2010 to December 2017), for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and
Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright © 2018 The Nielsen Company)

R Nielsen EFFRAREZE2017F 12 A L8 F B (B 2010F1 BE2017F 12 ) 2B BHBRMIZ - ERE RS
BREKTEAETHRE (02018 ERARRAIRERE)
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Awards #£J8 (2018-2019)

The Professional Validation Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector
EEBEZXRTIEPL
PVCBS Brand Excellence Award 2018
2018 Faal R R AE

Eugene Group
fRIEEE

Parents’ Favourite Proprietary Chinese Medicine Brand for
Newborns 2019

EEMG i 2 U Sl K EE A 2019

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

FELE RGBS

10 Years Plus Caring Company

10 4E Plus R 53¢ e B 1%

The Nielsen Company
[EBARAR]

Pearl’s Ranked 1st in Sales Value for 8 Consecutive Years
in Hong Kong*

B FG M) \ A 4= 7t 15 A i +

Based in part on data reported by Nielsen through its Retail Index Service for the defined Mosquito Repeller (for human)
category for the 8-year period ending October 2018 (from November 2010 to October 2018), for Key Account
Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright © 2019 The Nielsen Company)

R Nielsen EBRFAR D FIEZE 20186 10 AL s FHIRI (520105 11 AZE 2018510 A) 2B EHBR™IZ - FEFERERE
SR A M (EARAR) ZEAERE (02019 BERARRAMENE)

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

BRELERBGHE s

HII.+
10 Years Plus Caring Company ’
10 £ Plus id 5t BRI e ST ——

"_'"“'?ﬁ"m

fr ot SR PR AT IR ] 5
ZHUERAH



Chairman’s Statement
2

We will realise our century-old
well-established brand value to
¥ its fullest extent, thereby enabling
our products to shine in the local
and global markets. | hereby

express my heartfelt gratitude

to our colleagues for their
continuous contributions.
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Chairman’s Statement
BN T

Dear Shareholders,

Business Review

In 2018, the opening of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail
Link and the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge led to an increase in the
number of visitors to Hong Kong. Visitor arrivals to Hong Kong for the year
reached about 65 million, representing an increase of 11.4% over 2017. The
increase in visitor arrivals also invigorated the retail market. The statistics
released by the Hong Kong Census and Statistics Department show that the
value of total retail sales in 2018 increased by 8.8% year-on-year. In particular,
the sales value of medicines and cosmetics and Chinese medicine increased
by 14.3% and 5.3% respectively. Benefited from the continued improvement
in the tourism and retail industries, during the year, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited (the "Company’, together with its subsidiaries, collectively
the "Group”) maintained stable development in terms of its core business
given its flexible operating strategy, with a total revenue of HK$751.4 million
for the year.

With a history of over 120 years, “Wai Yuen Tong” remains true to the original
aspiration of the management team and the Company of “Preparing
Medicine with Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation”. The
management team and employees make concerted effort to provide quality
products and services and facilitate this century-old brand to embrace new
opportunities and explore new horizons. The Group protects consumers’
health by incorporating Chinese and Western elements through “Wai Yuen
Tong", a widely-known Chinese medicine brand held through Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Company Limited ("WYT Medicine”, together with its subsidiaries
the "WYT Medicine Group”), and “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, world-
renowned Western medicine and health food brands held through
Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited (“Luxembourg Medicine”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Luxembourg Medicine Group”).

In addition, the Group makes good use of property resources to obtain stable
income through leasing and trading. As at the date of this annual report, the
Group completed the disposal of its retail shops at Hip Wo Street, Kwun Tong
and No. 166 Sai Yeung Choi Street South, Mong Kok. Total proceeds from the
disposals are estimated to be HK$155.9 million will be used for repayment of
bank loans and general working capital, enabling the Group to stabilise its
financial situation and foster its continuous development.
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Chairman’s Statement
BNk

Since its commencement of operation in 2017, the traditional Chinese
medicine ("“TCM") and Western pharmaceutical medicine good
manufacturing practice ("GMP”) factory in Yuen Long (the “Yuen Long
Factory”) in which the Group made an investment of almost HKS600 million,
manufactured “Angong Niuhuang Wan (% & 4 & #1)", a new high value-
added product as well as “Angong Jiangya Wan (% 3 F£BE )" and “Angong
Zaizao Wan (& & 8 % A)’, the same series of products launched in 2018.
Production lines of the Yuen Long Factory are constructed and operated in
accordance with the standard of the “Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation
Scheme” ("PIC/S"), the most stringent manufacturing practice regulation with
worldwide recognition. Currently, there are six TCM production lines and
three Western pharmaceutical medicine production lines. With production of
TCM and Western pharmaceutical medicine both available locally, the Group
also enjoys the advantages of “100% made in Hong Kong" and the products
are of a higher quality and more reliable, which boost customer confidence.
The factory is equipped with a number of advanced equipment, including
TCM extraction and concentration and granulation equipment. Automated
production equipment has also significantly increased production capacity
and reduced overall operating costs. The Group will actively seize market
demand and opportunities, strengthen innovative Research and
Development (“R&D") and product mix, continue to invest resources in the
production lines of the Yuen Long Factory, and launch more new products
that appeal for health demands.
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Chairman’s Statement
BN T

In terms of the segment of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products, the Group made use of the advanced equipment in the new plant
to strengthen its R&D of its core pharmaceutical aqua products, and further
promoted product diversification and accelerated the development of new
sales channels. Upper airway product series under “"Madame Pearl’s” and
personal care product series under “Pearl’s” of Luxembourg Medicine are all
manufactured in-house, without relying on any external processing plant. The
Group will continue to strengthen its promotional efforts and further diversify
its sales channels to enhance the market penetration of Western
pharmaceutical and health food products, with a particular focus on the
consolidation of the market-leading position of its key products including the
upper airway product series under “Madame Pearl’s” and personal care
product series under “Pearl’s”

At present, the Group operates more than 60 retail stores in Hong Kong and
has the largest resident Chinese medicine practitioner team in Hong Kong,
with an industry-leading position in terms of scale. In recent years, as part of
its strategy targeting visitors to Hong Kong, the Group has been opening new
stores and intensifying distribution outlets in areas with more individual
travelers and visitors, such as Sheung Shui, Tuen Mun and Yuen Long. The
Group has more than 3,000 points of sale in Hong Kong and widened its
distribution partner category in the year of 2018 to ensure that the full range
of products are available in all major channels. In addition to taking root in
the Hong Kong market, the Group is also actively exploring mainland
business and has already spread its retail outlets from Southern to Northern
China.

In the Mainland market, in recent years, increasing national attention is placed
on the TCM development. Under the planning of the 13th Five-Year Plan, the
TCM development has been upgraded to a national strategy. In addition to
inheriting and promoting the culture of TCM, the government has also
vigorously promoted TCM research and innovation to achieve the goal of
building a healthy China and promote industrialisation and modernisation of
TCM and create opportunities for TCM to “go global”. In the Outline
Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
promulgated in February 2019, it is emphasised that Guangdong, Hong Kong
and Macao should maintain close cooperation in the field of medical and
healthcare and intensify cooperation in the field of TCM, so as to promote the
construction of TCM bay area and to build Greater Bay Area into a world-class,
high-standard TCM bay area.
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Chairman’s Statement
BNk

In line with national policies, the Group has established factory in mainland
China in recent years, which has created synergistic effects with the Yuen
Long Factory and has expanded the production capacity and variety of the
Group’s TCM products. In addition to product production, the Group will
continue to expand its TCM planting base in the Mainland to ensure the
quality of raw materials.

With the rapid development of network economy, e-commerce has become
the mainstream of retail business. In order to cope with recent trends and
attract more young customers, the Group has actively promoted e-business
in recent years to enhance efficiency and improve services, including the
launch of mobile applications with outpatient appointments to save
customers’ waiting time. The e-business strategy is also widely applied in
marketing and promotion in Hong Kong and the Mainland. Products of the
Group are sold on various online shopping platforms. In 2018, the Group
cooperated with the Kerryflex offline-to-online platform to enable Mainland
consumers to purchase Hong Kong version of Wai Yuen Tong health food
products through ordering on mobile software applications. Only four days
are required for delivery.

The Group actively fulfils corporate social responsibility including providing
free TCM consultations, participating in Orbis charity product sale and
organising orphanage home visit. The Group actively motivated its
employees and their family members to take part in charitable outdoor sports
activities that foster physical and mental health. It also supported Southern
District Recreation and Sports Association to promote community recreation
and sports events. The Group is also an active advocator and supporter to
academic interaction. During the year, the Group and Nanjing University of
Chinese Medicine jointly established an education development fund, further
facilitating TCM expertise exchanges between mainland China and Hong
Kong, technology R&D, in order to promote Chinese traditional culture and
fostering talents.
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Chairman’s Statement
BN T

Outlook

Although global economic growth is expected to slow down in 2019 due to
intense global trading situation and uncertainties brought about by
geopolitics, the Mainland’s GDP grew solidly by 6.4% in the first quarter this
year. With the steady growth of the Mainland economy, it is expected visitor
arrivals to Hong Kong will continue to increase. In addition, according to the
statistics of the Hong Kong Census and Statistics Department, the volume of
total retail sales for the first two months of 2019 decreased slightly by 1.8% as
compared with the same period of last year. This reflected a cautious
consumer sentiment weighed down by various external uncertainties.
However, full employment and the construction of the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-
Macao Bridge should provide some support and keep the retail industry in
Hong Kong stable.

The Group will continue to develop and launch high value-added new
products in response to market needs. Fully automated equipment in the
Yuen Long Factory will also help reduce overall operating costs and
significantly increase production efficiency. The Group will continue to
identify TCM professionals, recruit frontline staff and senior TCM practitioners
to provide better quality TCM health food products and services.

We will continue to strengthen cost control, improve the operating efficiency,
better coordinate promotion, distribution and pricing strategies, give full play
to the synergy of medicines and health food products, and at the same time,
identify suitable merger and acquisition opportunities, diversify existing
business portfolios, so as to create more value for shareholders.

Appreciation

I hereby extend my particular appreciation to our business partners and
shareholders for their long-lasting support, and express my heartfelt gratitude
to our colleagues for their contributions. | hope that by staying true to our
original aspiration and vision, our brand value of "Wai Yuen Tong” would be
realised to its fullest extent, and we will continue to play an integral role and
contribute to the protection of people’s health under our mission, thereby
enabling “Wai Yuen Tong"” to shine in the local and global markets.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B BHL g et i B 0

By adhering to our philosophy of

. “Preparing medicine with dedication,
Growing strong with reputation”,

Wai Yuen Tong will continue to develop
and launch high value-added new
products in response to market needs.
The Group will continue to strive to
employ its synergy of Chinese and
Western medicines for defending
consumers’ health.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded a revenue of
HKS$751.4 million (2018: HKS$845.8 million) and a profit attributable to owners
of the parent of HK$74.6 million (2018: a loss of HK$115.6 million). Such
improvement was mainly attributable to a gain on bargain purchase of
additional equity interests in an associate, improvement in results of such
associate, the revaluation gains of the Group's properties and the reversal of
impairment losses on financial assets due to adoption of HKFRS 9.

Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil). No interim dividend was made for the
six months ended 30 September 2018 (30 September 2017: Nil).

Business Review

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 decreased by 11.2%
to HKS751.4 million (2018: HK$845.8 million). Against the backdrop of
consolidating distribution channels and relocation of production, total
revenue of the Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products decreased by 11.4% to HK$740.7 million (2018: HK$836.1 million).
Various new products were launched to enrich our product offerings during
the year. A solid foundation was laid down for future growth. The profit
attributable to owners of the parent was HK$74.6 million (2018: a loss of
HKS$115.6 million).

(1) Chinese Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products
During the year under review, revenue of the Chinese pharmaceutical
and health food products decreased by 10.8% year-on-year to HK$624.7
million. It implemented various initiatives during the year for the long
term growth of the Group, including enriching the product range and
consolidating distribution channels. Revenue of this business segment
accounted for 83.1% of total revenue of the Group.
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With the world's aging population and ardent demand for healthy
living, the Group continued to promote and develop a series of
traditional Chinese medicine (“TCM") healthcare products for common
diseases of urban people. This year, Angong Sanbao (% & = &) has
been successfully completed: Angong Niuhuang Wan (% & 4 & A1),
Angong Jiangya Wan (&= F& B 41) and Angong Zaizao Wan (% = &
#A), which are gatekeepers of cardiovascular health of the public
based on the overall concept of emergency-prevention-rehabilitation.
The series is registered in Hong Kong according to ancient
prescriptions/nationally recognised prescription and its whole
production process is carried out at the Group’s Good Manufacturing
Practice ("GMP")/The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme
("PIC/S") factory in Yuen Long, Hong Kong. The Group has launched a
series of product promotion, which successfully drew public attention
to cerebrovascular health information through health talks and event
promotional vehicles in various districts.

At the same time, the Group actively developed various Chinese patent
medicine products for urban diseases, such as “three-hypers” and
"gastrointestinal disorder”. Among them, Gastrointestinal Pills (¥ 5 1E
KAL) and Stomach Relief Granules (B# 1IE 8 J7), for the treatment of
gastrointestinal discomfort, both registered as Chinese patent
medicines, were launched. During the current year, the Group
continued to promote the Ganoderma Lucidum Spores Lipid (& = 71
FA) for assisting patients with refractory diseases, and cooperated
with scientific research institutions to further establish its auxiliary
effects and disseminated product information to those in need through
health talks jointly organised with medical institutions. In the healthcare
sector, main products of this year included Golden Dura-Gizer (<& Z£ |
gp) for men's vitality and Colla Corii Asini (P ) products for women’s
beauty and blood nourishing which provided suitable health food
products for various consumer groups.
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The Group targeted better cost efficiency through further optimisation
of its retail sales network and distribution channels. We had enhanced
the distribution channel by partnering with a strong distributor in the
fourth quarter of 2018 which will focus on distributing our products to
the key accounts in Hong Kong. By the end of the year, we had over 60
retail outlets in Hong Kong. The enhanced distribution network helps
strengthen the Group's sales and brand recognition. A strong network
has been laid down for a sustainable growth in the future.

The Group is well aware of the importance of networks nowadays and
therefore has intensified its efforts to explore other sales channels,
major customers, distributors and overseas regions to expand and
enrich its sales channels. Increased investment will be also made in the
development of online shopping platform.

Last but not least, the Group will continue to work with renowned
universities and research institutes to promote and develop various
types of Chinese medicine health products. In face of future challenges,
the Group will insist on strict monitoring on product quality and a
sincere service attitude.

Revenue of the Western pharmaceutical and health food products
decreased by 14.7% to HK$116.0 million amidst the process of
relocating production to our GMP/PIC/S factory in Yuen Long, Hong
Kong.

The two major product series, namely “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”
under this business segment encountered different challenges during
the year. The segment’s prime product — cough syrup — under the
“Madame Pearl’s” brand was affected by the relocation of production
facilities to the Group's new GMP/PIC/S plant in Yuen Long which was
gradually put in production since April 2017. Installation of equipment
and the time required for application of relevant production permits
resulted in decline in production volume of “Madame Pearl's” cough
syrup. The relocation of production was completed by the end of 2018.

The "Pearl’s” product series, which comprises MosquitOut spray, hand
cream and itching relief products, faced with severe price competition.

Despite a highly competitive market environment, “Pearl’s” MosquitOut
remained as a leading brand in this product category.
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During the year, the Group placed substantial resources in revamping
its Western pharmaceutical and health food product distribution
channels in order to improve efficiency. More resources were put on
branding aiming to strengthen the brand loyalty for both “Madame
Pearl’s” and "Pearl’s” product series. To comply with mainland China’s
relevant regulations, the Group has engaged various local industry
players to rejuvenate the penetration of its upper airway product series
under “Madame Pearl’s” into mainland China.

Capitalising on state-of-the-art technology and advanced equipment of
the Group’s Yuen Long factory, the Group continued to carry out
research and development of products for core medical solution
targeting at institutional clients.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group owned 16 properties
which are all retail properties. Majority of those properties were self-
used as retail shops while some were leased out for generating rental
income. The net fair value gains on investment properties amounted to
HKS$17.4 million (2018: fair value gains of HK$23.4 million).

In April 2018, the Group acquired four retail shops located in Causeway
Bay, Shau Kei Wan, Mong Kok and Tai Po, for a total consideration of
approximately HK$350.0 million.

On 28 February 2019, the Group reached a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with independent third parties to sell the retail
shop at Hip Wo Street, Kwun Tong at a consideration of HK$53.1 million,
completion of which took place in June 2019. On 28 March 2019, the
Group also concluded a preliminary sale and purchase agreement with
another independent third party to sell the retail shop at No. 166 Sai
Yeung Choi Street South, Mong Kok at a consideration of HK$102.8
million, completion of which took place in May 2019. These two
properties were reclassified as assets classified as held for sale as at 31
March 2019.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Investment in Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy One”)

Easy One (Stock Code: 221), a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), is
principally engaged in the businesses of property development in
mainland China, provision of finance and securities brokerage services
in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held 29.06% (2018: 23.8%) of the issued
shares of Easy One. Easy One is an associate of the Group. The increase
in equity interests in Easy One during the year resulted in a gain on
bargain purchase which was recognised in share of profit of associate.
The Group's share of profit of Easy One during the year amounted to
HK$49.0 million included a gain on bargain purchase of additional
equity interests of Easy One of HK$38.0 million (2018: share of loss of
HK$96.1 million included a loss on deemed partial disposal of equity
interests in Easy One of HK$52.2 million). The improvement on Easy
One’s performance was one of the reasons for the Group's favourable
results for the year.

On 18 September 2018, the Group entered into a loan agreement for
granting of not exceeding a sum of HK$65.0 million to Easy One for a
term of 36 months at an interest rate of 7.0% per annum. As at 31 March
2019, the loan was fully repaid by Easy One.

Investment in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (“CAP”)

CAP (Stock Code: 149), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, is principally engaged in the management and sales of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in mainland China.

In 2014 and 2016, the Group subscribed the unlisted 5-year bond due
November 2019 with coupon rate of 10.0% per annum issued by CAP
(the "2019 CAP Bonds"). During the year, CAP had early redemption part
of the principal amounted to HK$220.0 million to the Group. As at 31
March 2019, the remaining principal amount held by the Group was
HK$700.0 million (2018: HK$920.0 million).
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The investment in the 2019 CAP Bonds was classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31 March 2019
which had previously been classified as available-for-sale investments.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Income and Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

The Group has maintained a portfolio of equity investments and debt
investments which are held for long term investment purpose aiming
to generating a stable income.

The equity investments are investments in companies listed on the
Stock Exchange and were irrevocably designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income as the Group considers these investments
to be strategic in nature. The fair value of equity investments at 31
March 2019 was HK$87.4 million (2018: HKS125.7 million). During the
year, the Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of
equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
of HK$39.3 million (2018: net loss on change in fair value through profit
or loss of HK$18.8 million).

The debt investments (excluding the 2019 CAP Bonds) are investments
in listed bonds. The Group increased the investments in listed bonds by
HKS177.2 million which carried annual interest rates ranging from
5.375% to 15.500% in order to generating a stable income. The fair
value of investments in listed bonds of HK$184.5 million (2018:
available-for-sale investments of HK$2.0 million), of which HK$165.1
million were designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, investment on listed perpetual bonds amounted to HK$19.4
million were classified as debt investments at fair value through profit
or loss. During the year, the Group recorded a net gain on change in fair
value of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income of HK$4.6 million (2018: Nil) and a net gain on change in fair
value of debt investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$0.6
million (2018: Nil).

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Commissioning of the Yuen Long Factory

The modern TCM and Western medicine factory of the Group in Yuen
Long Industrial Estate has commenced operation in phases since April
2017. The plant was granted the standard certification of the PIC/S by
the Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia (TGA) in the first half
of 2017. The manufacturing unit of Luxembourg Medicine, a subsidiary
of the Group, was granted the PIC/S certification by the Pharmacy and
Poisons Board of Hong Kong in September 2017. The plant is also GMP
certified. Such certifications signify the production facilities’ compliance
with local and international industry standards.

The Yuen Long plant utilises the latest technology meeting stringent
environment and quality requirements. With the installation of fully
automated equipment and clean room facilities, the plant is capable of
significantly enhancing the Group's overall production capacity and
product quality. The plant’s inauguration serves to further reinforce the
Group's business concept of having its products “100% made in Hong
Kong”.

With the purified water system conforming to the specifications of the
British Pharmacopoeia, Luxembourg Medicine's products are ensured
to be complied with the Hong Kong Hospital Authority’s medicine
tender requirement, as well as the indicators of the prescription
medicines by local doctors. The new factory is also equipped with state-
of-the-art laboratory in microbiology and testing equipment.

By the end of 2018, the production of “Madame Pearl's” cough syrup
was relocated to Yuen Long factory successfully. After obtaining the
relevant production permits, mass production is possible to meet the
market demand.
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Financial Review

(1) Liquidity and Gearing and Financial Resources
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total assets of HK$3,454.7 million
(2018: HKS$3,656.5 million) which were financed by current liabilities of
HK$381.3 million (2018: HKS$425.4 million), non-current liabilities of
HK$625.2 million (2018: HKS671.1 million) and shareholders’ equity of
HK$2,448.1 million (2018: HKS$2,560.0 million).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's bank balances and cash were
HKS$171.2 million (2018: HK$420.8 million).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's total bank borrowings amounted to
HK$852.2 million (2018: HK$927.0 million), all of which bore interest at
floating interest rates and were denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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Bank loans repayable:

Within one year —FR 232 27.2% 265 28.6%
In the second year REMF 45 5.3% 42 45%

In the third to fifth years, RE=FEZFREF
inclusive (BEEEMF) 164 19.3% 152 16.4%
Beyond five years HENE 411 48.2% 468 50.5%
Total st 852 100% 927 100%

The Group maintained a healthy liquidity position. The current ratio,
being a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities, was 3.5
(2018: 2.5). The gearing ratio, being the ratio of total borrowings net of
bank balances and cash to equity attributable to owners of the parent,
was 27.9% (2018: 19.8%). The Group always adopts a conservative
approach in its financial management.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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(2) Significant Investments Held (2)
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income of HK$939.4 million and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of HK$21.3 million, details of which
were set out as follows:

T~
Asat 31 March 2019 Forthe year ended 31 March 2019 Fair value/carrying amount
RZB-AE=R=1-A BE-F-hWESA=T-BLEE AVE/BEE
Percentage  Percentage
Number to share- tothe Bond Asat Asat
of shares Amount holding in Group’s Fair value interest Dividends 31 March 1April Investment
held held such stock net assets gain/(loss) income received 2019 2018 cost
REB  fARE
fi L) BERE AE &% RZB-hE RZZB-NE
ROBE  H58E REAAL Bl k&/(B8)  HEMA  BURE ZA=t-H MA-B  REHA
‘000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Nature of investments Th TR ) TEn TR T Thn AT TR
Financial assets at fair BROTESHM
value through other 2EREAEZ
comprehensive income: BREE:
A Fqutyivestments A TRIERE
Wang On Group Limited EREEERLA
(‘Wang On) (12%)) 423,000 39339 237 161 (4653) - 2538 39,339 890 16819
Others £ty 48,049 1.96 (34,643) = 607 48,049 81691 56603
B Debtinvestments B BERE
2019 CAP Bond ZT-NERE
BERES 686,877 2806 (7.810) 86,162 - 686,877 909562 700000
Others £ty 165,146 6.75 4,612 4017 = 165,146 2029 160447
Sub-total It 939411 3837 (42,494) 90,179 3,145 939411 1037274 933869
Finandial assets at fair BATESERR
value through NEZBHEE
profitor loss:
A Lsted perpetualbonds A EkEES 19,403 079 617 349 = 19,403 - 18,786
B Unisedmuwalfunds B FEIWEZES 1,886 008 (29) - - 1,886 1910 1614
Sub-total It 21,289 0.87 593 349 = 21,289 1910 20400
Total 4 960,700 39.24 (41,901) 90,528 3,145 960,700 1,039,184 954,269
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The principal activities of the securities are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(a)

Wang On (Stock Code: 1222), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, is principally engaged in property
development, property investment, management and sub-
licensing of fresh markets, treasury management and production
and sale of pharmaceutical products in Hong Kong and mainland
China.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other listed
equity securities and listed bond investments in Hong Kong. The
fair value of each of which represented less than 1.00% of the net
assets of the Group as at 31 March 2019.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other mutual
funds, the fair value of each of which represented less than 1.00%
of the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2019.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income include the 2019 CAP Bonds, listed equity securities and
other listed debt investments. The Group has always adopted a
prudent investment strategy and would closely monitor the
market changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and when
necessary. The Group intended to hold these investments for
long term purpose aiming to generating a stable income.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held the 2019 CAP Bonds in the
principal amount of HK$700.0 million (2018: HK$920.0 million). As
at 31 March 2019, the fair value of the 2019 CAP Bonds amounted
to HK$686.9 million (2018: HK$909.6 million).

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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(b)

With a view to optimising its use of cash resources, the Group
increased the investments in debt investments by HK$158.4
million which carried annual interest rates ranging from 5.375% to
15.500% during the year. As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of the
debt investments (excluding the 2019 CAP Bonds) amounted to
HK$165.1 million.

As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of the Group's investments in
listed equity securities amounted to HK$87.4 million (2018:
HKS$125.7 million).

The Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
of HK$42.5 million for the year (2018: a net loss in respect of
available-for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive
income of HK$6.3 million).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 March 2019, the Group maintained an investment
portfolio of unlisted mutual funds and certain listed perpetual
bonds. The Group has always adopted a prudent investment
strategy and would closely monitor the market changes and
adjust its investment portfolio as and when necessary.

With a review to optimise its use of cash resources, the Group
increased the investments in listed perpetual bonds by HK$18.8
million which carried annual interest rates ranging form 6.000% to
6.625% during the year. As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of the
listed perpetual bonds amounted to HK$19.4 million.

The Group had recorded a net gain on change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of HK$0.6 million
for the year (2018: a net loss of HK$17.8 million).
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(4) Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has no material foreign
exchange exposure and thus does not engage in any hedging activities.
All bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
matches the currency requirements of the Group's operating expenses.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly
arising from its operations in mainland China. The RMB exposure of the
Group is mainly derived from currency translation risk arising from the
net assets of the Group’s mainland China subsidiaries. The loss on
translation of foreign operations was HK$13.3 million (2018: gain of

HKS7.4 million).

(5) Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitment of HKS$2.5
million (2018: HK$317.6 million) in respect of the acquisitions of
property, plant and equipment, which were contracted for but not

provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

(6) Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's bank borrowings were secured by the
Group's land and buildings and investment properties, with a total

carrying value of HK$1,010.0 million (2018: HK$645.7 million).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group pledged certain of its financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, with an aggregate carrying amount of
HKS$211.6 million (2018: Nil) and HK$19.4 million (2018: Nil), respectively,

as securities for general banking facilities granted to the Group.

(7) Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no material contingent liabilities

(2018: Nil).
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Relationship with Employees, Suppliers and Customers

The Group recognises our employees as the key element that contributes to
the Group's success. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 685 (2018: 721)
employees, among them approximately 78.8% (2018: approximately 75.5%)
were located in Hong Kong and the rest were located in mainland China. The
Group remunerated its employees based on industry practices and individual
performance and experience. On top of the regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options would also be granted to selected staff
by reference to the Group's performance as well as the individual's
performance. The Group also provides a defined contribution to the
Mandatory Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for our eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Other benefits such as medical and retirement
benefits and structured training programs were also provided. Meanwhile,
the Group endeavours to provide a safe workplace to our employees. The
Board believes that the Group maintains admirable relations with the
employees.

Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its employees, business partners, suppliers, customers,
shareholders, investors and bankers (the “stakeholders”) to achieve its long-
term business growth and development. With an aim to enhancing the
competitiveness of the brands of the Group, it endeavours to provide
consistently high quality and large range of products to its customers; and to
build up and maintain a trustworthy and long-term relationship with its
suppliers.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group has examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we consider that the major
risks and uncertainties that may affect the Group include:

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

26

industrial policy risk: with the deepening of medical system reform and
the issuance of a number of industrial policies and laws in respect of
medical charge control and control of medicines and certification for
Traditional Chinese Medicine significant effect may be brought to the
future development of the pharmaceutical industry;

low growth of customer base: this risk is primarily brought by the
decrease in the number of mainland tourists and Hong Kong economy
recession this year;

environmental protection policies: environmental impact, efficiency
and security of key infrastructure;

cost control: in face of rising costs, the Group may be able to absorb
cost increase entirely via cost control measures which may in turn
reduce the Group's profit;

impairment of inventory: impairment value of inventory due to weather,
expiry date and other damages;

supply chain disruption: due to industrial issues, risks of supplier control
and flexibilities, to deal with competitive pricings;

inability to penetrate emerging markets: with potential difficulties to
effectively penetrate traditional industries and traditional products into
emerging markets;

changes in customer behaviour: economy recession may lead to
reduced consumption by customers, which in turn causes reduction in
consumer spending and change of impulsive shopping behavior;

sourcing: less globalised sourcing, the impact on the relative
competitiveness of costs;

volatility in retail rental: continuously increasing in retail rental may
drive down profits; and

foreign exchange: fluctuations in the exchange rate affecting the
Group's cash flow and profits.
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In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has been
closely monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and mainland
China, and would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of policies and
adjust strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating
environment. In particular, the Group will strengthen the marketing
management to cope with changes in consumer behavior and needs, closely
control inventories, establish our own sales policies and product
development, safety management and environmental protection level, and
push forward the construction of lean management and risk control system.
For possible risks, the Company would actively propose solutions to lower
their impacts on the business of the Company.

Prospects

Against the backdrop of China-US trade disputes, we are cautiously optimistic
of the coming year. The overall retail sales in Hong Kong for the first four
months of 2019 slipped 2% year-on-year, showing that the retailers are facing
challenging environment. On the other hand, we expect our Western
pharmaceutical business to record a favourable growth as the cough syrup
under the “Madame Pearl’s” brand has obtained government approval to sell
to the clinical market in Hong Kong. The national policy for Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, as a key development area, also provides a
bright prospect for TCM development.

In order to promote future development and business growth, the Group will
grasp the opportunities for development of TCM in the Greater Bay Area. The
Greater Bay Area, comprising 11 cities covering 56,000 km? and having an
estimated total population of 70 million, has a strong demand for TCM.
Mainland China has been attaching great importance to and spending efforts
to promote the development of TCM in the area. With the reputation “Wai
Yuen Tong” brand established in Hong Kong and overseas over the past
century, and given that its production factory was granted the certificate of
GMP for Proprietary Chinese Medicine of Hong Kong and the standard
certificate of the PIC/S by the Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia,
in the future when product regulation and market sale of Proprietary Chinese
Medicine in the Greater Bay Area integrate, the Group will realise its great
potential.

The Group will continuously expand cooperation with scientific research
institutes and, based on TCM formulas and taking “Made in Hong Kong" as
quality control, promote scientific development in terms of regulation of
Chinese Medicine. We will continue to enhance our distribution network by
penetrating into more local communities and diversify our product range to
meet the needs of customers.
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, SBS, JP, aged 57, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing Director
with effect from 1 April 2018. He is an authorised representative and a
member of the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the
executive committee of the Company. He is responsible for the strategic
planning, policy making and business development of the Group. He has
extensive experience in corporate management. He is also the chairman of
Wang On. Mr. Tang is the committee member of the 12th and 13th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
("CPPCC") and is also appointed as a standing committee member and
convener of the 10th to the 12th plenary sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the
executive chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen
Association. He is the brother of Ms. Tang Mui Fun and the father of Ms. Tang
Wai Man, both are executive Directors.

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, aged 55, was appointed as the Managing
Director in August 20071 and was re-designed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a
member of the executive committee of the Company. He is responsible for
managing the corporate matters of the Group. He is also the managing
director of Wang On, the non-executive chairman of Wang On Properties
Limited ("WOP”) (Stock Code: 1243), the chairman and managing director of
Easy One, the chairman and chief executive officer of CAP, all companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a degree in Accountancy and is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Ms. Tang Mui Fun, aged 48, joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as
the executive Director in September 2007. Ms. Tang is a member of the
executive committee of the Company. She is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development and policy making for the core business
of the Group. Ms. Tang has extensive experience in pharmaceutical industry
and has been re-appointed as a member of each of the Pharmacy and
Poisons (Listed Sellers of Poisons) Committee and the Committee on
Research and Development of Chinese Medicines on an ad personam basis,
she is also elected as a member of each of Chinese Medicine Council of Hong
Kong, Chinese Medicines Board and Chinese Medicines Committee. She
graduated from the University of Hull (England) with a Bachelor degree in
accounting. Prior to joining the Group, she had over two years of experience
in the accounting and auditing fields and five years of experience in general
management. She is a sister of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and
Managing Director.

Ms. Tang Wai Man, aged 28, joined the Group in January 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is also a member of
the executive committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Ms. Tang is responsible for sales and marketing,
channel sales and retail operation in Hong Kong, Macau and mainland China
of the Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK with a Master
of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining the Group, she has
worked for Wang On since July 2014 as an assistant to Wang On’s chairman
and other experience in financial analysis, sales and marketing and business
development in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and
Managing Director and the substantial and controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”) of the Company and a niece of Ms. Tang Mui Fun, an
executive Director.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ho, MH, aged 69, was re-designated as an Independent Non-
executive Director in April 2006 from a non-executive Director and he joined
the Group in 1994. Mr. Leung is a member of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
He has more than 55 years and 24 years of experiences in the watch industry
and financial industry respectively. He is a member of the 11th and 12th
plenary session of the National Committee of the CPPCC, a Standing
Committee Member of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, a
Committee Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong
Kong, the Honorary President of the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce in
China — Guangdong and the Chartered President of the Dongguan City
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Mr. Leung is also
appointed as a candidate of 2016 Election Committee of HKSAR Chief
Executive, Subsector — CPPCC.

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, aged 45, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director in August 2001. He is a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company and the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a
practising solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor
of Laws degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a
law firm, namely Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum, and a China-Appointed Attesting
Officer. His areas of practice include corporate finance, capital markets,
securities, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general commercial
matters. Mr. Siu is also an independent non-executive director of each of
Brilliant Circle Holdings International Limited (stock code: 1008), Shuang Yun
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1706) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code:
1726), all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Siu
was appointed as the independent non-executive director of Weiye Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1570) with effect from March 2016 and resigned from
the position in December 2018.
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Mr. Cho Wing Mou, aged 78, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in September 2001. He is a member of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Cho was
formerly a director and deputy general manager of Hua Chiao Commercial
Bank Limited and a deputy general manager of The China State Bank Limited.
He was a committee member of the 8th Political Consultative Conference
Guangxi and is also a committee member of the 4th plenary session of the
Guangxi Yulin Committee of the CPPCC, Life Chairman of Hong Kong Guangxi
Yulin Friendship Association and Life Chairman of Gee Tuck General
Association Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 64, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company. Mr. Li is currently the deputy managing partner
of Li, Tang, Chen & Co. CPA (Practising). He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, UK, as well as The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive director and
the chairman of the audit committee of Shanghai Industrial Urban
Development Group Limited (stock code: 563). Mr. Li is also an independent
non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee, member of the
nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee of
China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited (stock code: 1123),
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120) and Goldlion
Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), an independent non-executive director,
member of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee and
the chairman of the remuneration committee of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 144), and an independent non-
executive director, member of the audit committee and member of the
remuneration committee of AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited (stock
code: 232), all of such companies are being listed in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Chan Kin Man is currently an Associate Director, Traditional Chinese
Medicine Strategic Development of WYT Medicine Group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning on product marketing field and new product
development. Prior to the joining the Group in 2004, he has more than eight
years of experience in 4A advertising agency Leo Burnett and DY&R. Mr. Chan
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Chinese
Medicine (BChinMed), and obtained a MBA at the University of Wales,
Aberystwyth (UK). He is a Registered Chinese Medicine Practitioner under the
Chinese Medicine Practitioners Board of the Chinese Medicine Council of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Tang Shiu Cheong, Sammy joined the Group in April 2018, as the Sales
& Marketing Director for Western Medicine of the Group. Sammy is
responsible for overall strategy for Western Medicine including marketing,
sales and new product planning. He is also one of the key persons to define
the long term strategy and direction for Western Medicine business of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, he has over 20 years of experience in
multinational companies, in which he took various senior positions in sales,
marketing management, business development and gained extensive
experience. He also has extensive pharmaceutical marketing & sales
experience in both Hong Kong and China with proven track records. Mr. Tang
holds Bachelor degree of Science and BBA in Management from universities
in Hong Kong.

Dr. Tsang Yuen Wo, Warren is currently the Director (Technical) of both the
WYT Medicine Group and the Luxembourg Medicine Group, principal
subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible for technical operations of the
Group including quality assurance, quality control, production, research and
development, engineering and logistic issues. Dr. Tsang received his
BSc(Pharm)(Hons) degree at the Aston University and the PhD degree at the
University of Sydney. He is a registered pharmacist and a registered
Authorized Person of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board of Hong Kong. He has
more than 20 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry.
Academically, Dr. Tsang is currently the Honorary Associate Professor of the
Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,
the University of Hong Kong and the Adjunct Associate Professor, College of
Life Sciences and Technology, the School of Professional and Continuing
Education, the University of Hong Kong. He is also the Managing Editor of the
Hong Kong Pharmaceutical Journal.
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We believe stakeholder
engagement is an important part

of business development and

believe stakeholders’ opinions

help the Group develop a more

comprehensive sustainability

strategy in the future.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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About the Report

This is the third “Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report” (the
“Report”) issued by the Company. By reporting the Group's policies, measures
and performance in environment, social and governance aspects, the Report
allows stakeholders to better understand the Group’s progress and
development direction in sustainability issues. The Report has been prepared
in both Chinese and English versions and will be uploaded to the websites of
HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.wyth.net).

Reporting Year and Scope

In line with 2018 ESG Report, the Report focuses on the Group's two core
businesses, operating income of which accounted for 98.6% of total revenue,
during the financial year from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 (the “Year”). The
Report covers the Group's headquarter office and the Yuen Long Factory in
Hong Kong, as well as the office in Shenzhen, and does not include the Wai
Yuen Tong retail shops.

Production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and

health food products
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Production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and

health food products

LERHERERRBRERERER

Operated by WYT Medicine Group
MU TEHEEEESE
Holds the widely-known century-old Chinese
medicine brand “Wai Yuen Tong"
BEREPBE Y [tz ] AEPERE

o g

The Report does not currently cover all of the Group's operating activities.
Property investments and the investment in Easy One' are not included in the
Report. The Group will review the scope of the report on a regular basis in
accordance with the reporting principle of materiality to ensure that investors
and other stakeholders are provided with sufficient and reliable information.

' Easy Oneis a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and is principally engaged in
the businesses of property development in mainland China, provision of finance and securities
brokerage services in Hong Kong. Easy One will independently publish the ESG Report.

Operated by Luxembourg Medicine Group
HERBRHEESEEE

Holds the world-renowned Western medicine and
health food brands “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”
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Reporting Standards

The Report is prepared in accordance with the “comply or explain” provisions
in the ESG Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) under Appendix 27 of the Listing
Rules. The following reporting principles: materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency underpin the preparation of the ESG report. To provide
stakeholders with a comprehensive understanding of the Group’s ESG
performance, the Report not only discloses environmental key performance
indicators ("KPIs") in accordance with the “comply or explain” provisions, but
also discloses selected social KPIs under the “recommended disclosures” in
the Guide. A complete content index is inserted in the last chapter of the
Report for readers’ reference to the Guide.

Confirmation and Approval

Information contained herein is sourced from the official documents and
statistical data of the Group, and was approved by the Board on 28 June
2019,

Opinion and Feedback
Stakeholders’ opinions help the Group develop a more detailed and
comprehensive sustainability strategy in the future. If you have any questions
or suggestions regarding the Report, please contact the Company by email
(pr@waiyuentong.com).

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance and believes that good corporate governance practices can
effectively lead the Group in establishing and realising long-term strategies
and objectives, and leading enterprises to grasp and respond to the
opportunities and risks brought about by sustainability.

Governance Structure and Management Approach

The Group practises sustainability in the course of business, which is led by
the Managing Director and assisted by the heads of various departments. To
improve the overall governance level, the Group plans to set up an ESG
Working Group in the following year, which reports to the Board and
comprises senior management, representatives from different departments
and employees related to ESG matters, with clear terms of reference. The ESG
Working Group will assist the Board in developing and refining sustainable
development strategies and policies that apply to the entire Group, as well as
reviewing and implementing relevant measures.
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To effectively integrate sustainability into day-to-day operations, the Group is
drafting an ESG Policy based on the guidelines of its parent company, Wang
On, covering different areas including environmental protection,
employment, product responsibility, supply chain, operating practices and
community investment. The Group will continue to strengthen internal
communication and publicly communicate relevant policies and information
to employees to ensure that employees understand the Group's sustainability
management approach. This policy will also lay the foundation for the
establishment and improvement of work guidelines and specific measures
applicable to the business and actual operations.

Being the highest decision-making and management body of the Group, the
Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective risk management
and internal control system and comprehensively assessing and determining
the nature and extent of the risks the Group is willing to bear. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in reviewing and monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control measures. At the same time, the
management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal control
systems, timely reporting their opinion and counter-measures and ensuring
that the monitoring measures are adequate and effective.

The Group engages external consultants to review the effectiveness and
efficiency of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.
During the Year, the external consultants did not identify any significant
defects and shortcomings in the internal control system. Relevant conclusions
and recommendations have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and the
Board. The Board has reviewed the Group's risk management and internal
control systems and procedures, including financial, operational and
compliance, and considered that they are sufficient and effective for internal
control and risk management functions. For details of the risk management
and internal control systems, please refer to page 79 of this annual report.

The Group is aware that the current risk management and internal control
systems have not fully covered sustainability issues. In the future, the Group
plans to conduct annual ESG risk assessments based on the nature of
business, identify potential environmental and social risks, determine
response plans, and enhance the effectiveness of risk management.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is an important part of business development. The
Group’s stakeholders include groups and individuals that have a significant
impact on its business or are affected by its business, including employees
and employee organisations, shareholders and investors, suppliers and
business partners, customers, regulators and communities. The Group is
committed to building an open and transparent communication mechanism
and understanding the expectations and aspirations of stakeholders through
different channels.

£ 0 21 it
BAESEREBRRN—EEEHS -
AEENBHEREYHEHTAEAY
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Means of communication with key stakeholders during the Year

FREIEFHEBELR

Employees
BT

Understand the opinions
and suggestions of
employees on the Group
through establishing
employee complaint

Customers

BExE

Establish a customer
complaint mechanism to
ensure that customer
opinions and complaints
are properly handled.

FIR

Suppliers and business

partners

HERRERRH

Conduct supplier audits
and communications on
a regular basis to
understand their
business model and

0.0
P\

Communities
HE

Care for the society and
promote community
development through
academic exchanges,
community donations,
and encouraging
employees to participate
in volunteer services.

mechanisms. R BER FRFES - RER performance.
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Material environmental and social issues

The Group commissioned an independent consultant to prepare for the
report for the Year and to assist the management of the Group in reviewing
the 11 ESG aspects under the Guide of the Stock Exchange and identifying
material issues based on their importance to stakeholders and the level of
impact of the Group on the society and the environment. Based on the
results of the review, the management believes that the material issues of the
Group during the Year are consistent with those of previous year, namely:

Development
and training

BRRIE

, Health and safety =

RERZE -
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The Group values communication with stakeholders and will develop more
diversified communication channels and strengthen communication with
stakeholders. The Group plans to conduct a survey in the following year to
collect opinions and suggestions from a wide range of stakeholders on the
sustainability performance of the Group and identify environmental and
social issues that are important to stakeholders to help formulate relevant
strategies in the future.

CARE FOR EMPLOYEES

Employees’ hard work and dedication are the key to the success of the Group.
The Group values its employees and is committed to creating a good, equal
and safe working environment for its employees. At the same time, the Group
is concerned about the needs and development of its employees and hopes
to help their career growth.

Health and Safety

In order to build a safe and healthy working environment, the Group has
established the Safety Management Committee, which is chaired by a senior
factory manager and responsible for overseeing occupational health and
safety systems and measures. Members include factory managers, production
managers, safety supervisors and other relevant departments. The committee
conducts at least one meeting every three months to review occupational
health and safety issues.

Policy
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The Safety Management Procedures of the Group requires employees in the production area to

12§ comply with the safety system and operating procedures, and undertake to give employees the

necessary operational guidance and personal protective equipment. The Safety Management

@)

room operations and glass chip processing.
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Procedures provides employees with different safety practices and guidelines covering noise
management, mechanical operations, heavy handling, aerial work, storage of items, chemical handling,
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Planning

In the procurement and production process, the Group adopts various measures to control safety risks,

HRE such as avoiding or reducing the use and production of dangerous goods, and requiring suppliers to
provide Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) when purchasing materials. Safety representatives will

. W R AR - AR ERIE A N2 AR

analyse the health hazards of the chemicals contained in the materials based on the MSDS.
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In order to identify workplace safety hazards at an early stage, the Group conducts risk assessments on
a regular basis and proposes prevention and improvement measures for related risks. In addition, the
Group also arranges regular physical examinations for employees involved in higher risks, and
determine whether job rotation is required, according to the results of the medical examination.
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Implementation

A,

Inspection and
Improvement
Bz RME
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Safety education is an indispensable part of corporate safety management. To ensure that employees
have sufficient safety knowledge, the Group provides pre-employment and regular occupational
health and safety training for employees. The contents are determined based on job positions,
covering the Group's safety policy, occupational health and safety management system requirements,
safety operation procedures, first aid training, occupational safety and health supervisor certificate
course training, and health ambassador training. The Group also regularly provides occupational
health and safety related issues and knowledge to employees through announcements, posters, safety
seminars, safety meetings and other channels.

DEHBERGELREZEETUIROE S - AEREIAERS L2 AEEABTIRHURB LT
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There were six work-related injuries and no fatal cases reported within the Group during the Year. It
included sprains or cuts suffered by employees who are handling cargoes and using machinery. In
order to prevent re-occurrence of similar accidents, the Group conducted investigations and follow-

REFRFANEERRIEMEZE -

The Group complies with health and safety-related laws and regulations,
including but not limited to Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance,
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Dangerous Goods Ordinance, the
Fire Safety Ordinance, as well as the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases and Regulation on Work-
Related Injury Insurances. During the Year, the Group was not aware of any
violation of laws or regulations related to health and safety.

Development and Training

The Group values the opportunities of training and development of its
employees and encourages employees in different positions to continuously
enhance their knowledge and skills required for career development to
enable them to realise their potential. The Staff Handbook sets out the
management of internal training and encourages employees to make good
use of training allowance provided by the Group for continuing education.

ups, including improving the use of machineries and safe operating rules of ladders.
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During the Year, the Group provided a series of training for its employees,
with a total training hours of 2,157 hours. In order to support the
simultaneous development of employees and enterprises, the Group actively
promotes academic exchanges, encourages Chinese medicine practitioners
to exchange experiences with scholars, and fosters younger generations and
outstanding talents. The Group and Nanjing University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine jointly established the “Production, Training and Research Base of
Wai Yuen Tong and Nanjing University of Traditional Chinese Medicine” in
Hong Kong and launched a five-year strategic cooperation plan for Chinese
medicine. The programme aims to promote talent training in the industry,
strengthen technology and product R&D promote trade in health services
and Chinese medicine services, and promote internationalisation of Chinese
medicine.

Cooperate with accredited
institutions in Hong Kong to
provide basic certification

Promote academic . o
courses for Chinese medicine

communication

{3 ER 245 SR B R

practitioners
REBERABESE
RETRHEPEBEER
RERE

In addition, the Group provides training for employees to encourage
employees to enrol in the continuing education and training courses
accredited by the Education Bureau for continuous learning.

In the future, the Group will conduct more in-depth surveys for training

needs of different job types in order to formulate annual training plans and
strengthen professional knowledge and skills of employees.

Total Training Hours
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Provide professional
knowledge and skill training

for employees
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Employment system

A sound employment system is the foundation for absorbing and retaining
talents. In the Staff Handbook, the Group specifies the systems for
compensation, recruitment, promotion, dismissal, working hours, holidays
and other benefits, so that employees can understand relevant employment
policies and terms.

The Group provides employees with fair and competitive compensation and
benefits. Based on factors such as performance appraisal results, staff
qualifications and performance, and market conditions, the Group reviews
salary adjustment and end-of-year payment. In addition to statutory and
public holidays, the Group provides various paid holidays to its employees,
such as annual leave, maternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave
and examination leave. Eligible employees are entitled to a number of
employee benefits, such as special discounts on products and concessions
for Chinese medicine clinic service for employees and their immediate family
members, dental care and medical concessions.

At the same time, the Group promotes equal opportunities and does not
tolerate any discrimination and harassment. The Staff Handbook specifies that
staff appointments are based on factors such as work capacity, knowledge of
work, and actual work requirements and job seekers shall not be
discriminated against on the basis of gender, marital status, pregnancy, family
status or disability. In addition, the Group respects the rights and interests of
employees and prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour. Our
human resources department shall verify identity documents and age of
applicants during the recruitment process to prevent employment of persons
who do not meet age requirements. In order to prevent forced labour, the
Group sets out the arrangements for overtime compensation and termination
of employment contracts in the Staff Handbook to keep employees informed
of relevant terms and policies. Employees may resign in writing during the
notice period specified in the contract in accordance with the departure
process in the Staff Handbook.

Workforce (By Geographical Distribution)
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Workforce (By Age)
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In order to continuously improve the employee system and promote a
diverse and inclusive working environment, apart from adopting the Board
Diversity Policy, the Group has also incorporated the diversification system
applicable to all employees into the ESG Policy drafted during the Year. In
addition, the Group is considering implementing more diversity and inclusion
practices in the future, such as providing training related to equal
opportunities, anti-discrimination and human rights, recruiting youth with
training and appropriate support provided to them, including diversity
beyond genders of employees and management in succession planning. In
the future, the Group will continue to identify Chinese medicine professionals
according to the principle of diversity, and recruit more frontline staff and
senior Chinese medicine practitioners to provide better Chinese medicine
health food products and services.

The Group values its relationships with employees and is committed to
establishing a transparent and effective communication and work
environment. Opinions of employees help the Group to develop and review
its internal operations. The Staff Handbook lists the methods and procedures
for handling complaints. Employees may make compliant about
discrimination or harassment to our human resources department. The Group
conducts investigations in a confidential manner and informs relevant
employees of the results. Employees who have been found to have violated
relevant regulations will be subject to disciplinary action. Employees may also
submit other opinions or grievances to their supervisors, and relevant cases
will be forwarded to our human resources department or meeting will be
arranged between relevant employees and the Managing Director. All cases
will be handled in a confidential manner.

The Group complies with employment-related laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance, Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, and
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and
Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China. During the Year, the
Group was not aware of any violation of laws or regulations related to
employment and labour practices (including child labour or forced labour) or
any complaints about discrimination or harassment.

Employee New Hire Rate
(By Geographlcal Distribution)

BTHREX ()

Employee New Hire Rate (By Age)
B THEEE (RFIR)
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25.56%
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OPERATIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a manufacturer of pharmaceutical and health food products, the Group
attaches great importance to the quality of its products and services and has
established a series of quality control systems and measures to ensure
customer safety. At the same time, the Group adheres to the principles of
transparency, accountability, integrity and independent corporate
governance, and has established measures related to anti-corruption and
supply chain management to ensure that its operations comply with
corporate ethical standards.

Product responsibility

Customer loyalty is built on the quality of products and services. With the
core business of manufacturing pharmaceutical and health food products,
the Group understands that it is a must to ensure products and services are
of high quality, safe, reliable and effective, so as to continuously improve
customer satisfaction. The Group’s new Yuen Long Factory not only complies
with Hong Kong's GMP standards, but also is operated and constructed in
accordance with the standard of the PIC/S, the most stringent manufacturing
practice regulation with worldwide recognition. At the same time, Yuen Long
Factory holds a number of quality certifications, including:

PIC/S
(issued by the Therapeutic
Goods Administration

GMP
(issued by Chinese
Medicine Council of

(TGA)
(RRMNEMERR
M)

Hong Kong)
(HEEPBEER
REGRE)

Product quality control

The Group has established quality management and operation specifications
in accordance with various pharmaceutical standards, covering the scope of
personnel, premise, equipment and operations within the factory. The Group
requires all production, testing and distribution processes to be carried out in
accordance with the “Standard Operating Procedures” (S.0.P.) established in
the factory and to implement a number of quality control measures.

Testing
R contamination

1S022000:2005
Food Safety Management

System
EmTEERER

L
EABERRERAERLER A%RE
+HERERNBHNEE - LT — 5
PR E R RIE N AREER R
2 @K AKEFHERE  MEK -
WERBINLEEARA - $ET 2R
855 R4 S E MR I - RS
AT RFBEEE -

EREE
BERNERDEEREMRRENEE -
NEERERRERMEMABZLER -
REBRANBEREMMRBEL %
2 ARREN BERABETREE -
REBDTHFMETBHFE BB GMPIZ
B BRBEROARBEEENR IR
PIC/STRAE B B IF - R - AR 15
EZHEMERE @ BiF:

HACCP
Hazard Analysis and

Critical Control Points
& 2255 A A0 B 8 12 11 2
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Set up in-house laboratory to test raw materials and products to prevent human error and cross-

FERERERARMBRER - UBARLERZ XG4
Develop internal quality inspection standards to ensure that raw materials or product

specifications and quality meet standards

HIE R B R
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Production and

Use fully automated production equipment and reduce the amount of human pollution

Ensure adequate storage of pharmaceutical processing and reduce the risk of doping and cross-

Establish storage guidelines for storage of power supply, lighting, ventilation, temperature and
CRENREENRE - LA ELEENRITFR

Our quality control department is responsible for ensuring that container labels are correct and

Require personnel in the production area to abide by personal hygiene procedures, such as
wearing clean overalls, shoe covers and protective caps according to their job positions, so as to

storage KRAZEBLEERE  ROARTR
HE R TE
contamination
WREMNTRHFEBRR - BEBIENRZ X526 E R
humidity control facilities to maintain a suitable production and storage environment
RIS RPTFIES| - BrF R BT L E - BRAF -
5
monitoring the stability of the components
mE AP A S RADRRHIEE  BARNIBET
Hygienic
environment
RS avoid product contamination

EREERABETEAFERE  WRBETEEUFEREFOITIER BEERRER AR

O 233
EmX a3

Regularly clean equipment and measuring instruments and conduct cleanliness evaluation

EMBRRBRAERE - EITRFNAE

In order to ensure that all employees are qualified to perform relevant duties,
the Group provides appropriate training to employees based on their
positions, so that employees have sufficient and specific knowledge and skills.

Responsible marketing

The Group is committed to ensuring that the content of advertisements and
product labels is true and legal. All product labels and instructions attached
to all proprietary and exported proprietary Chinese medicines are in
compliance with the Chinese Medicines Regulations of Hong Kong and the
“Guidelines on labels of proprietary Chinese medicines” and “Guidelines on
package inserts of proprietary Chinese medicines”. The packaging and
instructions for the proprietary Chinese medicines label shall contain
sufficient information, including the main active ingredients, dosage,
methods of use, functional or pharmacological effects, storage instructions,
contraindications or side effects and expiration dates, to help customers
select the right products and use them properly to protect their health and
safety. At the same time, the Group regularly reviews applicable laws and
regulations to continuously improve product advertising and labeling.
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Customer complaint mechanism

Comprehensive after-sales management is an important part in maintaining
customer confidence. The Group has established a sound customer
complaint mechanism to handle customer complaints in a timely and
appropriate manner. Customers may report or complain about product
defects by telephone, email, written or in the store. Our quality control
department will conduct a detailed investigation and inspection of the
product. If the products are to be recalled, the Group will promptly recall
products according to the product recall mechanism and notify all relevant
parties, including the Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong, customers,
suppliers and retail stores. At the same time, the Group regularly evaluates
the product recall mechanism to ensure its effectiveness.

In addition, the Group has set up a hotline to answer enquiries and set up a
compliance team to monitor product quality. The Group received a total of
45 product complaints during the Year, mainly related to the recall of Herbal
Tea, customer inquiry about refund and service attitude of store staff. The
Group followed up and responded to all complaints and made corresponding
improvements, such as reminding the store staff to pay attention to and
improve their service attitudes and establish good relationships with
customers, and handling customer opinions or complaints with care. In the
future, the Group will continue to strengthen training related to customer
service to enhance the quality of services provided by staff and prevent
similar incidents from happening again.

Protection of privacy and intellectual property rights

The Group respects customer privacy and intellectual property rights. The
Group takes steps to prevent the leakage of confidential information
collected in the process of operation, including customer personal data,
purchase records and medical records. At the same time, the Group avoids
infringing on intellectual property rights of other companies and individuals,
and regularly researches and tracks patent information of peers. Employees
must abide by the provisions of the Staff Handbook and must not disclose
any confidential information related to the Group without the consent of the
Board.

During the Year, the Group imported an unregistered proprietary Chinese
medicine called “Wai Yuen Tong Herbal Tea” from Malaysia for local sale which
was fined HK$10,000 in contravention of section 119 of the Chinese Medicine
Ordinance of Hong Kong. The Group immediately withdrew a total of 1,183
pieces of products from the market, accounting for 5.2% of the total number
of products sold or shipped in the same category. In addition, the Group was
fined HK$3.51 million? for violation of section 40 of the Regulation on the
Supervision and Administration of Medical Devices due to the sale of “Madame
Pearl’s BreathEasy Spray”, a product that had not obtained a Class Il medical
device registration certificate in Shanghai. The Group has established a
compliance team to monitor applicable laws and regulations.

2 Calculated based on RMB1=HKD1.13 (for reference only).
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The Group complies with laws and regulations relating to product liability,
including but not limited to the Chinese Medicine Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the registration regulations of proprietary Chinese medicines, the Food
Adulteration (Metallic Contamination) Regulations, and the Pesticide Residues
in Food Regulation, Food Safety Ordinance, Trade Descriptions Ordinance
and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, as well as the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China.

The Group always upholds a high standard of corporate governance. The
Group values transparency, accountability, integrity and independence and
will not tolerate corruption, such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. Employees must abide by the anti-corruption policy set out in the
Staff Handbook and deal with conflicts of interest, acceptance of benefits and
entertainment in accordance with the Code of Conduct. At the same time,
the Group regularly reviews and updates its anti-corruption policies. During
the Year, the Group engaged the Independent Commission Against
Corruption of Hong Kong to provide a total of two anti-corruption talks
(pharmaceuticals) to the Group’s employees to raise their awareness of
prevention. Employees can report any improper or business ethics to the
Group through the established reporting system. All reported matters will be
handled confidentially to protect whistleblowers.

The Group complies with laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption,
including but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance of Hong Kong,
as well as the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Tendering and
Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of China. During the Year, the Group did
not have any reported case, litigation case and violation of laws and
regulations related to corruption.

The Group focuses on the environmental and social performance of its
suppliers and monitors the way suppliers operate through daily collaboration
and communication to reduce their impact on society. For example,
occupational health and safety is one of the main evaluation criteria when
the Group selects suppliers related to business activities such as maintenance
and logistics. The Group will also require suppliers to submit safety policies
and safety plans and invite suitable suppliers to participate in the bidding
based on the integrity of the plan. For qualified suppliers, the Group monitors
their occupational health and safety performance through constant
communication and inspections, and disseminates safety information to
suppliers through monthly meetings, emails and leaflets.
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The Group will strengthen and build a systematic supply chain management
to identify and review the environmental and social risks of the supply chain
to monitor and continuously improve the performance of suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to monitoring and managing the negative impacts
of daily operations on the environment and implementing a number of
measures to reduce the generation of pollutants and enhance the efficiency
of resource use.

Greenhouse gas emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions (or “carbon emissions”) are closely related to
climate change. In order to continuously monitor the greenhouse gas
emissions generated by its operations, the Group entrusted independent
consultants to conduct carbon assessments in accordance with the
“Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions —
China Food, Tobacco, Alcohol, Beverages and Purified Tea Manufacturing
Enterprises (Trial)". “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas
Emissions and Removals for Buildings in Hong Kong” and national and
international standards such as ISO 14064-1.

Greenhouse gas emissions
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BEY (HE FERRIEBR)NEER
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N

FY2019
“E-NAMBEE

(tonneCO,e)
(B=&tixEE)

Scope 1 — Direct greenhouse gas emissions FE — EERAERELN 177.5
Scope 2 — Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions  £5[& 2 — eIREE R = RESHER 35194
Scope 3 — Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions #HE3— HEEREREHN 594
Total greenhouse gas emissions RERBAYRE 3,756.3
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity (by gross floor area, ;B EREHE (AREmMBETE - A 0.02

i.e. tonneCO2e/ ft?)

Scope 1T — Emissions from fossil fuels of combustion of stationary source and mobile source and
fugitive emissions from fire suppression systems
Scope 2 — Indirect emissions from purchased electricity and purchased Towngas

Scope 3 — Indirect emissions from waste paper disposal, fresh water and sewage treatment, and
employee air business travel

During the Year, the Group's total greenhouse gas emissions were
approximately 3,756 tonnes of Co,-equivalent, and greenhouse gas intensity
was 0.02 tonneCO,e/ ft? of gross floor area. Greenhouse gas emissions mainly
come from Scope 2 purchased electricity emissions, which represented
approximately 92.7% of the total emissions. The Group will continue to assess
and disclose its greenhouse gas emissions, and plans to compare future data
with the data for the Year, so as to review the effectiveness of existing
measures and improve plans and set emission reduction targets in the future.
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Air Emissions

The Group’s main air pollutants come from combustion of Towngas in boilers
and mobile combustion of petrol. Air pollutants mainly contain nitrogen
oxides, sulphur oxides and respirable suspended particulates. To reduce the
impacts of air emissions on the environment and health, the Group adopts
hydro vent and scrubber to remove oil and odor from fumes before
emissions. In addition, electric vehicles have been introduced into the
Group's company fleet to reduce the Company's air emissions and carbon
footprint.

Air pollutants

==

K5

ga
=

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) RENY
Sulphur oxides (SO,) ety
Respirable suspended particulates AR A BRERLF

Energy Management

During the Year, the Group’s total energy consumption was 7,717.3 MWh-e,
and energy intensity was 0.031 MWh-e/ft? of gross floor area. Main energy
consumed includes electricity use, accounting for approximately 88.3% of
total energy consumption. Other energy uses include Towngas and petrol.
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Use of energy FY2019
HEIR —2-NAMBEFE
Towngas (MWh-e) HR KEFEE) 879.0
Petrol (MWh-e) ol (kR FREEE) 213
Purchased electricity (MWh) SNEE S LR R) 6817.0
Total energy consumption (MWh-e) gERAaFEE KRR EE) 7,717.3
Energy intensity (by gross floor area, SERZE (AEEmETE  BIJkRE 0.031

i.e. MWh-e/ft?) EE/FHR)
Given that energy use is a major source of greenhouse gas emissions, the
Group is concerned with emission reduction measures related to reduction of
energy consumption. To effectively manage and reduce energy consumption,
the Group implements a number of energy saving measures:
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Office

Use more energy efficient LEDs and T5 tubes

Switch on the energy-saving mode of office equipment to save energy
consumption during standby

Improve employee awareness of energy conservation through notices,
and switch off all electrical appliances, lighting and air conditioning
during idle and after office hours

Install sensor switches in some office areas to further improve energy
efficiency

Yuen Long Factory

Adjust lighting lumens in production workshops and reduce the
number of lights

Apply more energy-efficient LEDs and T5 tubes during production, and
set up regional lighting

Reduce fresh air and exhaust air in rooms without pressure difference
requirements, such as warehouses, reduce impact from fresh air outside
and reduce removing treated air

Change the glass of some offices to brown glass to reduce heat
absorption of rooms from the outside

Install insulation for production equipment equipped with heat
dissipation or cooling pipes to reduce loss of heating and cooling

As the Hong Kong government and power companies actively promote the
use of renewable energy, the Group will assess the feasibility of installing
solar panel power generation systems in the factory and plan to introduce
new energy-saving technologies and improve production processes to
further reduce the energy use involved in production.
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During the Year, the Group's total water consumption was 38,098.4 cubic
meters and the water consumption intensity was 0.15 cubic meters/square
foot of gross floor area. The Group withdraws water from the municipal water
supply and there is no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose during
the Year. In terms of water conservation, the Group installed environmentally
friendly water tanks and automatic closing taps in the washroom. Wastewater
generated by the Group mainly includes domestic wastewater and industrial
wastewater, such as the cleaning of Chinese herbal medicines. The Group has
obtained a license granted by the Environmental Protection Department of
Hong Kong ("EPD") pursuant to the Water Pollution Control Ordinance and
ensures that the water quality meets all the requirements of the EPD before it
discharges sewage into the municipal sewer. In order to reduce the amount
of sewage discharged, the Group reuses water in production operations, for
example, the reverse osmosis (also referred to as RO) treated water is
repeatedly supplied to the steam boailer.

The Group understands that waste generated during the operation may have
adverse effects on the environment and handles the waste with care in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations. During the Year, the Group
generated 1.7 tonnes of hazardous waste and hazardous waste intensity was
0.004 tonnes/product value in HKD million. The amount of generation and
intensity of non-hazardous waste were 786.8 tonnes and 3.4 tonnes/
thousand square feet of gross floor area’, respectively.

Hazardous waste (such as waste acid, waste caustic soda, waste halogenated
solvents, heavy metal containing liquids, expired pharmaceuticals and
medicinal materials, and other pharmaceutical raw materials) are collected
and disposed of by approved third parties. In order to prevent secondary
pollution before transportation, the Group classifies according to the nature
of waste. Waste chemicals and medicines are stored in quality control
laboratories or other designated areas for collection. After classification and
collection, recyclable non-hazardous waste are delivered to recyclers for
disposal. Non-recyclable non-hazardous waste are sent to landfills for
disposal.

In terms of reduction of use of resources, the Group continues to explore
improvement in packaging design and reduce the consumption of packaging
materials. In the future, the Group will further explore resource conservation
measures and solutions to improve the efficiency of packaging materials,
such as the use of biodegradable packaging materials and packaging
materials containing recycled components.

*  Onlyincluded the data from Yuen Long Factory and Shenzhen office.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group understands the importance of protecting the surrounding
environment and the effective use of natural resources, and implements
environmental management measures to reduce the environmental impact
of daily operations, such as applying sustainable procurement and recyclable
packaging materials as much as possible.

The Group complies with environmental laws and regulations, including but
not limited to Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Water Pollution Control
Ordinance and Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong, as well as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution, Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution. During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any illegal or non-compliant matters that have a significant impact on the
Group in relation to the environment.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

Business growth is inextricably linked to community development. As an
enterprise that values social responsibility, the Group cares and gives back to
the society through community donations and encouraging employees to
participate in volunteer services. During the year, the Group has made
community donations and sponsored a total of HK$506,763.

Took action for support of “A Drop of Life” and brought clean water to
water-scarce residents

The Group supported the “Walk and Run 2018"” and “ Race For Water 2019"
organised by charity organisations to build water facilities for arid areas,
disaster relief, poverty alleviation and warming in remote areas, and also
regularly paid visits and distributed supplies to Hong Kong to the
disadvantaged and the elderly. In particular, the funds raised from "Walk &
Run 2018" were used to build a biochemical sand filter system in a school in
Cambodia and build pond dams in mountainous areas in Cambodia and
China.

The Group sponsored its employees in charity running activities. In the above
activities, participating teams carried 4.5 and 5 liters of water respectively, and
completed 3km and 15km routes, and experienced the hard work of the
remote mountainous residents.
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Organised community volunteer activities and cared about the needs of
local children

In order to enhance employees’ interest and participation in volunteer
activities, the Group encourages employees to explore their creativity and
carried out cooperation with social welfare organisations every quarter.
During the Year, our employees cared about the needs of local children and
organised three events in collaboration with Kowloon Lok Sin Tong, including
advanced environmentally friendly woodworking classes, blue dyeing classes
and bento cooking classes. Under the guidance of the instructor, the Group's
volunteers helped children make eco-friendly Christmas tree lights, blue dyed
works and cute and healthy bento box lunches.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to understand community needs,
formulate policies and plans for community investment, and inject more
vitality and positive impact into the community through professional and
community contributions from its own industry and encouraging employees
to participate in volunteer services.

SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Environmental Performance

HEAMERTEE BULAHRES

RESETIHETAHNEBR2EE -
AEEHBETHRE/R  RAEFEEM
BHBEIE - FR - ARERLAMRE
BEENEEEESEERTZRE
B BEARRFAIIE ERBRIEN
BETHI - EEEEET  AREMNE
T %8/ IR RERREEGE /M & - BB
EmMBETERENEE -

RERR  ANEBSEETBEET R
HEMEEERBBR LS BEE S
TENEE HRBFEEBET2HEE
TR » RERIAEZENMERZE

L3 A 22

BERER

KPls FY2019
BRENIER “E-hBBEE
Air emissions Nitrogen oxides & &L kg T35 133
BERHE K Sulphur oxides B &% kg T35 02
Respirable suspended particulates A] I A% FL T kg T 0.1
Greenhouse gas Total greenhouse gas emissions )& = R A2 B HE = tonneCO,e 3,756.3
emissions L= o e
BEREHER Scope 1 €[ 1 tonneCO.e 177.5
WS iRE S
Scope 2 #[E 2 tonneCO,e 3,5194
WE—SEALIRE S
Scope 3 #5[E 3 tonneCO.e 594
WS iRE S
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity tonneCO,e/ft? 0.02
(by gross floor area) MR — S iRE 8
BERBTE (UEEEETE) FFR
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KPls FY2019
BRERIER TE-NABBEFE
Hazardous waste Total hazardous waste FTE A B EEEWBE tonne M@ 17
BEEEY Hazardous waste intensity (by product value) tonne/HKD 0.004
BEEEYVEE UEREBSH) million
WEBEBT
Non-hazardous waste* Total non-hazardous waste FTEA EEEZ MBS tonne Mg 786.8
EEREEY Non-hazardous waste intensity (by gross floor area) tonne/thousand 344
BEEEDEZE (CAREEEAE) sq. ft.
e,/ FEHR
Energy use Total energy consumption gEiR4EFE= MWh-e 77173
BER B A KE R EE
Towngas ER MWh-e 879.0
KEFEE
Petrol /) MWh-e 213
KEFEE
Purchased electricity JN&E 77 MWh 6,817.0
JEEL B
Energy intensity (by gross floor area) MWh-e/ft? 0.031
LR E (AREEETE) KEREE
FHR
Water use Total water consumption 25K £ m? 37 77K 38,0984
)P Water intensity (by gross floor area) m?/sq. ft. 0.15
FREE (LEEmERTE) SRS FHR
Packaging materials  Total packaging material used Fi B Bk EE tonne @ 464.2
aBEME Intensity of packaging materials used (by product tonne/HKD 12
value) million
FrTRBEDHEZRE (UEREBEE) W, BB

4 Onlyincluded the data from Yuen Long Factory and Shenzhen office.
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Social Performance HERR
KPls Unit FY2019
FARENIER B ZE-NAUBEE
Workforce Total headcount #& A & 685
E& By geographical distribution #[& 5 0
Hong Kong &% 540
Mainland China /B A1 i 145
By age & #  fh
30 or below 30 5% 3 A T~ 91
31-50 31 £ 50 5% 390
Above 50 50 B LA 204
By gender 4 5115 5
Male 514 241
Female Z % 444
By professional profile B #g 5 %
Management staff €32 8 T 77
General staff Z@E T 608
By employment type (& {B 385 5 45
Full-time 2B 663
Part-time F& B 22
Male-to-female ratio of the workforce 0.54:1
BLET AHLY
Employee new hire rate & T $ R % 27.15
By geographical distribution #f & 5 4
Hong Kong &/ % 25.56
Mainland China /B A1 i % 33.10
By age G #k fh
30 or below 30 BRE A T % 52.75
31-50 31 £ 50 5% % 28.21
Above 50 50 BE LA % 13.73
By gender M Bl 5 45
Male 514 % 31.95
Female ZZ 1% % 24.55
Employee turnover rate 8 Tifi %k & % 4788
By geographical distribution & 7 i
Hong Kong &% % 4593
Mainland China & B /it % 55.17
By age ik b
30 or below 30 53 A T % 90.11
31-50 31 £ 50 5% % 4513
Above 50 50 5% A _E % 34.31
By gender M 553
Male 5% % 42.74
Female Z 1% % 50.68
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KPIs FY2019
ARERIER Bl ZZ-NBBEFE
Health and safety Work-related fatalities T&5 T Cases R 0
BRERZE Work-related injuries T {5 Cases &= 6
Incidence of work-related injury T &% % 0.88
Lost days due to work-related injury® % 0.05
AITHBRATIEREC
Number of days absent® 2 £) A £ ° % 282
Employee training Percentage of employee trained ZHE T B L % 40.58
EaEs) By gender M 5l 5
Male 51t % 36.93
Female Z 1% % 37.61
By professional profile 8855 7
Management staff 328 T % 66.23
General staff Fi@E T % 33.72
Total training hours #83% 3| & 2 Hours /J\E§ 2,157
Average training hours per employee Hours /N 3.15

FHEEFIFH
By gender M Bl 5 45

Male S1% Hours/employee 1.16
N/ BT
Female Z % Hours/employee 423
N/ BT
By professional profile B &5 15
Management staff €3 8 T Hours/employee 3.64
NE BT
General staff Fi@BE T Hours/employee 3.09
N BT
Percentage of employees who receive regular % 89.64

performance and career development review

EXEHARRBERRBENETES L

Community investment Donation 83X HKD &7t 506,763
HERE
5 Numbers of working days used for calculating the lost days lost due to work-related injury and the . BETERIGEAIFRERMREBEZE
number of days absent are 260 days. FTIEHEAR260H ©
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CONTENT INDEX N RY
KPls Contents Page index
BEERIEE AR BB &S|
A.  Environmental
BB
Aspect A1 Emissions
fEmE A1 2357
General Disclosure  Information on: 37,52
— AR (@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
FHBERIRERBHN - MKRLHEES  AERBEEEENNEESH
@ B &
(b) HEFHEITABBERZEHNEEEERROEER -
Al.1 Types of emissions and the respective emissions data. 49,53
HER S $R N AR R BER B -
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. 48,53
RERBEFHENETE -
A13 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. 51,54
FEAEEEEMHREREE °
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 51,54
ELBEZEENRENEE
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 49-53
HUUR R HE I E IR TSR -
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 51,54

reduction initiatives and results achieved.
HINERAEERBEZEEEYN L  REEEENHELAEKRR -
Aspect A2 Use of Resources
BHEA2 EREMA

General Disclosure  Policies on efficient use of resources including energy, water and other raw 37

— MR materials.
BRERER(BIERIR - KREMBEME) AIBUE

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type and intensity. 49, 54
REASSNEER SMEERAEERTE -

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 51,54
BEKRKEREHE °

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 49-50, 54
iR AR B RFTIEHR o

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for the 51, 54

purpose, water usage efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
HSKEGEAXKR LRI A A RE - ARRARKREFEIRFERE -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and per unit produced. 54
R MTAREMBNBEREBEEBLIGE -
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KPIs Contents Page index
BRENIER AE BB &S
A. Environmental

BB

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
BHEA3 RERRRER

General Disclosure  Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on the environment and 37

— MR ER natural resources.
BIRBEITAHRERAREREKNERNZEBOBE -

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 52
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HEBFHHRERAAERNEAZEREENEEEELENITH -

B. Social
e
Aspect B1 Employment
fEmEB1 =
General Disclosure  Information on: 42-43
— MR EE (@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare.
FRATMEERE HEREA  LERE - RE - FEKe 2ot RER
LA T2 E At 57 38 S AR I B
@@ B K
(b) HTFTHBEITABERTZENEEEZRROINER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical 55
region.
IR - EEEE - FRANRMESIDHES B -
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 55

BRI FRARIKMES DEERKLLE o
Aspect B2 Health and Safety
[EH B2 REEZS

General Disclosure  Information on: 39-40
—RRIREE (@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
BHRRMHEZ2THERERRBESH2BELEFEEN
@ EE:R
(b) ETFTHBEITABERTENEREERIROINER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. 56
EATIEBEERMPTHIAB KL E -
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 56
AT EERIEEE -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they 39-40
are implemented and monitored.
P IR B R R L 2 - LA RIBEBIT RER L -
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KPIs Contents Page index
BRENIER AE BB &S
B. Social

e

Aspect B3 Development and Training
BT B3 R RIEI
General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties  40-41

—RHE at work. Description of training activities.
BHRRARERTIEBRBENANZ R EENBER - HAEIED -

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category. 56
R RESEFIBISNZIEEB DL

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 56

employee category.

RIER MEEHERIBS  BEEB KNI PR -
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
fEE B4 T A

General Disclosure  Information on: 42-43
—RRIEEE (@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child or forced labour.

BEAP IEE T skea bl TH

@@ BER:R
(b) BETFHBETABERZENHEBMEZLAMNEER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 42

forced labour.

g s MEEE PR e AR R E T MR H|55 T o
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management
[ETE B5 HEHEEE

General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 37,47
— MR ER EIRHEENIRIE R g ARBCR -
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BRENIER RE BiEZG|
B. Social

e

Aspect B6 Product Responsibility
JETH B6 EEHEMEME

General Disclosure  Information on: 44-47
—RIFE (@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

FRAMREEMMBBNERELZS  BES  SELLBEEARBERITE

Hy -
@ EE: Kk
(b) BETFHBEITAFERTZENERMEZLROINER
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 46

health reasons.
EENEEXERAHTRL > BEFEAMARKNE D

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they 46
are dealt with.
BEREBANEDRREIRFEE ARELHHE -

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 46
property rights.
R E RRE AR EREE FEONED -

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 44-45
HESRTERERERTDKERF

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 46
implemented and monitored.
HIUEBEERRERFLEBBE - LRMEBNTRERTA -

Aspect B7 Anti-Corruption

BmEB7 RES

General Disclosure  Information on: 47
—RRIREE (@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BN ILREER - $R - HGEF R BEES
@ EE:k
(b) BEBTFTHBETAFERTZENERMERZLROINER
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 47
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases.
RERARNEEITASERERBYESENE T HFARTFMNEE RFAER -
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how 47
they are implemented and monitored.
oy 5 HE ie S BRRAR - ARMBRAIT R B E -
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BRENER AR BB #L|
B. Social

e

Aspect B8 Community Investment

fEE B8 HERE

General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 37
—RHE communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into

consideration the communities’ interests.
BN ERSLERTHREEMTHEFENBREER THEZEMLEFE

BB ER ©

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. 52
ETERERE -

B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 52
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We are committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate
governance with a strong emphasis
on transparency, accountability,
integrity and independence.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve as an
effective risk management for the growth of the Company and will enhance
the benefit of its stakeholders. The Company is committed to maintaining a
high standard of corporate governance with a strong emphasis on
transparency, accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed periodically the
compliance of the CG Code and is in the view that throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019, the Company had complied with the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of
the Board, also assumed the role of Managing Director after the re-
designation of Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas to executive Director with effect
from 1 April 2018. The Company does not propose to comply with code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code for the time being but will continue to review
such deviation to enhance the best interest of the Group as a whole. Details
of such deviation are set out below in the section headed “Roles of Chairman
and Managing Director”.

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiries by the Company, all of the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout
the year under review.

In accordance with code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the Company also
adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code by the relevant employees of the Group
who are considered likely to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive
information in relation to the Company or its securities. To the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant employees have complied
with the required standard of such code.
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Dividend Policy

The dividend policy adopted by the Company in November 2018 is intended
to be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time to time. There
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
particular period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and
regulations, the Board may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of
payment of dividend(s) to its shareholders in any amount, frequency in any
financial year depending on, among other things, the Company’s operation
and financial performance, liquidity condition, capital requirements, future
funding needs, contractual restrictions, availability of reserves and prevailing
economic climate.

Business Model and Corporate Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing, processing and
retailing of TCM,; (ii) the processing and retailing of Western pharmaceutical,
health food and personal care products; and (i) property investment. The
Group continues its proactive expansion strategy for generating and
preserving shareholder value over the longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health
food products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical
integration. In order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the
effort on new products research, development and registration, especially
focus on those Chinese and Western medicinal products which possess their
own uniqueness and curative effect. The Group also extends its retail and
medical service network aggressively to gain market share. Furthermore, the
Group seeks to expand the Chinese herbal plantation base in mainland China
to assure quality source of raw materials.

With respect to the property investment business, the Group continues to
look for and acquire sizeable and potential retail premises for mitigating the
effect of rising rental costs.

On the other hand, the Group will closely monitor the market for merger and
acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to our existing business, as
well as diversification of its investment portfolio for strengthening and
broadening its income base. The Group also takes active and prompt
measures from time to time, reviewing and adjusting its business strategy
and adopting various controls over costs, if necessary, so as to maintain the
Group’s profitability. Besides, the Group strives to maintain a healthy
financing structure and devotes effort to securing banking facilities which is
regarded as an important element for supporting continuous business
development of the Group.
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The Board

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during the year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, SBS, JP
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
Ms. Tang Mui Fun
Ms. Tang Wai Man
(Appointed on 1 April 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, MH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David

Ms. Tang Wai Man and Ms. Tang Mui Fun is the daughter and a sister of Mr.
Tang Ching Ho, respectively. The biographical details of the Directors are set
out on pages 29 to 32 of this annual report.

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The
opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of
good corporate governance practices. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board has four INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board, and
at least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualification and/or
accounting and audit experience expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive Directors also generates a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows for an independent and objective decision making
process for the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
Company has reviewed the composition of the Board and discussed from
time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and
necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's
businesses and to enhance the shareholders’ value. All Directors are aware of
the required levels of fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence under Rule 3.08
of the Listing Rules.

In compliance with code provision A.3.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of
the Directors identifying their role and function are available on the websites
of the Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The
Company will review the composition of the Board from time to time to
ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise,
skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's business and to
enhance the shareholders’ value.
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All INEDs are appointed with specific term set out in respective letters of
appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)"). All INEDs
are appointed for a term of not more than three years. Pursuant to code
provisions A.4.2 and the Bye-law 87, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) are required to retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, is subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and shall be eligible
for re-election at each annual general meeting. In addition, any Director who
is appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board are subject to re-election at the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment.

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their
appointment and on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any business or
other relationship with the Company, except that Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is
the son of Mr. Siu Yim Kwan, Sidney, a former independent non-executive
director of Wang On (a substantial and controlling shareholder of the
Company) and resigned on 7 March 2019. Such relationship will not affect his
independence in relation to his position as an INED.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the year ended
31 March 2019. The INEDs would not participate in the Group's daily
operation and they would abstain from voting on any resolution(s) in which
he had any interest and, therefore, the Company continues to consider the
four INEDs to be independent for the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to
the date of this annual report.
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The Board is accountable to Stakeholders for the activities and performance
of the Group and its primary functions cover, among other things, the
formulation of overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies
and the oversight of the management of the Group's business and affairs.
Apart from these, the Board reserved for its consideration and decision on
major acquisitions and disposals, review of interim and annual financial
results, appointments and removals of directors and auditors, the evaluation
on the performance and compensation of senior management, any material
capital transactions and other significant operational and financial affairs.
With a view to maintaining an appropriate balance between authority and
responsibility, such functions are either carried out directly by the Board or
indirectly through various committees established by the Board, with
respective functions set out in their written terms of reference.

The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved in the
day-to-day management of the Group. The general management and day-to-
day management are delegated to the management, including but not
limited to the preparation of regular financial information, execution of
designated assignments, and implementation of sustainability practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain from
voting at such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of interest
shall attend at such meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge their
responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have disclosed
to the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public
organisation and other significant commitments from time to time.

During the year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company were
held four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual and
interim results and to review the business operations, corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings are
also held, as and when necessary, to consider major transactions of the
Group. At least 14-day notice for each regular meeting is given to all
Directors. All such minutes are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any Director. Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant
to code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman of the Board also met
with the INEDs without the presence of any executive Director during the
year.
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During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the
Company, has also assumed the role of the Managing Director after the re-
designation of Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas to executive Director with effect
from 1 April 2018. Mr. Tang has extensive management experience in
corporate management in the industry of the Group and is responsible for
overall corporate planning, strategic policy making of the Group which is of
great value in enhancing the efficiency to cope with the recent fierce
competitive retailing market and the communication between the Board and
the management, so as to ensure the effective execution of the Board's
strategies. Furthermore, the Board considers that Mr. Tang is an executive of
high caliber with a wide range of skills and diversified business expertise and
there are various committees and experienced individuals dealing with
specific assignments and managing the daily business operations. Moreover,
the Board comprises four executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors with balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
Group's further development. The Company had no intention to make any
change to comply with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual) but will continue to review and monitor
the effectiveness of such deviation to ensure the maximisation of the benefit
of the stakeholders of the Company.

The Group continues to review and propose, as and when appropriate, by
taking into consideration of such deviation and any other relevant factors, so
as to maintain a high standard of corporate governance within a sensible
framework with a strong emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity
and independence and enhancing the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency, to ensure its sustainable development and to generate
greater returns for the shareholders of the Company.

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place to
continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and regulatory
requirements.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
stipulating the composition of the Board, reviewing the policies and
measures on the Group's corporate governance, reviewing a code of conduct
applicable to the Directors and employees, monitoring the Company’s legal
and regulatory compliance, training and continuing professional
development of Directors and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and the disclosure in this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.
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The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable
and balanced development. In June 2013, the Company adopted the Board
Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to diversify the Board and was
reviewed annually. The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) reviews and assesses the Board composition on
behalf of the Board and will recommend the appointment of new Director,
when necessary, pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy and the nomination

policy.

In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender,
age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also
consider factors based on the Company’s business model, specific needs and
meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum composition of
the Board.

During the year under review, the Board comprises eight Directors, including
four executive Directors and four INEDs, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of professional experience,
skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and the
Board’'s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development so as to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills
and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The company secretary of the Company regularly circulates training
materials or reading materials to all Directors in respect of the updates on,
among other things, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "SFQO") or other useful
guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and financial or accounting standards
which may be of the interest to the Directors and benefit for them to
discharge their duties.

In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides and
circulates the Directors with monthly and regular updates relating to the
Group's business, financial position and business environment, in which the
Group operates. During the year, all Directors have complied with the code
provisions in relation to continuous professional development. Apart from
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, the updated rules and
regulation and other director’s duties and responsibilities by all Directors, the
Directors also enhanced their professional development by way of attending
seminars and/or forums.
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The company secretary of the Company updates Directors constantly on the
latest developments regarding the Group’s business and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.

During the year, all Directors have provided to the Company with their
training records on a regular basis, and such records have been maintained
by the company secretary of the Company for accurate and comprehensive
record keeping.

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal
action on corporate activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and
renewed with consultant advice on an annual basis.

Board Committees

The Board has established various committees including executive
committee (the "Executive Committee”), audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”), remuneration committee (the "Remuneration Committee”)
and Nomination Committee, each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committee meetings are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Each committee is
required to report to the Board on its decisions and recommendations, where
appropriate.

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific
written terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board. Its
primary function is to undertake general management and to supervise the
day-to-day management, performance and operations in accordance with
the business strategy of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops and
keeps under review strategy and business development initiatives of the
Group and monitors their implementation.

Currently, the Executive Committee comprises four members, namely, Mr.
Tang Ching Ho, Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, Ms. Tang Mui Fun and Ms.
Tang Wai Man. Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the chair of the Executive
Committee.
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The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms of
reference stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). Currently, the Audit
Committee comprises four INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai
Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and Mr. Cho Wing Mou. Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is
elected as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist the
Board to review and monitor the financial reporting independently, including
interim and annual results, to supervise over the Group's internal control and
risk management systems, to monitor the internal and external audit
functions, the appointment, reappointment and removal of the auditor and
to make relevant recommendations to the Board to ensure effective and
efficient operation and reliable reporting. The functions of the Audit
Committee will be reviewed regularly by the Board and amended from time
to time, as and when appropriate, in order to be in compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code (as amended from time to time) so as to ensure
that the management has discharged its duty to have an effective internal
control and risk management systems including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff to implement the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and may access to independent professional advice according to the
Company’s policy, if considered necessary.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two regular meetings the external
auditor and the Group’s senior management. During the year under review
and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee met to discuss
and review, among other things, the following matters:

(@)  the annual results for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 and the
interim results for the six-month ended 30 September 2018 to ensure
the full, complete and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial
statements pursuant to the accounting standards and other legal
requirement for presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(b)  the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst & Young as
external auditor to perform the agreed-upon procedures of the annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2019 and interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2018;
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(c)  the term and remuneration for the appointment of external auditors to
perform non-audit services, other special corporate projects and review
the overall significant control system;

(d) the independence of the external auditors especially for those non-
audit services;

(e)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

(f)  the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems; and

(g) the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff and
the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters and their
training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees, effectiveness
of the audit process, independence and objectivity of the external auditor
and has recommended to the Board the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as
the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since September
2005 with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time,
stipulating its authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of
the Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). It
currently consists of five members, including Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho
Wing Mou, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a
majority of whom are INEDs. Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is elected as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice in
accordance with the Company's policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s remuneration and
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing a remuneration policy on the basis of basic salary and
allowances, discretionary bonus and share options;

to review and approve the senior management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, including but
not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’ fee of the
INEDs with reference to the range of remuneration of other non-
executive Directors in the similar industry and allow any out-of-pocket
expenses incurred in connection with the performance of their duties;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate.

HHZE SN AEMBEELT

(a)

RARAZBEEREREREN
Hr BN SR B2 2R 48 VA Bt I AT 5 B K
ROAERF S 20 BBEXNN
TEAL R BB AR R B B ) RS IE AR T B
BRARNEFAEFSROER

SREFTEMAICENHRBEM
WA KAt ERSRER BN INEE

MEFTRABENRTEERSR

EEENHFMTE BRETRRY
BEYA G RARSEMNREBREK

IR BN REDE

BT EENESHEAE
FERbESE ER2ZRAETE
HMFATEFSZHMEE - U F
MELSENARERITREARZ
BERFAX

ZEMEERRANOEHEH A
HY By ] B B DA R SR B P L At B iz
E 1R ARG

B RERATEZTRSREE
BRAIKIEBBRZEMASN
HERE - ARERZFRERS OF
R BREEAQBER 2
BRABETARTAE  THES
P54

mE Rt ERERTRRE MEE
SREBERMEZEMPLNRER
B AEERZS RS MGR—
BOAERERANKR B A
BELHTAGHEEE

fir T B P WA
% U

73



Corporate Governance Report
o8 SRR A

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting, in which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by reference
with the market research, communicated with the chairman and managing
Director, recommended amendments to the existing remuneration policies
and performance-based bonus and approved the remuneration package and
performance-based bonus paid to the other Directors and senior
management of the Company. No Director took part in any discussion about
his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge
its major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the service
agreements of the Directors and the senior management, make
recommendations with respect to the remuneration and policies of the
Directors and senior management of the Company and to review the
remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses, including the
incentive awards for Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements. In addition, pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code,
the annual remuneration of other members of the senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out below:
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Remuneration to the senior managementby bands BSEHREEE2MEZ%K A

HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001 7T & 1,000,000 7% 7T 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 % JT 2 1,500,000 7 T 1
Nomination Committee REZEE

The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005 with
specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. It currently consists of five members, including Mr.
Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho
and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs. Mr. Cho Wing Mou is
elected as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and
evaluation of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a Director
and senior management. The Board has formalised and adopted its existing
practices into a nomination policy in October 2018. The nomination policy
stipulated the key selection criteria and procedures for identifying and
nominating suitably qualified candidates for appointment to the Board. The
selection criteria and procedures specified in the nomination policy include:

1.  Selection Criteria

— in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as reference),
including reputation, integrity, accomplishment and relevant
experience in relation to the principal businesses of the Company
from time to time, commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. These factors are for reference
only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The
Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any
person, as it considers appropriate;

—  retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have served
as independent non-executive Directors for a period of nine
consecutive years standing for re-election, the Nomination
Committee will consider the independence of such Director for
nomination by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting and state the reason in the circular to the Shareholders
for the re-election;

— candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written
consent to be appointed as Director(s) and to the public
disclosure of their personal data on any documents or the
relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as Director(s); and

—  the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.
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Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidate(s) from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidate(s) who are not
nominated by Board members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting;

in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period for the
Shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and regulations, of the proposed candidate(s) will be included in
the circular to the shareholders;

the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary
within the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as Director, without the
Board's recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s
nomination, other than those candidate(s) set out in the circular
to be sent to the Shareholders. The particulars of the candidate(s)
so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for information by a
supplementary circular;
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— a candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary;

— the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any
general meeting; and

— as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall
be elected as Director, the resolutions proposed for the
candidate(s) by the shareholders shall therefore take the same
form as the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s)
recommended by the Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of the benefits
of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors implementation of this
policy as part of the process of selecting and nominating candidates for
appointment to the Board. Candidates are considered against a broad and
diverse range of aspects specified in the nomination policy, which among
other aspects also include gender, ethnicity and cultural background.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@) to review and evaluate the structure, size and composition (including
diversity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy;

(b)  toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) toassess the independence of INEDs;

(d)  to monitor the continuous professional development of the Directors;

(e)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-

appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive;
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(f)  where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an INED
at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting:

—  the process used for identifying the individual why the board
believes the individual should be elected and the reasons why it
considers the individual to be independent;

— if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, why
the Board believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;

— the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

— how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

(g) the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared to
respond to questions raised by shareholders on the Committee's
activities and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice
according to the Board Diversity Policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held one meeting,
in which it determined the criteria and procedures for retirement by rotation
and recommended to the Board for re-appointment of Mr. Chan Chun Hong,
Thomas, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee also reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy and evaluated the Board performance and succession
planning.
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Attendance of Directors at Various Meetings

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings,
committee meetings and shareholder meetings held during the year ended
31 March 2019 are as follows:

HE 2 Ok 2 R
BHE-_Z—NF=A=+—HItFE @A
FEEREEgeR ZESeHMER
Az HEFBHRTE

Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination general

Committee Committee Committee meeting

Name of Directors BEREEE FHEEE REZE® REBFA®

Tang Ching Ho BB 4/4 N/A 71~ A 11 11 1/1

Chan Chun Hong, Thomas  BR ¥R 5 4/4 N/A 1~ A N/A 35 AR N/A 35 B 1

Tang Mui Fun B 25 4/4 N/A 38 A N/A 74 A N/A 7T~ 4 FA 11

Tang Wai Man B 3/4 N/A i A 11 11 11

Leung Wai Ho I ] 4/4 2/2 /1 /1 /1

Siu Man Ho, Simon BYx 4/4 2/2 /1 /1 11

Cho Wing Mou ok 4/4 2/2 11 11 1/1

Li Ka Fai, David FREE 4/4 2/2 N/A 3 N/A i 11
Risk Management and Internal Control Jo I A L e A A

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
covering financial, operational, compliance and risk management aspects.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee
would consider the adequacy of resource, qualifications and experience and
training of staff and external advisor of the Group's accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
system to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the Group’s assets
and stakeholder’s interest. The management may report from time to time
any finding, recommendation and remedies to the Audit Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and
handle all the significant risks associate with the businesses of the Group. The
Board would perform an annual or periodical review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures to response
the risks result from the significant change of business environment.
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The management would identify the risks associate with the businesses of
the Group by considering both internal and external factors and events which
include political, economic, technology, environmental, social and staff. Each
of risks has been assessed and prioritised based on their relevant impact and
occurrence opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be
applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results, each type of
risk management strategy has been listed as follows:

—  Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake
actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

—  Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid the
risk;

—  Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or allocate
to different location or product or market; and

—  Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the
risks associated with the business accepted by the Group and minimise the
adverse impact results from the risks. The risk management and internal
control system are design to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external advisory
firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies were
communicated with the Audit Committee and the Board. The management
confirmed that there is no significant deficiency and weakness on the internal
control system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

The Board conducted an annual review on the risk management and internal
control system and procedures of the Group, covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance and it was considered that
the internal controls and risk management functions were reasonably
effective and adequate for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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External Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company's external auditor, Ernst &
Young, for the year ended 31 March 2019 which has been reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee, are set out as follows:

SR S o2 5t T

HE-_ZT—NWE=ZA=+—HBILFED
AR RN AZ BB 22 oK G Rl =
Bz e EREZEZ B 2R I -
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Fees paid/payable
to Ernst & Young

BN

R EEIEFT

Z&H

HK$'000

Services rendered for the Group [6) 2~ £2 [ @) T 2 {2 AR FRET

Audit services ERT

— annual financial statements — FEMBRE 6,000
Non-audit services: IR

— agreed-upon procedures — BERF 1,070

— taxation and professional services — BB R EERE 600

— other professional services — Hih B R /20

Total @t 8,390

Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and
publication of the timely financial statements and ensure that they are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March
2019, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are
pertinent to the Group's operations and relevant to the financial statements
and have presented an understandable assessment of the Group's position
and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are prepared on a
going concern basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to the events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors continue to
explore any opportunities with potential investors to enhance its financial
position and business development of the Group by way of refinancing,
extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.
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A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on
pages 105 to 117 of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Companies
Ordinance, the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations
implemented in relevant jurisdictions. As far as the Board is concerned and
save as disclosed herein, the Group has complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
March 2019.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on
environmental protection, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. We
proactively implement environmental protection policies, gradually adjust its
portfolio, conduct energy-saving, using recycled paper, emission reduction
and pollution prevention and so forth. The Group not only improved the
quality management system but also strengthened the quality of the audit to
ensure the quality and safety of Chinese and western pharmaceutical project
control. During the year under review, there was no material non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group. The environmental
policies and performance of the Group are disclosed in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report set out on pages 34 to 61 of this annual report.

Investor Relations and Communications with
Shareholders

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications
with shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure
that the Group's information is disseminated to Stakeholders in a timely
manner and enable them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise
performance. A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by the
Company and the same is available on the website of the Company. Other
major means of communications includes:
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Disclosures in Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial position will be
disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars and
other corporate communications which will be sent to shareholders and/or
published on the websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.wyth.net). Other inside information is released by way of
formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules and Inside
Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings and various
general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly
with the shareholders. Members of the Board and the members of various
committees are encouraged to attend and answer questions at such general
meetings.

In order to let shareholders to make an informed decision at the general
meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 10 clear business days for every
general meeting and 20 clear business days for every annual general meeting
were given to the shareholders of the Company pursuant to code provision
E.1.3 of the CG Code, the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The
chairman will explain the detailed procedures for conducting a poll vote
during the proceedings of meetings and answered all questions raised by
shareholders. All resolutions put to vote at general meetings are taken by poll
and the poll results are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange immediately following the holding of the general meetings.
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The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps
investors and shareholders abreast the Group’s latest development and
discloses relevant information to the public in a timely manner. During the
year, we held various meetings with investors and participated in investor
and press conferences.

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies
Act’) and Bye-law 58, the Board whenever it thinks fit call special general
meetings and shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company to require a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be called by
the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM, and
(i) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F., Skyline Tower,
39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of
the Board or the company secretary of the Company, and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.
Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition.

Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s branch share registrars
and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the
company secretary of the Company will inform the Board to convene a SGM
by serving sufficient notice to all shareholders of the Company. On the
contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order, the requisitionists
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not be
convened as requested.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may
convene a SGM in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration
of three months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. A SGM
convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by the Board.

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any number of
shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, or not less than 100 shareholders, can request the Company in
writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting. The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 3101,
31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong
Kong or the Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company's relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one
week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s) at a
general meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section
headed under “Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at
www.wyth.net.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing
by email to contact@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company in the following
manners:

In respect of the corporate affairs:

The Board/Company Secretary/Corporate Affairs & Investor Relations Manager
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower,

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Secretaries Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Hong Kong

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the achieving
of high possible standards of openness, probity and accountability.
Procedures are formulated to enable individual employees to disclose
internally and at a high level, information which the individual believes that it
shows malpractice or impropriety within the Group. During the year under
review, no incident of fraud or misconduct was reported from employees that
have material effect on the Group’s financial statements and overall
operations.
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Company Secretary

Ms. Mak Yuen Ming, Anita, who was appointed as a full-time employee
company secretary of the Group, reports directly to the Board and is
responsible for, inter alia, providing updated and timely information to all
Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, Ms. Mak has complied with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

Corporate Social Responsibility

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and strives
for greater rewards for our stakeholders, we acknowledge our corporate
social responsibility to share some burden in building the society where our
business has been established and thrived. The Group is conscious of its role
as a socially responsible group of companies. It has made donations for
community wellbeing from time to time, supports the communities and
encourages its employees to participate in any charitable events and caring
services. Given the support from the management, the Group built up a team
of staff volunteers to get involved in volunteer work.

Constitutional Document

During the year ended 31 March 2019, there was no change in the
constitutional document. The memorandum of association and the amended
and restated bye-laws are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company at (www.hkex.com.hk) and (www.wyth.net), respectively.

Conclusion

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance the
Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its
sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
stakeholders.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale of
traditional Chinese and western pharmaceutical products, health food,
personal care products and property investment. Details of which are set out
in note 1 to the financial statements. During the year, there were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 118 to 122.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded a profit attributable
to owners of the parent amounting to HK$74.6 million (2018: a loss of
HK$115.6 million). Such improvement was mainly attributable to a gain on
bargain purchase of additional equity interests in an associate, improvement
in results of such associate, the revaluation gains of the Group's properties
and the reversal of impairment losses on financial assets due to adoption of
HKFRS 9.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil). No interim dividend was made for the six
months ended 30 September 2018 (for the six month ended 30 September
2017: Nil).

Business Review and Analysis of Key Financial
Performance Indicators

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the
businesses of the Group, including, among other things, the information set
out below, are disclosed in the "Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 12 to 27 of this annual report:

(a) afair review of the Group's business;
(b)  principal risk factors;

(c) ananalysis using financial key performance indicators; and

(d) future development in the Group's business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and performance
of the Group are disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report set out on page 34 to 61 of this annual report. As far as the Board is
concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 276 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Share Capital and Share Option Scheme

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of the
Company during the year under review, together with the reasons therefor,
are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the financial statements, respectively.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of
the Company

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 33.5 million shares of
HKS$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange. All the repurchased
shares were subsequently cancelled on 8 October 2018 by the Company
during the year. Details of the share repurchases during the year are as
follows:

TUAE A B R

BEREKBRMBERRZIAREREDRE
MBREEETRZXEREE  BEHEF
R EHNAFRE 2768
BT TEREEZMBREZ—FD °
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Number Purchase price per share
of shares BREEE Aggregate
repurchased Highest Lowest amount
BERAHE 1] 33 b
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
(in million) (in million)
(L\E&s) (LB &5
September 2018 “Z-\FNA 240 0.300 0.275 7.0
October 2018 —Z-\%+A 95 0310 0.305 30
335 100

The repurchases of the Company’s shares by the Directors during the year
were made pursuant to the mandate granted by shareholders at the 2018
annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 August 2018, with a view
to benefiting shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net asset value per
share and earnings per share of the Company. As at 31 March 2019 and up to
the date of this annual report, the total number of shares of the Company in
issue was 1,231,642,888 shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, losses, damages and expenses which
they may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done about the
execution of the duties of their respective office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company had arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers of the Group
for the year.

Distributable Reserves

At 31 March 2019, the Company's reserves available for distribution to equity
holders of the parent, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately HKS173.1 million
(2018: approximately HK$231.7 million).

Directors

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, SBS, JP,
Chairman and Managing Director
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
Ms. Tang Mui Fun
Ms. Tang Wai Man
(Appointed on 1 April 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, MH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David
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In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Chan Chun Hong,
Thomas, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all
INEDs, namely Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou
and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, and as at the annual date of this annual report still
considers them to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 29 to 33 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts

Save as disclosed in notes 8 and 37 to the financial statements, no Directors
or a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, the holding Company of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the year.

Director’s Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a
business, apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short s R AT B IR AR ] e
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of JCHDBR IR ARty A I IBE G skt
the Company and its Associated Corporations REGEE T Z REAR SR BT

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and RZZBE-—NF=ZA=+—H EFRARQ
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates in AIEZBTRAB R SHKEEE 2 A
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its EALTRARRAISEEMAEEE(EE
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as RESREEERMEXVER) 2t - 18R
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to BN EEFEFR  HEHARDFRIEE
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the HFRAEHRANEIIGEFE 2 ELM
Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code under SRR FE 7 SR BN E (401 28 Xv &8sk 33 Bl
Listing Rules, were as follows: ZIZETFRE BITMERAR LB Z
EmRABET

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated REQDAREEBELIEEREBRZF
corporation, Wang On: B

(a)  Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: @ RAERBEBRZIE -

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

total issued

Name of Director Number of shares share capital
EAEQFEBITRA

=3 o RGEE BESNES L
%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Note 1) 715,322,940 58.08
BOE M A (et T) (Note 2) (Ffat 2)

(b) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On, an associated (b)) RANEHE EE R T EER
corporation of the Company: HEE -

Approximate

percentage

of Wang On’s

Number total issued

Name of Director Name of corporation of shares share capital
HEREBITRE

EEnE YNCIEE R E REMOB DL
%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Note 1) Wang On 9,984,356,772 55.88
BB A (Hat 1) BR (Note 3) (17t 3)
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(@)

Notes:

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang Ching Ho is taken to be interested in the interests of the
Company as he is taken to be interested in an aggregate of 9,984,356,772 shares in Wang
On, representing approximately 55.88% of all the issued Wang On'’s shares, by virtue of
his own beneficial shareholding, the shareholding interests of his spouse in Wang On, the
shareholding interests of a company wholly and beneficially owned by him, and his
deemed interests by virtue of being the founder of Tang’s Family Trust. Wang On is taken
to be interested in the interests in shares held by Rich Time Strategy Limited ("Rich
Time"). Rich Time, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, which was the
beneficial owner of 715,322,940 shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Tang Ching Ho
was deemed to be interested in 715,322,940 shares of the Company held by Wang On for
the sole purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

The percentage represented the number of shares over the total number of issued shares
of the Company as at 31 March 2019 was 1,231,642,888 shares.

The percentage represented the number of shares over the total number of issued shares
of Wang On as at 31 March 2019 was 17,867,520,047 shares.

Long positions in underlying shares of share options of Easy One, an
associated corporation of the Company:

=
=
i3

)
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Approximate

percentage of
Number Easy One’s
Exercise of share Number of total issued
Date of price per options Exercisable underlying  share capital
Name of director grant share outstanding period shares (Note 4)
EB25E
28T
R
BABD
BRITEE HE R 5B (Kiz£4)
HKS$ %
BT )
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas 23.2.2018 048 4,600,000 23.02.2018- 4,600,000 0.83
22.02.2025
BRIRE 4 —E-N\E —T-N\F
ZRAZ+=H “RA=t+=H
E_ZT_RF
—“A=-+=H
Note: ffsE -

(4)

The percentage represented the number of shares over the total issued share capital of
Easy One as at 31 March 2019 was 556,432,500 shares.

(4)
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective
associates had registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

Share Option Scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2013, the
shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the share option
scheme previously adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the
special general meeting held on 18 September 2003 (the “2003 Scheme”)
and the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”) for the
primary purpose of providing incentive and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Upon termination
of the 2003 Scheme, no share options was granted thereunder but the
subsisting share options granted prior to the termination will continue to be
valid and exercisable during the prescribed exercisable period in accordance
with the terms of the 2003 Scheme. The 2013 Scheme became effective on
22 August 2013 and, unless otherwise terminated earlier by shareholders at a
general meeting, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, share options may be granted to any Director
or proposed Director (whether executive or non-executive, including INEDs),
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time), secondee,
any holder of securities issued by any member of the Group, any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technological support or
any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any member of
the Group or any substantial shareholder or company controlled by a
substantial shareholder, or any company controlled by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes of participants (the “Participants”).

Under the 2013 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the
Participants to subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted which must be accepted within
30 days from the offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the holders
to dividends or to vote at shareholders” meetings.
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Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of share options that
may be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company is the number, upon their exercise, not in aggregate
exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time,
excluding any shares issued on the exercise of share options. The total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other schemes shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue, as at the date of
approval of the 2013 Scheme limit or as refreshed from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
Participant (except for a substantial shareholder or an INED or any of their
respective associates) under the 2013 Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the number of shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of such limit must be separately
approved by shareholders with such Participant and his associates abstaining
from voting. Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by the INEDs (excluding any INED who is the grantee of
the option). Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an INED (or any of their respective associates) will result in the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options already
granted and to be granted to such person under the 2013 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Company'’s
shares at each date of grant, in excess of HKS5 million, such further grant of
share options is required to be approved by shareholders in a general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of a
share option granted to a substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of their
respective associates) is also required to be approved by shareholders. The
exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the official closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange on the offer date which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the 2003 Scheme RBE_Z-NF=A=+—RHILFE "
during the year ended 31 March 2019 were as follows: —ET=FHEAE T ZEREZHFED
T

Number of share options

BREZE

Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Expired asat Exercise Exercisable
Name or category of asat 1 April during during during during 31 March Date of price per period

Participant 2018 the year the year the year the year 2019 grant share (Note)
R=B-NF “E-hF
A-H Eqr=[z
SEER R WARTHE  FRERE  ERETE  FREAN ERER I RAT B BREBH BROKE
HK$
BT

Executive director

BITES
Ms. Tang Mui Fun 4,554 - - - (4554) - 8.1.2009 206927 8.1.2010-
Wigrat “ZEhE 712019
—ANA —Z2-%F
—ANEE
“Z-nF
—AtA
4,554 - - - (4,554) -
Other employees
Hitfgg
In aggregate 15276 - - - (15,276) - 8.1.2009 206927 8.1.2010-
&t —ZENE 712019
—ANA %%
—ANEE
“Z-nF
—AtA
19,340 - - (2102) - 17,238 1252010 74197 1252011~
It 2 115.2020
nA+-A —2——F
RATZRE
Ik %2
BAt-8
34616 - - (2102) (15,276) 17,238
39170 - - (2102) (19,830) 17,238
Note: fizE -
The share options granted under the 2003 Scheme were vested as follows: BE ST =F:;2RE2ERERN T G
=18
On the Tst anniversary of the date of grant: 30% vested B AR E—REER : 578 30%
On the 2nd anniversary of the date of grant: Further 30% vested BFEBHETE-_REER HE—FSEB30%
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant: Remaining 40% vested BFHYHAHEAtFEF=FAEER - BT 40%
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During the year under review, no share option was granted and outstanding
under the 2013 Scheme. Apart from 2,102 share options lapsed and 19,830
share options cancelled under the 2003 Scheme, no share options under the
2003 Scheme were exercised during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 17,238 share options
outstanding under the 2003 Scheme. The exercise in full of these share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in
the issue of 17,238 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of approximately HK$172.4 and share premium of HK$127,728.41
(before expenses).

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2013 Scheme is 126,514,288 shares, representing
approximately 10.3% of the Company'’s total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2003 Scheme and the 2013 Scheme are set out in
note 30 to the financial statements.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” and “Share option scheme” above
and in the share option scheme disclosures in note 30 to the financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares, or underlying shares in, or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

REBFERN  SEERERE-T—=
FEBERERAKRITE - BRBE-TT
=ZFEEIZ 2,102 EARED K E 19,830
MEBRED TN MERE_TT=F
ETEIZ BARER F BT

RBERR - ARARBE T =F5T3l
ZARITHERERE R 1723810 « BIBARQA
W2 AT - 2EITHEZSERES
B /ERITEINMT 28R AT E @R
BN AK) B172478 TT A BRI B E B
127,728.41 BT (RetF ) »
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions T2 BB R Bt S A B e vh 2
in Shares and Underlying Shares BERS B s

As at 31 March 2019, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the register of RZZ-—NF=ZA=1+—8 BEFHMK
substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 o AR BIRE H R EIE AR Z 336 617
of the SFO showed that the following shareholders (other than Directors or BE7FEZRREZMBET - THRE(CK
chief executive of the Company) had notified the Company and the Stock NEIEFHITHRAZRIN EHGRRQF]
Exchange of relevant interests and short positions in the shares and KB R PP AN 2 Bl R ABRE AR 15 2 48

underlying shares of the Company: AR KA -
Long positions in the shares of the Company: RAERBRGHER !

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s total
issued share capital

Name of shareholders Number of shares (Note 3)
LA AT B BT
RABEROT I
RERE B R&OEA (K17t 3)
%
Rich Time (Note 1) 715,322,940 58.08
Rich Time (K&t 1)
Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE") (Note 1) 715,322,940 58.08
Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ([WOE |) (f75F 1)
Wang On (Note 1) 715,322,940 58.08
R (Mfat1)
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2) 715,322,940 58.08
WEB R (MaE2)

Notes: MEzE -

1. Rich Time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, 1. Rich Time (A WOE Z =& K B2 A] + il WOE
beneficially owned 715,322,940 shares of the Company. WOE and Wang On are taken to be BREZZEEWNB AR ) EXEAKRNAQG
interested in 715,322,940 shares of the Company held by Rich Time. 715,322,940 B% A% 1 © WOE [ 2 & ¥ 18 B 1

Rich Time # B 2 & X 7]715,322,940 i% % 15
PREA R o

2. Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 2. WM EX [EFRFETHRAERART R
was interested as stated above in the sub-paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive's HigB AE G - HERGDSREEEP 2
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its wROKE | DB AR TWEER
associated corporations”. B2 EBEBTLEFAZRNTERRE

3. The percentage represented the number of shares over the total number of issued shares of the 3. ZADLERMEBEEARTANR_T—NF
Company as at 31 March 2019 of 1,231,642,888 shares. ZA=Z+—RZERBITRMHAHK

1,231,642,888 XM 2 B AL ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, there were no other persons BEXFIEZEEN RZZE—LF=A
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the =+—8  BEEAEMATREARFR
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the ek R 1D R B A IR 1B B 5 K B B 1%
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded EXVHBE2RINDEFENERE TARA
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the HAREBE H N A E B 336 IRBR AR
SFO. RRAFEz BBz ERmSAR

o\
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Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, the following transactions continued to be continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.55 and 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules:

(a)

On 19 September 2016, Daywin Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the following office sub-
licensing agreements for a term commencing from 18 September 2016
and expiring on 17 July 2019:

Wang On Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Management
Services Limited ("WOMS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On, to sub-lease Units 02, 03, 05, 06 and 15, 32/F., Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
at a monthly fee of HK$188,940, together with other monthly
expenses (including management fee and air-conditioning
charge, rates and Government rent, subject to increment of not
exceeding 5% each year); and

WOP Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Properties
Services Limited ("“WOPS”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of WOP, to sub-lease Units 01 and 07 to 12, 32/F,, Skyline Tower,
39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a
monthly fee of HK$414,672, together with other monthly
expenses (including management fee and air-conditioning
charge, rates and Government rent, subject to increment of not
exceeding 5% each year).

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the total office sub-licensing fee
received by the Group from WOMS and WOPS amounted to
HK$9,700,111; and
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(b) on 30 November 2018, WYT Medicine, an indirect subsidiary of the
Company, as the supplier, and Wang On Management Limited
("WOM"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, as the
purchaser, entered into a new master sales agreement for supplying
Chinese and Western pharmaceutical products, health food and
personal care products by the Group to WOM (for itself and on behalf
of other members of Wang On) for the three financial years ending 31
March 2021 at annual caps of HK$9.8 million, HK$9.9 million and HK$9.9
million, respectively. During the year, total sales proceeds received by
the Group from WOM was HK$6,855,356.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that
the abovementioned continuing connected transactions were entered into (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business; (ii) in accordance
with the terms of the respective agreements governing such transactions on
terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole; (iii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms
no less favourable to the Group than those available to or from independent
third parties; and (iv) have not exceeded the respective caps.

Ernst & Young, the Company's auditor, was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to
Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business during the year under review, which fell
under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were
no other transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Emolument Policy

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is set up and approved by
the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting, having regarded to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme at the annual
general meeting held on 22 August 2013, as an incentives to Directors and
eligible employees, details of the 2013 Scheme are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2019, sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for less than approximately 17.6% (2018: approximately
11.1%) of the Group's total sales and the sales to the Group's largest customer
included therein accounted to approximately 8.2% (2018: approximately
4.0%).

During the year, the largest supplier accounted for approximately 10.7%
(2018: approximately 15.5%) of the Group's purchases and the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 28.6% (2018:
approximately 32.2%) of the Group's purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director or any of their associates or a
shareholder of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had any beneficial
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or the largest suppliers.
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Disclosures Pursuant to Rules 13.12 And 13.20 of the
Listing Rules

The Group through Winning Rich Investments Limited (“Winning Rich”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, advanced an aggregate
outstanding principal amount of HK$920.0 million to CAP by way of (i)
subscription of up to an aggregate principal amount of HK$720.0 million of
the 2019 CAP Bonds pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 4 October
2014 (as supplemented on 28 November 2014) entered into, among others,
CAP, Winning Rich and Double Leads Investments Limited (“Double Leads"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On; and (ii) acquisition of
HK$200.0 million of the 2019 CAP Bonds from Double Leads, pursuant to the
agreement dated 5 July 2016 (as supplemented on 8 July 2016) entered into
between Winning Rich, Double Leads and Wang On.

At the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this annual report,
CAP was indebted to Winning Rich principal sums of HK$700.0 million and
HK$682.0 million, respectively, for principal sums of HK$220.0 million and
HK$18.0 million, respectively, were early repaid by CAP to Winning Rich
during the Period and subsequent to the period under review.

Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations totaling
approximately HK$0.5 million (2018: approximately HKS$2.7 million).

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
its existing shareholders.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year under review, except for the deviation of the
code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 62 to 87 of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year under review and up to the date of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established its Audit Committee with specific written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprises Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon and Mr. Cho Wing Mou, all of them are the independent non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met twice with the management and
the external auditor to review and consider, among other things, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the financial
report matters (including the review of audited consolidated financial
statement for the year ended 31 March 2018 and the consolidated interim
results for the six-month ended 30 September 2018), the statutory
compliance, internal controls and risk management, continuing connected
transactions and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function as well as
their training programmes and budget. The Audit Committee has also
reviewed the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 with the independent auditor and the management of the Company.
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Report of the Directors
oG

Events After the Reporting Period

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set
out in note 41 to the financial statements.

Auditor

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been
audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 118 to 274, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 7% BB it

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

BEETER

Independent Auditor’s Report
Bt 7% BB i

PRl S v e )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ESTNAEERRETSR

Impairment assessment of goodwill and property, plant and equipment

BRRYE  BERREZRIEE

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had goodwill and property,
plant and equipment before current year impairment of
HK$7,700,000 and HKS$1,019,679,000, respectively, which
relate to the cash-generating units (“CGUs") of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food products and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products. Given that the
operating results of both CGUs were loss-making for the
current and prior years, management of the Company
performed an impairment assessment on the goodwill by
using value in use calculation based on the discounted
cash flow method. Management also performed an
impairment assessment of the related property, plant and
equipment to determine their recoverable amounts based
on either the value in use or the fair value less costs of
disposal of the relevant property, plant and equipment.
RZZE-—NF=R=+—H ' E5E FIFHEEPERRE
BREMERNAZRERRMER REEAEM([HE
EABA])EEOEERDE - BKE K& 7,700,000 7T
52.1,019,679,000 8 7T (B A ERERT) - MR IREEE BN
CIREEBENENBEFEANLEEEER S ERARER
EHmBETREN G RETRBSRERAELRE
B EEREREBEYE  BERREETRENG - BIE
FRAEBEXATFEREESHBYE  BERREHKRE
FE AU [0l & 78 o

During the year, an impairment of HK$7,700,000 was
recognised for goodwill and a net reversal of impairment
of HK$1,495,000 was made against property, plant and
equipment.

RER - BiEREEME 77000008 7T - WERWE - BE
R 5% A 1 LR (B 7 B F 58 1,495,000 A5 IT ©

For impairment assessments using the value in use
calculations, our audit procedures included the following:
AU EEBEBEETREN GRS - RMONEFIEFE
BIAT&A :

enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections,
such as the revenue growth rates and gross margins,
and comparing them to historical information and
our understanding of the latest market information
and conditions;
MERESHBRSREANPER 2 BRRRE(WKRA
R R N FE A ) 305 B BR AR A B 4 R AR BLUEE SR SR
K Fh AP ol BT 3515 B Stk ) IR BRAETT EL B

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in the assessment of the methodologies and the
discount rates used to determine the recoverable
amounts; and

B R T AP O P B A (B B R 165 Bh B (P BT ik S E R MR Bl &
BHRRAZFERTRE : &

assessing the adequacy of the disclosures of the
Group’s impairment assessment of goodwill and
property, plant and equipment in the consolidated
financial statements.

A EEEGAVBHRRTEERYE BER
R RMEFTEZHEEEERE °
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

BEEITER

PRl S v e )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEANESTNAEERARETSER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and property, plant and equipment (continued)

BERYE  BERREZREE (&)

The impairment assessment has been identified as a key
audit matter due to the materiality of the carrying values of
the goodwill and the property, plant and equipment, and
the significant judgements and estimations involved in the
assessment of their recoverable amounts.

FEERYE BEMRRBRAEEZ AR HEAK
o€ FR P R B ARG - BB ERTE#E A 1]
BB ST FIE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
impairment of goodwill and property, plant and equipment
are included in notes 2.4, 3, 13 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FHABELRDE  BERRXEREZ ST BEREBEEHN
e ERERME24 313 K150
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For impairment assessments using the fair value less costs
of disposal of the relevant property, plant and equipment,
our audit procedures included the following:
HARNTFERLEER@ADE - BERRERIKRETRE
FEME  RPIMBFEFEEUATSIE

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Company;

BESRENB BRRIERE NG ERD PRS2 &
(EETE

assessing the external valuer's qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHESNER R ERD 2 B % - KRR FEMBEE B H A
7 BBUEREBME R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in the assessment of the valuation methodologies
applied and the key assumptions and estimates
adopted in the valuations.

BRI AFEEZER BB MTAEETERZ
BT A A RERF 2 B R 2% K A5t ©



Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

REETER

Independent Auditor’s Report
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PRl S v e )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNIEERRETSE

Impairment assessment of investment in an associate

R—EIH & 2 IR & Z B EF S

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held a 29.06% interest in a
listed associate, Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy
One"), with a carrying amount of HK$324,062,000. As the
market value of Easy One’s shares held by the Group was
significantly lower than the carrying amount of the Group's
investment in Easy One as at 31 March 2019, there was an
impairment indicator on the Group’s investment in Easy
One.

—NF=ZA=+—H  BEXERLTHERFSH
SeREEARAR(ZEE]) F#HE 29 O6%f§ﬁ?& BRTH
H73324,06200087L - AR T - NF=A=+—
SERAENZHERMHZTERER E5XERSGHER
BErHREE BEXERSGHISCREARETR -

)111}&

Accordingly, management of the Company has performed
an impairment assessment on its investment in Easy One
using a value in use calculation to determine its
recoverable amount. The value in use calculation was
based on the discounted cash flow method which was
complex and required management to use significant
judgements and make assumptions which were affected
by future market or economic conditions.

Hit © ERREBREBHENRS ST 2 REETRER -
RERBEAATEREAKLOEE - EABEILKRITRE
ERAEFTE  WAHERAEMTEREREBELZ AR
3% A MR B 8 B R F T R RER -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
investment in the associate are included in notes 2.4, 3 and
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

EHERBERNRIRE Z G BER R RBEH NGRS P mE
MizE24 316 °

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment assessment
of the investment in Easy One included the following:
BMAERZ ST REZRENEZEFEFEEATE
18 :

enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projection,
such as the revenue growth rate and gross margin,
and comparing them to historical information and
our understanding of the latest market information
and conditions; and

MERESHBESRERNPERZERKRKR(WKRA
R R N A ) I A5 B Bk AR A B R AR BRLUE SR BUHR
R AP Sl AT 355 B SR Y BB B ETTEL B ]

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in the assessment of the methodology and the
discount rate used to determine the recoverable
amount.

BRI R E B R BB B MR (A EE AT Bl &
BHRRAZ A ERFERE -
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

REETER

PRl S v e )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNIEERRETSE

Valuation of certain financial instruments

EFe@IAZGE

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Certain of these investments with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$702,995,000 as at 31 March 2019
were categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
RZZE—NF=A=+—H0  ESEEARAFELHM
FHBEABZUBEE - R-_FE-AF=A=+—H0F
M 4218 4702,995000 B T E TREREE D ERATE
ERE=H -

Significant management judgements and estimates are
required in determining the valuation of financial
instruments which are categorised within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy. Management of the Company engaged
external valuers to perform the valuation of these financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period and in the
absence of current prices in an active market for similar
investments, the external valuers applied certain
unobservable inputs in the valuation.
ERERFLEAAG R A AEEREEAT=ZRA
FESERAz2cRITANMGE BRAREBEENRBRESAR
ZEISEHEMEZESRM T AETHE - ERZEMUER
BEEBRMST2HITEBRERT NS EEMRHESR
ERE T AR B[ ASRE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
valuation of financial instruments are included in notes 2.4,
3, 17 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
FHCRITAGREZSHBREREHRGE M BEHREM
F£24317K39°
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of financial
instruments categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy included the following:
BMABSEAE=RAATESRA e T AGEZE
BFaiEATEE :

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Company;

BISRENB BRRIEE NG ER PRS2 G
(EETE

assessing the external valuers’ qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHESNER EERD 2 B A% - KRR FEEMBNE B H A
N BEERBIE R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in the assessment of the valuation methodologies
applied and the key assumptions and estimates
adopted in the valuations.

BRI AFBEEZER BB M A EETERZ
1B A A KRR 2 R R R K fhET ©
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Key audit matter

REETER

Independent Auditor’s Report
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNIEERRETSE

Impairment assessment of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

BN FEERMEEREARZ EHREZBEFE

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income amounting
to HK$852,023,000. Related net reversal of impairment
amounting to HK$80,353,000 was recognised in profit or
loss during the year, and the related cumulative loss
allowance amounting to HK$101,781,000 was carried as at
31 March 2019. The adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments ("HKFRS 9") has fundamentally changed the
Group's accounting for impairment losses of debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income by replacing the incurred loss approach under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement with a forward-looking expected credit loss
approach.

RZEBE-NF=A=+—8 EEEEFERATELHM
2 E Wz ARR 2 B 4 852,023,000 7T © F A B R B
T 2 48 B R (B 98¢ (2] 5 %8 80,353,000 8 7T, + i AHRE R aH B 185
#101,781,000 B TER —T—NF=ZA=+—HBHHEH - &K
MBEETBRELERFEOReRTE ([FEMBREELSE
95k D AR M IBREEBREMRESGHERNERE
BTA:  #RARTENEELEEBRE BENE BS£ERK
ATFELEMEEKE AR ZEBREZRESEN ST
BRIR o

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessments of the debt investments included the
following:

B EEBREREFENRTRETFEENTRE

obtaining and reviewing the expected credit loss
calculations prepared by the external valuer engaged
by the Group;

BEEREN BE5EEEZINBMEERDTEE 2 THH
EEBIEFERE

assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHESNER R ERD 2 B4R - KRR BEMBE B H A
7 BBUEREBME R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in the assessment of the methodologies applied and
the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
expected credit loss calculations.
BERMHANTEEZERGERMTEEDREEEE
FTERERZ AR 2 R RE R hET o
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Key Audit Matters (continued) 7 i R

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REETER EMNESFNIEERRETSE

Impairment assessment of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued)

B FEERMEEREARZ EHFREZREG (E)

Significant management judgements and estimates are
required in determining the loss allowance for these debt
investments under the expected credit loss model in
accordance with HKFRS 9. Management applied the
general approach in calculating the expected credit losses
for the debt investments and engaged an external valuer
to assess the credit risk of each debtor and prepare the
expected credit loss calculations. The external valuer
applied various elements, which involved forward-looking
information and expected future cash flows, in assessing
the expected credit losses.
EREERBEEBMBHRELNEIFNRREEEHEEN
BEZEEBRENBRBER AELERHE &t
ERERA-—RAEAEERRENTEHEEEE Wi
wINEBEEMN A EEBEANGEERRERREEDEE
BENGTE R L - N EEMENEEBEEEERER
ZIETE  ERPRAEMEEHREHRRRSRE ¢

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
Group's debts investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17
to the consolidated financial statements.
FEREEZAFELEMEZAREARNEBRENS
FTHCR RIRBEH N A M BHRERMGE24 - 3R 17 °
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

REETER

Independent Auditor’s Report
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PRl S v e )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNIEERRETSE

Valuation of investment properties

REYZEZ A1E

The Group holds various investment properties in Hong
Kong for rental earning purposes. Such investment
properties are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period and the aggregate carrying amount of
these investment properties was HK$611,088,000 as at 31
March 2019, which represented approximately 25% of the
net assets of the Group.
BEEERBEERESHREMENRRES - BHIREY
ERNERERREAFEFERZEREVER -1
F=ZRA=1T—BZHKREMER611,088000%T h BEE
B FEEL25% °

Significant estimation is required to determine the fair
values of the investment properties, which reflect market
conditions at the end of the reporting period. Management
of the Company engaged an external valuer to perform the
valuation of these investment properties as at 31 March
2019 and in the absence of current prices in an active
market for similar properties, the external valuer considered
information from a variety of sources such as current prices
of properties of similar locations and conditions.
EEREMFEZATFEBELEENMGS B R HREH
RKzmsihne BAREEER-_ZT-—NF=ZA=1—
HZEBIIDEEMEZEREYEETHE  RNRZHEL
MEEERT SR Z2RITERENT  INBEERMSEE
KB ZERR 2 ER - RO B AR 2 W R R 1T
BH5

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
valuation of investment properties are included in notes
2.4, 3 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
EAREMELEZEFTRREREEHNGES W HIRRM
24 3K140

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:

BMFHRENEHECBRTRFEENTRE

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Company;
1S R EHH
B#RE

BERAERBZINBEERMARRE

assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence; and
AN AR ER 2 B - KRR EENZIL E B HE
7 BEBUEREBE R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in the assessment of the valuation methodologies
applied and the key assumptions and estimates
adopted in the valuations.

BERANABEEERBBRMAFEEETERZ

BETERARRA 2 BR|RR R -
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Other Information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

1 1 6 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

28 June 2019

B 7 % BRI AR o

% BRI B 2 G s O WA 5 i A R VG
W EAT: )

HREZZEGEBNERAT  HMRE
WBLe =M KM A HIGR A M ISR EA RS
B2 AmBEKREARETSEE - LMER
BUED s P AUE L FIH - BRIFARIER
TAFARARBEELER  HERKFER
MERT  MRAEBEHRERMREDAE
BREFENNEERREBEENOR
MEE - BfYRE T RERSHBBZER -

HERBIZBMBENRTHEABA
SRR A

ZKE TS5 AT
HZEELTAD
BERIR
INTEE R
RERE22E

—E-AFRAZTNR

7 77 5 S e AT



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
s 3 TH A o Al 4 i W 4k £

Year ended 31 March 2019 HE—ZT—NWF=A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—)N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE FTET FH&T
REVENUE Wz 5 751,443 845,781
Cost of sales $HEE R R (449,915) (501,987)
Gross profit EF 301,528 343,794
Other income and gains, net Hag A Rz - 558 5 115,671 124,002
Selling and distribution expenses HE R D HRAX (281,769) (267,344)
Administrative expenses THAX (166,170) (185,839)
Reversal of impairment B A EREEE
losses/(impairment losses) B, CREEE)
on financial assets, net HER 82,767 (2,327)
Other expenses HiE X (6,205) (19,170)
Finance costs BhE AN 7 (28,553) (18,926)
Fair value gains/(losses) on BEAVELEERRARZ
financial assets at fair value MEEEZ A TFE
through profit or loss, net Wz (E18) - F58 593 (17,800)
Fair value gains on investment REMEZ NP ERE
properties, net HER 14 17,445 23,356
Share of profits and losses of associates DIGEE N AR 46,387 (94,633)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBLADER,(B518) 6 81,694 (114,887)
Income tax expense Fris MR 10 (7,448) (2,281)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REERF,(BR) 74,246 (117,168)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ok £ T A e L Al 2 o W 4 K

Year ended 31 March 2019 #HZE=—ZT—AF=ZA=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—B-hE —T)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000
T TABIT

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) ELftt 2 E Wt 2% (E518)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) REEEBIFER 7 EE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss in B A2 H
subsequent periods: YWezs,(E518) -
Available-for-sale investments: A ERE -
Changes in fair value N EEEF 17 - (6,263)
Debt investments at fair value through BEAFELEMEmEKE
other comprehensive income: AR ZEBRE
Changes in fair value NEEES) (3,198) -
Reclassification adjustments FTABmCEBEZEN
for losses included in profit or loss: SRR
Impairment losses RIEBE (80,353) -
(83,551) -
Share of other comprehensive DB E A E 2 HAth
income/(loss) of associates 2EWE(EE) (26,917) 27,633
Release of reserves upon deemed partial P4 E H & — 5 = A 7]
disposal of equity interests in an associate 2B {7 A4 14 AR ER 4 1 - (973)
Translation reserve: BB
Translation of foreign operations HE I INETS (13,326) 7,350
Net other comprehensive income/(loss)  RBEEEHAEIRIGEEF D AR
that may be reclassified to profit or BaaHEM 2
loss in subsequent periods Wz (E18) F58 (123,794) 27,747
Other comprehensive income/(loss) R 12 B I FEE 3 7 42
that will not be reclassified to profit or B BB b 2 H
loss in subsequent periods: Wezs,(E5#E)
Share of other comprehensive o — A & A B 2 HAth
loss of an associate ZHEE (4,240) =
Equity investments at fair value through 12 A FEZ Eh 2 B S
other comprehensive income: AR IRBERE -
Changes in fair value NTEEH) (39,296) -
Deferred tax EREFIE 3,521 -
Net other comprehensive loss that will R BRYESHHES
not be reclassified to profit or BRENEMEEEIE T
loss in subsequent periods (40,015) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) A& & E Br Bl & H 2|
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX W (EE) (163,809) 27,747
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEERHEBEAE
FOR THE YEAR (89,563) (89,421)

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
e ATCE 11 9



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
ok £ T A e R Al 2 v W 4 K

Year ended 31 March 2019 &#ZE—Z—hE=ZA=+—HBIFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —T—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBTT
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AR AT REEZR,(BE) :
Owners of the parent ISYNCIETZ=DN 74,627 (115,581)
Non-controlling interests FEFE A 1 7 (381) (1,587)
74,246 (117,168)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: LA N AL E{E 2 EEI8 4258 :
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZS PN (88,025) (87,834)
Non-controlling interests IEE R = (1,538) (1,587)
(89,563) (89,421)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BRAAEBEREEAEWN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BREF(HE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted HARR#E HK5.98 cents HK(9.14) cents

5.98 381l (9.14) 7511l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
o o W 155 IR Dl ¢

—E-NF=A=t+—H

31 March 2019

2019 2018
—E-hE —T—N\F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
M aE FET TATT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R MR 13 957,323 809,376
Investment properties WEYE 14 558,000 503,000
Goodwill [EES 15 - 7,700
Investments in associates NI I 16 329,584 298,148
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFESEMEE WS
other comprehensive income AR BEE 17 228,623 =
Available-for-sale investments AtHERE 17 - 911,591
Deposits e 21 21,702 49,475
Deferred tax assets TEIETRTE B B 28 10,122 13,196
Total non-current assets BIERBE E 2,105,354 2,592,486
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories w8 18 161,508 183,175
Trade and bills receivables B 5 WA K B RS 19 92,210 111,433
Loan and interests receivables JEU B 7 K F B 20 24,031 134,087
Prepayments, deposits and TBARIR - Re RHE M EWEIR
other receivables 21 46,298 85,607
Financial assets at fair value through EAFELSEMEE RS
other comprehensive income AR BEE 17 710,788 =
Financial assets at fair value through BEATELEERAK
profit or loss A E 22 21,289 127,593
Tax recoverable A Yz 3] 7 78 1,157 1,231
Bank balances and cash RITEBR AR ® 23 171,209 420,849
1,228,490 1,063,975
Assets classified as held for sale SEABIEHENEE 24 120,826 =
Total current assets NS B 1,349,316 1,063,975
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables 2 SN IR 25 35,959 60,177
Other payables and accruals HibENRIE L ETE 26 107,839 98,372
Interest-bearing bank borrowings S ERRITEE 27 232,290 264,790
Tax payable FERFIIR 4,896 2,040
380,984 425,379
Liabilities directly associated with the WEAEAFELENEE
assets classified as held for sale HEMBENERE 24 361 =
Total current liabilities BRBAE 381,345 425,379
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 967,971 638,596
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERABRE
LIABILITIES 3,073,325 3,231,082
P77 S S I G B 1 21
ZEJUEFR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
o 0 A 15 IR I 48

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
M aE FET TATT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 3,073,325 3,231,082
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEME
Other payables H {th fE A~ 5RI8 26 1,883 2,450
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRIRITEE 27 619,937 662,227
Deferred tax liabilities LRI A E 28 3,416 6,380
Total non-current liabilities BIERBEE 625,236 671,057
Net assets BEFE 2,448,089 2,560,025
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners BAREE ABGER
of the parent
Issued capital BEEBITRA 29 12,316 12,651
Reserves & 31 2,431,802 2,541,853
2,444,118 2,554,504
Non-controlling interests SRR =R 3,971 5,521
Total equity BrEL 2,448,089 2,560,025
Tang Ching Ho Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
5 PR I B2
Director Director
- -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
s 1 FE dux 5t 1)) R

Year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE=-_ZT—NAF=ZA=+—HILEFE

Non-

Issued Share e Contributed on  Translation Rese Other 3 aluation controlling

capital  premium surplus e e fi s Total

At1 April 2017 RZZ-tEmA-R 12651 2116420 (27,150) 275,693 383 (27.266) 359 11463 3643 28014 257581 2651791 5932 2657723
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - - - - - - (115381)  (15s8) (158 (117,168)
Other comprehensive income/ AEFEMEE

(loss)for the year: I/ (B58) :

Changein fairvalue of RLEREY

available-forsale ATHERY
investments - - = - = - - - (6.263) = = (6.263) = (6,263)
Share of other comprehensive HMi-BHRERFZ
income of an associate Efp2EkE - - - - - 2907 - - 5726 - - U8 - 63
Release upon deemed partial RERELE-R
disposal of equity interests in BENAHR
an associate RIERRRER = B - - - 1,209 = (509) (1673) - - 9n) - 973)
Translation reserve: B
Exchange differences BEBNEBH
on translation EECERER
of foreign operations - - - - - 7350 - - - - - 7350 - 7350
Total comprehensive income/ TEE2ENE/(B8)

{o9)forthe year 5 - - - - - 0 ) Soasm) @B %) @)
Forfeiture of share options BRER M - - - - (51) - - - - - 51 - - -
Share of other reserves ME—EREARZ

of anassociate bR = = - - - - - 09453 - - - 043 - (9453)
Capital contribution from a RE-HEHBARZ

non-controling shareholder FERRFTE

of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - 1176 1176
At31 March 2018 R=Z-)\%

ZA=t-A 12651 2116420 (27150 275,693* 3 3,200* 359* 1501% 1433 28014* 142051% 2,554,504 5521 2,560,025

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
e ATCE 1 23



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
o 0 HE fik 33 1) %

Year ended 31 March 2019 &#ZE—Z—hE=ZA=+—HBIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BAAEAARE
Available-
for-sale Fair value Retained
Share investment  Fair value reserve Asset profits/ Non-
Issued Share Special Contributed option Translation  Reserve Other revaluation reserve (non-  revaluation (accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus reserve reserve funds reserve reserve  (recycling)  recycling) reserve losses) Total interests

A% M AR

BER WK HE H

BRARE REWE AREE REEM  HE  ENBE  BRES  RREE EGMR (TN (FINA)  EGHR (RMED) &% RE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TER TAR TAn TEn TR TAn TER TEn TR TEL  TAn  TEn TR TA%

BE REEA HER

Notes  (note29)  (note29) (note31(i)) (note 31(ii))
WE o (WiE20)  (WE20) (WG (REE31Gi)

(note 31(iv)) (note 31(ii)
(RfaE31)) (KEEE31()

At31 March 2018 RZB-N\§
=A=t-R 12,651 3 359 1,501 1433 - 28,014 142,051 2,554,504 5521 2,560,025
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 FhERIHREER
FoHTE 2200) - - - - ) 49,049 - (37003)  (10407) 8 (10415
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 15 FhEEBREE
F1RNTE 2200 - - - - - - - 0998 (199) @ (002
At 1 April 2018 (restated) RZF-\§MA-B
(@&5)) 12,651 332 359 1,501 - 49,049 28,014 (97,050 2,542,099 5509 2,547,608
Profit/loss) for the year RERER/(5R) - - - - - - - Tee T4sM (381 74246
Other comprehensive AEEEMRE
income/loss) for the year. Wi/ (mi8) :
Financia asets a fair value RATEEES
through other 2EREAE
comprehensive income: ZBEE:
Changes in fair value, NYEED
net of tax MBHE - - - - - (3,198) (35,775) - - (38,973) - (38,973)
Reversal of impairment losses HHEERE
of financial assets &R - - - - - (80,353) - - - (80,353) - (80,353)
Share of other comprehensive AEBERFL
income/(loss)of associates Hh2E
s/ (58) ~ - - 518 - (4,240 - - (31,157) - (31,157)
Translation reserve: EXGE:
Exchange differences BEBNERH
on translation EEZER
of foreign operations =8 - - - - - B - - e (A 03320
Total comprefensive RER2ERE/ (B8)
income/(loss) for the year .t - - - 518 - (83,551)  (40,015) - 74,627 (88,025) (1,538)  (89,563)
Shares repurchased and cancelled BB Rk 2 IR 1 (335) - - - - - - - (9:956) - 9,956)
Forfeiture and expiration BREZMRER
of share options - (246) - - - - - 246 - - -
At31 March 2019 RZF-NE
=A=t-R 12,316 86* 359% 2,019% -+ 95,529% 9,034* 28,014% (22177)* 2,444,118 3971 2,448,089
x These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,431,802,000 (2018: 2 ZEHERE PR VEIRRT NG ERE

HK$2,541,853,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

124 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

1#2431,802,000/8 70 (ZF — /\4F : 2,541,853,000
7BTT) ©



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
R R

Year ended 31 March 2019 HE=—ZFT—NLF=A=+—HILFE

2019
—g-NE

2018
—F—)\F
HK$'000
FHET

HK$’000
TET

Notes

Byt

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

REXBMEBRENE

Profit/(loss) before tax BrFADE A, (E518) 81,694 (114,887)
Adjustments for: BERABUTEE
Finance costs A& KA 7 28,553 18,926
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets  1Z A FEKLEBRERARZ
at fair value through profit or loss, net MEEE2 N TFE
(zs), K518 - FHE (593) 17,800
Fair value gains on investment REMEZ AV ERZ - F5
properties, net 14 (17,445) (23,356)
Accrued rent-free rental income fEEt A WA 14 357 (644)
Share of profits and losses of associates DIGEEE AR (46,387) 94,633
Dividends from financial assets at fair REEAFELEMEEEKE
value through other comprehensive AR M5 & BE IR A TR
income and financial assets at fair value KEFRAR U BEE
through profit or loss ) &5\ 5 (3,145) (3353)
Interest income on a loan receivable R —EEE R RERZ
from an associate FlEWA 5 (4,203) (6,464)
Interest income on financial assets BEAFELEMEEY S
at fair value through other AR & B R ] i
comprehensive income/ EEREZHFEBWA
available-for-sale investments 5 (90,179) (99,143)
Interest income on financial assets BAFELEBZRARZ
at fair value through profit or loss B & EE 2 F BURA 5 (349) -
Interest income on bank deposits RITERZHBUA 5 (1,208) (1,028)
Allowance for obsolete inventories PRETFTERE 6 9,454 4,840
Gain on early repayment of a debt REEERATELEHEAM
investment at fair value through other 2HEW AR Z B
comprehensive income wE 2 W 5 (1,179) -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME BEREK
plant and equipment IHE 2 B 6 4 -
Depreciation e 13 51,323 46,813
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment 81 7§ & E R E &8~
losses) on financial assets, net OREBERR) - F58 6 (82,767) 2,327
Impairment of goodwill BEEE 15 7,700 7,635
Impairment losses/(reversal of Y - REMEEEER
impairment losses) of items of BEEBECREBERD)
property, plant and equipment 13 (1,495) 11,535
(69,865) (44,366)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL/(Ehm) 12,213 (18,303)
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 WA K R E
and bills receivables A, (HE ) 17,482 (17,970)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, A A ~ me REAME
deposits and other receivables IR AL, (3En) 40,289 (10,678)
Decrease in trade payables B SN RIBR D (24,694) (1,456)
Increase/(decrease) in other HEMENZIBERETER
payables and accruals &, Cmd) (2,419) 12,961
Cash used in operations KEFTARE (26,994) (79.812)
Interest received on bank deposits RITFRZEWFIE 1,208 1,028
Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid) BRE(BR)BEFNEH (847) 2,053
Net cash flows used in operating activities & %A RS REFEE (26,633) (76,731)
P77 S S I G B

e ATCE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

o £ B < i e

Year ended 31 March 2019 HE—-Z

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

—hF=ZA=+—HLEFE

Notes

Byt

REZHMERENE

2019
—g-NE

HK$’000
TET

2018
AS::
HK$'000
THET

Purchases of items of property, BEWXE  BENMKHEER

plant and equipment (15,400) (28,576)
Purchase of financial assets BERAFELESRAR

at fair value through profit or loss BB E (18,786) =
Purchase of financial assets BB jﬁ@$1§$§éﬁﬁﬁ1@

at fair value through other W AR HIEEE"

comprehensive income/an —IHAHEERE

available-for-sale investment (163,146) (2,029)
Proceeds from redemption of a debt BoZAFESEA2EKE

investment at fair value through other AR BEBIREFSHIE

comprehensive income 220,000 -
Investments in associates REE R RE (17,540) =
Decrease/(increase) in a loan receivable FEU & TR (3 50) 100,000 (20,000)
Interest received from a loan receivable RE—HEREFRREKERE

and debt investments 2 BEWF & 101,018 100,611
Dividends received from financial assets 3k & Tﬁ’&$1§iﬁ,ﬁ\1ﬁ’1\ﬁ%?&

at fair value through other comprehensive ARk BI 158 & R R A FEZ

income and financial assets at fair value BaRARCHMBEEL

through profit or loss 2R B 3,145 3,353
Dividends received from associates 2 EE & A RIAR B 1,054 =
Acquisitions of subsidiaries that are W IEEEEE 2 HIB AR

not a business, net HER 32 (311,662) =
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of ~ WBE% - MiE RREEE 2

property, plant and equipment EfEe (1,570) (35,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets  HERAFERLIBRERARZ

at fair value through profit or loss B 75 & EPTS 50 - 4910
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing RE RSB (FFA)BRERE

activities HRE (102,887) 23,269
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRERERE

ACTIVITIES
Shares repurchase B fn E& el 29 (9,956) =
Capital contribution from a non-controlling & B — & A 7] 2 FE3E %

shareholder of a subsidiary RFEEE - 1,176
New bank borrowings RIS EE 190,000 480,000
Repayments of bank borrowings EEBRITEE (264,790) (312,290)
Interest paid B A (28,553) (18,926)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mEEERE () RERE

financing activities FER (113,299) 149,960
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH ~ RE&RFSEEER &M/

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (m2) 28 (242,819) 96,498
Cash and cash equivalents FUzREMREEMEER

at beginning of year 420,849 323,695
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [E R & &) » /£ » SHEE (6,821) 656
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZASRASEEER

AT END OF YEAR 171,209 420,849
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRRESEEEB &R

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 23 171,209 420,849
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its head office and principal place of business are both located at
Suite 3101, 31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products

production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products

property investment

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited (“Wang On”),
which is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

A 5 e =< ik

31 March2019 —Z—h&FE=HA=+—H

2] S B R

UTEEEERAERABA(ARQ
A A—HMREFETMK L ZE
REeBFRA R HAHEHEREE
EEMBIIVRABE B NENESE
RNEIVRARNESZINE3101 = o

RER - NRBREKERE (5HE
[REE]) EEPRTHNES

FERBETERRERME

2]}

EEMFEAENRRRME

an
MERE

RRARESFRE AR ZEEER
‘A Al A Rich Time Strategy Limited @ H
REBRZESFMKY - KRAFZ
BEERARALLZEBERA A
(IT=%]) - AR BREZMAKL - I
NERBBERHMABER DA ([HR
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Notes to Financial Statements
YU 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. o] JAEEE R a
Information about subsidiaries ft A Bl Z & R
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: AABEEMBARZFBAT :

Percentage of equity

Issued attributable to the Company
Place of ordinary/ ANFEERERA L
incorporation registered Direct Indirect
and business share capital H# A Principal
BRI K BRTEE/ 2019 2018 2019 2018 activities
B A ZB-NF ZT)\F ZB-RF T\ XEXH
Asia Brighter Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
EERABRAR BE TR BT NERE
Able Trend Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary US$1 - - 100% 100%  Treasury management
Hong Kong L@k 1%ET HEER
RERIES/
Billion Good Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Property holding
BEERABRAR BE TR BT NERE
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Provision of financial
BB L@ BT service
RESRRS
Full Gainer Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
SRREBRAR BE TR BT NERE
Grand Quality Development Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
EAERBRAA BE TR BT NERE
Good Excellent Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BREBRRA BE TR BT NERE
Info World Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HAREBRAR BE TR BT NERE
Luxembourg Medicine Company Hong Kong Ordinary - - 99.79% 99.79%  Production and sale of
Limited B HK$933,313 Western pharmaceutical
EREREBERAH LR and health food products
9333137 SEREERER
RERRER
Oriental Sino Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% - Property holding
("Oriental Sino”) B LER BT MERE

REREARDA(RE])

Precious Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% - Property holding
("Precious Investments") B LER1BT MERE

1 28 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019



Notes to Financial Statements
Y 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —Z—h&FE=HA=+—H
O] AR R G

BB A B 2 B (80
ARABRETEMBARZFHBOT :

Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

(#8)

Percentage of equity

Issued attributable to the Company
Place of ordinary/ AAFEERER S
incorporation registered Direct Indirect
and business share capital HE M Principal
G A BRTEE/ 2019 2018 2019 2018 activities
B AR A ZE-NE CT\F ZB-RE CT\F ZEXRH
Richest Ever Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Trading of Chinese
EEHRAH B L@k pharmaceutical and
health food products
BETERRERRER
Shiny World Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% - Property investment
(“Shiny World") B L@ BT mERE
KEREFRAR ([KE])
Sky Success Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment and
HEBBAR BE L@ BT holding
NERERKE
Sino Fame Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - = 100% 100%  Property investment
FHREBRAA BE ERRIET NELRE
Star Sense Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
ARBRAA BE ERRIET ESSY)
Sunbo Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
RERABBRAA BE ERRIET NELRE
Topmate Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BEREBRAH BB TR BT ESSY)
Total Smart Investments Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
EBRUFHS ERRIET RERKR
Union Target Limited ("Union Target”) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HRERAR ([HE]) BB ERRIET NELRE
Wai Yuen Tong Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
fTEERAR BE ERRIET ESS)
Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited Macau Ordinary Macau - - 99.79% 99.79%  Retail sale of Chinese
e (RM) BB AR AP Pataca 25,000 pharmaceutical and
=Rl health food products
25,000 8P TEFERRERAER
BTG SESE PR A IR AT
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. o] JAEEE R a
Information about subsidiaries (continued) AR 2 &R (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAREEMBARIZFBAT :
(continued) ()

Percentage of equity

Issued attributable to the Company

Place of ordinary/ AAFEERER S

incorporation registered Direct Indirect

and business share capital HE M Principal

G A BRTEE/ 2019 2018 2019 2018 activities

B AR A ZB-NF ZT\F ZB-RF T \F TEXH
Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Retail sale of Chinese
furE (TE)ERAH B L@k pharmaceutical and

health food products
TERERRER REM

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Hong Kong Ordinary - - 99.79% 99.79%  Production and sale of
Company Limited B HK$ 13,417,374 Chinese
("WYT Medicine Company”) Non-voting pharmaceutical and
fTEEBER AR deferred shares* health food products
((om4:1:3) HK$17,373,750 SEREEDER
TRk RERMER
1341737478 7T
EREE
RIER AR *
17,373,750 87T
Wang To Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - = 100% - Property investment
("Wang To") B LER2ET mERE
FmESEREAR AR People's Republic of  Registered capital - = 99.79% 99.79%  Retail sale and wholesale of
China (the "PRC")/ Renminbi (‘RMB") Chinese pharmaceutical
Mainland China 102,000,000 and health food products
REARLNE  ARRAARE TERMERER
(ThED),/=E  (AR¥]) RERMER
At 102,000,000 7C
BE (R BEEREERAR" The PRC/ Registered capital - - 100% 100%  Property holding
Mainland China HK$100,000,000 NERE
HE/ i E AR
HE A, 100,000,00077%

1 30 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

* The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to dividends. On the
wind-up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the non-voting deferred shares have a
right to repayment in proportion to the amounts paid up on all ordinary and deferred
shares after the first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has been distributed among the
holders of the ordinary shares.

# A wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

Details of the subsidiaries acquired during the year are summarised in
note 32 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("“HKFRSs”) (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, debt investments and equity investments which have been
measured at fair value. Assets classified as held for sale are stated at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell as further
explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

31 March 2019
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 2.1 i AL HE )

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2019.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

1 32 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

2014-2016 Cycle

31 March 2019
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 4 and Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant to the preparation of the
Group's financial statements, the nature and the impact of the new and
revised HKFRSs are described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects of
vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and accounting where
a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based
payment transaction changes its classification from cash-settled
to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the approach used
to account for vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled
share-based payments also applies to cash-settled share-based
payments. The amendments introduce an exception so that a
share-based payment transaction with net share settlement
features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet the
employee's tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-
settled share-based payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms
and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction
are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-settled
share-based payment transaction, the transaction is accounted
for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the
modification. The amendments have had no impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group as the Group does
not have any cash-settled share-based payment transactions and
has no share-based payment transactions with net settlement
features for withholding tax.

134 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2 @al BOR 2 588 e 3 9% Rl

(continued) ()

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments against the
applicable opening balances in equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore,
the comparative information was not restated and continues to
be reported under HKAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting HKFRS
9 on the consolidated statement of financial position, including
the effect of replacing HKAS 39's incurred credit loss calculations
with HKFRS 9's expected credit losses (“ECLs").

BEM B REERIE R L A
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2 @ahBOR .2 BB S b % 2R
(continued) (D)
(b) (continued) (b) (#&)

SERETE (&)
RZE—N\FHNA—HBRES
BEETERIE 30 A REE
HREESV RS ERE
ST RE AR ERRIA T ¢

Classification and measurement (continued)

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HKAS 39
and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018 is as
follows:

HKFRS 9 measurement
ERAHREER
HORHE

Amount  Category

HKAS 39 measurement
ERETER
H39RiTE Re-
Category  Amount classification ECL
RA
EE#R At AVERD &8 Bl

Changein

Other fair value

£5 £

ENAR

136

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
T Thr TiEr  TEx  TAr  ThEn
Financial assets BREE
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE AFS. 911591 (911591) - - - - NATER
To: Debt investments at fair value BN BRATESE D
through other comprehensive 2EREARZ
income EHRE (i (911,591) = = =
Financial assets at fair value through IR AFESE M2 EERS
other comprehensive income NEZEHERE
— Equity investments — RiERE NATEE - 125683 - - - 125683 Fvocr
(equity)
(fe#)
— Debt investments —EBRE NATEA - 9591 (182134) - 18134 911591 (deb)
(E%)
From: Financial assets at fair value B RATELERR
through profit or loss AEZHBEE (i) 125,683 = = =
From: Availablefor-sale investments B ¢ ATEHERE i) 911,591 - - -
Financial assets at fairvalue through AT ERERFARZ FPL 127593 (125683) - - - 1910 FVPL
profit or loss BsEE (mandatory)
()
To: Financial assets at fair value BARATEEE S
through other comprehensive 2EREAR L
income B%EE (i (125,683) - - -
Trade and bills receivables BHRKTERERZE L8R 111433 - (3581) - - 107832 AC
Loan and interests receivables EWEFHRFS L8R 134087 - (6,603) - - 127484 AC
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATEFT 308 « 184 Rt
deposits and other receivables R HEEE L&R 43903 - - - - 43903 AC
Bank balances and cash ROTEHRAS BR 420849 - - - - 40849 AC
1,749,456 = (192,318) = 182,134 1,739,272
Other assets HitEE
Investments in associates REERRZRE 298,148 = = (280) - 297868
Deferred tax assets BERBERE 13,19 = = 49 = 13,45
311,344 - - (231) - 311,113
Total fagt 2,060,800 - (192318) (231) 182134 2050385
Financial liabilities BEER
Trade payables BORNTE AC 60,177 = = = = 60,177 AC
Financial liabilities included in other &t AE B S0B R fEat
payables and accruals ERVHKARE AC 87,835 - - - - 87,835 AC
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHERTEE AC 97017 - - - - w07 AC
Total - 1075029 - - - - 1075029

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

1

(i)

FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

AFS: Available-for-sale investments
L&R: Loans and receivables
AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost

FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As of 1 April 2018, the Group has assessed its liquidity portfolio of debt
investments which had previously been classified as available-for-sale
investments. The objective of the Group in holding this liquidity portfolio is to
earn interest income and, at the same time, manage everyday liquidity needs.
The Group concluded that these debt investments are managed within a
business model to collect contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets.
Accordingly, the Group has classified these investments as debt investments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate certain of its previous
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss as equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income as these instruments meet the
definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The fair value losses on these instruments during the year ended
31 March 2019, that would have been recorded in profit or loss had these
instruments continued to be revalued through profit or loss, would have been
HK$39,489,000.

1 March 2019
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

(b) (continued)
Impairment

)
()

(b)

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening impairment
allowances under HKAS 39 to the ECL allowances under HKFRS 9.
Further details are disclosed in notes 17, 19 and 20 to the financial

statements.

Available-for-sale investments
under HKAS 39/debt investments
at fair value through other

Impairment
allowances
under
HKAS 39

at 31 March
2018

i
—E-N\E
=H=1+—8
REEEE
%R 55 395
ZRERE
HK$'000
FET

REEAB G EAF 39
AfHERE REEE
HBHRELRFIRFIZ DT

TR 2 B B B 4% % R

(&)

WA
TRAEBBGFTEREI9HR
BTNV ERERREESR
B TS RS 2E RSB 05k I8 N AY
THHEEBERENLER - #
— T H BRI BHRERME 17
19K 204 5

ECL

allowances

under

HKFRS 9

Re- at 1 April
measurement 2018
S
—E-N\F
RA—H
REEHE
B &
ERIE 9
ZHEHEE
BERE
HK$'000
TET

EXTE
HK$'000
TAT

comprehensive income under BELEMEAREARL
HKFRS 9 BBRE = 182,134 182,134
Trade and bills receivables B S WG K EREE 1,663 3,581 5244
Loan and interests receivables FEWEZ R A E - 6,603 6,603
1,663 192,318 193,981

As a result of an additional impairment of HK$182,134,000 against
the debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, there was a corresponding
increase in fair value recognised on these debt investments as at

1 April 2018.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

(b)

(continued)

Impact on reserves and retained profits

The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on reserves and retained

profits/(accumulated losses) are as follows:

31 March 2019

)

WA 25 1 2 I e

—EAF=A=+-F

T aBOR 2 B S i 2 2R
(#)

(b)

(&)
HFERRERFNWZE
BEERBEVHREERF
SRR RN (R
BR)NEENT :

Available-
for-sale Fair value Retained
investment reserve Fair value profits/ Non-
revaluation (non- reserve (accumulated controlling
reserve recycling)  (recycling) losses) interests
AHE AVERE LATERE KBRS
REEMRE (FUEE) (el (RiFR) FERER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
Balance as at 31 March 2018 BB ENE39RET
under HKAS 39 R=ZZ-\F=RA=+—H
MR 1433 o o 142,051 5521
Reclassification of debt investments BEBREEIHLERE
from available-for-sale investments BN BRRATEL
to financial assets at fair value through HireEREARZ
other comprehensive income BHKEE 3,054 - (3,054) - -
Reclassification of equity investments BRRER L BIRATEEERER
from financial assets at fair value AR HBEESTARE
through profit or loss to financial assets ~ #&/A FELE i 2 FMzs
at fair value through other AR ZHBEE - MRHIE
comprehensive income, net of tax - 47910 = (47,910) -
Effects relating to investments HRBENR RERBNTE
in associates
— Reclassification of equity — BREREBAHLERE
investments from available- BN BERATERL
for-sale investments to financial Hin2EhaE AR 2
assets at fair value through other HHEE
comprehensive income (4,487) 4487 - - -
— Reversal of the impairment losses —RBAREERATEL
under HKAS 39 for equity Hin2Eham ARz
investments designated at fair REREROE S
value through other FHERIZE39RET
comprehensive income previously ZRERRE
classified as available-for-sale
investments = (5358) = 5358 -
— Reclassification of equity — BREREBIRATES
investments from financial assets Bark AR HBEE
at fair value through profit or loss BN BRRATEL
to financial assets at fair value Hi2EAKEARZ
through other comprehensive HMBEE
income - 2010 - (2,010) =
— Recognition of expected credit — BAMBRELERE R
losses for loan and interest BT REKE TR RAS
receivables under HKFRS 9 BRAESEEESR = = = (280) -
Recognition of expected credit losses EBRBREEAEIRET
for loan and interests receivables HERER R S EREH
under HKFRS 9 FEER = = = (6603) =
Recognition of expected credit losses EBRBRELEAEIRET
for trade and bills receivables HESERUGERERZE
under HKFRS 9 HREHREEER = - - (3573) ®
Recognition of expected credit losses EBRBRELEAEIRET
for debt investments at fair value REATFELEMEARE
through other comprehensive AR EBREHRRELS
income under HKFRS 9 EEBE = = 182,134 (182,134) =
Deferred tax in relation to the above B FEIREE 2 EEHE = = = 49 -
Balance asat 1 April 2018 under HKFRS 9 &/BEI R ERIE 957
RZZ—\EMNA—BHEL - 49,049 179,080 (95,052) 5513
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

140

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and it
applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The disclosures are included in note 5
to the financial statements. As a result of the application of HKFRS
15, the Group has changed the accounting policy with respect to
revenue recognition in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial
application or only to contracts that are not completed at this
date. The Group has elected to apply the standard to contracts
that are not completed as at 1 April 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15 was
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits as at 1 April 2018. Therefore, the comparative information
was not restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 11,
HKAS 18 and related interpretations.
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31 March2019 —Z—h&FE=HA=+—H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2 @ahBOR .2 BB S b % 2R
(continued) (%)
(€) (continued) (c) (&)
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial statement TRESHMBHRREBEERZ
line item was affected as at 1 April 2018 as a result of the adoption T N\FMA—-BAKENEE
of HKFRS 15: B IS 3R 5 ERIE 1558 M X &
ZHEH
Increase/
(decrease)
e,
R 2)
Notes HK$'000
B FET
Assets BE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FEfTZRIE ~ 8% K H g U 3008 () 4,978
4978
Liabilities =N
Other payables and accruals Hith I RIB R ESTE (i), (i) 6,980
6,980
Equity =
Retained profits IR 4 A (i), (iii) (1,998)
Non-controlling interests eI = (iii) (4)
(2,002)
Set out below are the amounts by which each financial statement TREIEHBERREER =
line item was affected as at 31 March 2019 and for the year ended T-NF=ZA=+—HBKE=ZE
31 March 2019 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15. The —E-NF=A=t—HILF
adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no impact on other comprehensive ERRMNE BV G REEDNE
income or on the Group's operating, investing and financing cash [EEAIESZ 1k RET ok
flows. The first column shows the amounts recorded under HKFRS B EERE 155 HH
15 and the second column shows what the amounts would have ftb 2 E U A S AR B H) AL
been had HKFRS 15 not been adopted: RERBMERERE N E

2 - F-RETREFEUHE
ERERNE1SHARNEE -

F_RMBRRRME BT R

HEEAF15HFH DR
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2 @ahBOR .2 BB S b % 2R
(continued) (f8)
(€) (continued) (c) (&)
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive BHE-_T-—NWF=A=+—H
income for the year ended 31 March 2019: IFFEEREER M EMPE
Wk :
Amounts prepared under
REUTEARR 2 EE
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS  (decrease)
BRME Al
WEXER BERUH ®,/
E155%; |EER (R2)
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THET THT TET
Revenue L6 (i) 751,443 750,552 891
Cost of sales HEKAR ) (449,915) (448,335) 1,580
Gross profit el 301,528 302,217 (689)
Profit before tax R %5 AT g ) 81,694 82,383 (689)
Income tax expense FT5#iA Y (iii) (7,448) (7,448) -
Profit for the year AEE A 74,246 74,935 (689)
Profit for the year AT AT REGRER
attributable to:
Owners of the parent BAREBA 74,627 75,314 (687)
Non-controlling interests RS (i) (381) (379) 2)
Farnings per share BAREBER
attributable to ordinary BB AELEER
equity holders of the parent bl
Basic BN
— For profit for the year — REZ G A HK5.98 cents  HK6.03 cents  (HK0.05 cents)
5.98 &1l 6037l (0.057Hl)
Diluted e
— For profit for the year — KREZ G A HK5.98 cents  HK6.03 cents  (HK0.05 cents)

5.98 781l 6.03 7811l (0.0571l)
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(continued)

(€) (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019:

Assets
Prepayments, deposits and

aE
BENFR - RE R EM

Notes

P

WA 25 1 2 I e

31 March2019 —Z—hA&E=A=+—~

2.2 SRR 2 A ) R b % Bk
(#%1)
(c) (&)
R—_E—NF=ZA=+—HK
AR

Amounts prepared under

REUTERRER S8

Increase/
(decrease)

Previous
HKFRS
Al
BERMK
HEER
HK$'000
FHIT

HKFRS 15
45 2 Al
$£15%
HK$'000
FHET

# 0,
(R2)
HK$'000
FHBTT

other receivables FEUW G IE (0 68,000 64,602 3,398
68,000 64,602 3,398
Liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals £ #f i1~ 5018 &
EstE M @, (i) 109,722 103,633 6,089
109,722 103,633 6,089
Equity =
Accumulated losses 2zt EE (), (iii) (22,177) (19,492) (2,685)
Non-controlling interests FEERR (iii) 3,971 3,977 @)
(18,206) (15,515) (2,691)
D770 S P AT FR N ]
ZENFEER 1 43



Notes to Financial Statements
Yo 55 2 ) G

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

144

The nature of the adjustments as at T April 2018 and the reasons
for the significant changes in the statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2019 and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019 are
described below:

(i) Sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and
health food products with variable consideration
Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products provide
customers with a right of return. Before adopting HKFRS 15,
the Group recognised revenue from the sale of goods
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, net of returns. If revenue could not be reliably
measured, the Group deferred the recognition of revenue
until the uncertainty was resolved. Under HKFRS 15, rights
of return give rise to variable consideration which is
determined using the expected value method.

Rights of return

For a contract that provides a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the Group
previously estimated expected returns based on the
average historical return rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

(i)

Sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and
health food products with variable consideration
(continued)

Rights of return (continued)

Upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised a right-
of-return asset which is included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables and is measured at the former
carrying amount of the goods to be returned less any
expected costs to recover the goods, including any
potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. In
addition, a refund liability was recognised based on the
amount that the Group expects to return to the customers
using the expected value method. Accordingly, the Group
recognised refund liabilities of HK$6,980,000 as included in
other payables and accruals and recognised right-of-return
assets of HK$4,978,000 as included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, which resulted in a decrease in
retained profits of HK$1,998,000 as at 1 April 2018.

As at 31 March 2019, the adoption of HKFRS 15 resulted in
an increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
by HK$3,398,000. Besides, refund liabilities were increased
by HK$6,089,000 and there was an increase in accumulated
losses of HK$2,685,000. Revenue and cost of sales were
increased by HK$891,000 and HK$1,580,000, respectively, for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

31 March 2019
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

146

(ii)

(iii)

Consideration received from customers in advance
Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
consideration received from customers in advance as other
payables. Under HKFRS 15, the amount is classified as
contract liabilities which are included in other payables and
accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
reclassified HK$7,434,000 from other payables to contract
liabilities as at 1 April 2018 in relation to the consideration
received from customers in advance as at 1 April 2018.

As at 31 March 2019, under HKFRS 15, HK$7,098,000 was
reclassified from other payables to contract liabilities in
relation to the consideration received from customers in
advance.

Other adjustments

In addition to the adjustments described above, non-
controlling interests were adjusted as necessary. Retained
profits were adjusted accordingly.
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2 @al BOR 2 588 e 3 9% Rl

(continued) ()

Amendments to HKAS 40 clarify when an entity should transfer
property, including property under construction or development,
into or out of investment property. The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to
meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence
of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions
for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change
in use. The amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

HK(IFRIO)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to determine the date
of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the situation where
an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign
currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it)
is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability
(such as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity
must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt
of the advance consideration. The interpretation has had no
impact on the Group's financial statements as the Group's
accounting policy for the determination of the exchange rate
applied for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or non-
monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance provided in
the interpretation.
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31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business®

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Leases'
Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 No mandatory effective date is determined but available for adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSSs (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the
definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an integrated
set of activities and assets to be considered a business, it must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A business can
exist without including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs and
acquired substantive processes together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair value
concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or
loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint
ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (continued) 2.3 EAHiH MG AR AR 2 F i

150

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases.
The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions for lessees
— leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to
make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the
right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless
the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in
HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to which
the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise
the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense
on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in
the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSSs (continued)

Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification
principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and
finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply
the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The Group
plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the
cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at 1 April 2019 and will not restate the
comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present value of
the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group's
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The right-
of-use asset will be measured at the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of initial application. The Group plans to
use the exemptions allowed by the standard on lease contracts whose
lease terms end within 12 months as of the date of initial application.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of HK$132,740,000 as disclosed in note 35(b). A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the
definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these leases.

WA 25 1 2 I e

31 March2019 —Z—h&FE=HA=+—H

2.3 R {H NG R 2 R 2 5 v

B5 5 e R ()
HHEABEEFERES B2 £8
F17HRER 2o BRAUNSMEEE
EITHE Y2 AEEHER
MEMRE HHABEEFRASR
BEFTERE175ER 2 5 ERE]
HEHREETHE  IBzH A
CEHERMEHRE - BEMKER
SR AE 165 BRAMRAREEA
EHR L BB ST EAFE 175 B TR
FHESHREE - AAATRER
BAa2mEBE PSR B K E
AziZE . AEEE T —NLFH
A— B RERAE S EREER
F165% o NEBE B HMNE BN TE
A ZERI 5B 16 5% B 38 E IR SURERR
PIZ RN BT BE  (ERE =T
—NFNA—BEBEEFEAMNO VL
HEAE BETSEALER - It
G - R B FT B #5148 E FE R ot
RIEEAE B ERIZE 175 M3
AAERENEH  WFEFAAEER
VR ERABHNIESEEFXTIR
BRHGEENANBESEHES
E-FREEESLKEEEESE
it2 0 WIHEERVRERBHAE
AR R R PR EE AN T
AN ETHEN R BETH
Bo AREEFEFERANRVIGBERA
HASHA 2EARNRIEOEES
HZERT ERFREA R o

R-ZE—NAF=ZA=+—8 &%
SN I O B =
132,740,000/ 7T+ # 40 B 5 35(0) B
BT NPT EERZETERRF
AN ZEE - REABBIT KK
HERF165% NEBAERAE
ZEMNERAFTHRAEEERAESA

& e

7 77 5 S e AT



Notes to Financial Statements
Yo 55 2 ) G

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (continued) 2.3 EAHiH MG AR AR 2 F i

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information. A misstatement of information is material if
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the
primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2020. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of HKFRS 9
only includes interests in an associate or joint venture to which the
equity method is applied and does not include long-term interests that
in substance form part of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture, to which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such long-
term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net investment, which
includes the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising
losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments on 1 April 2019 and will assess its business
model for such long-term interests based on the facts and
circumstances that exist on 1 April 2019 using the transitional
requirements in the amendments. The Group also intends to apply the
relief from restating comparative information for prior periods upon
adoption of the amendments.

1 52 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSSs (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and
deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope
of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to
interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an
entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation
is to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the
use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application, without the restatement of comparative information. The
Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

31 March 2019
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

An associate is an entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which
itis in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
Group. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and
liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

31 March 2019
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of
whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The Group measures its investment properties, debt investments and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

31 March 2019
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial assets,
investment properties, deferred tax assets and non-current assets/a
disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continuedy 2.4 T HE&

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

Notes to Financial Statements

31 March 2019
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b)  (continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group

or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as
held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

2% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

20-33"/3% or over the terms of the
relevant leases

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 10-20%
Furniture and equipment 20-33"/3%
Motor vehicles 20%
Computer system 20-33/3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and machinery under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting is
its fair value at the date of change in use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal
group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held
for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible assets may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five to
seven years, commencing from the date when the products are put
into commercial production.

31 March 2019

2.4

WA 25 1 2 I e

—E-NF=A=t+—H

E UG FBORBEEE (s

BEBNB BT EENTGERR
BB AETAHE - REBA G
S BT & B PR AN 75 WS B HR R
AFE - BREEZAEREHRD
RERERAFHNERERFHY -
EHREEARMNBLEELRE
BEAAFRABELHBIRE
TABEREZ B EEEITRER
- BEEEARMCEBTLEEN
BHTREREHESEZELFRERE
B EAE B ETR -

W5 K B B AR A
FIAEMERARELRBEERT
BR -

BETREFERNEER  RE
EARBERRTECKNENEENR
MBATEEATHERSHE A
EXREMNEBRMARAREE
BEMEN  BERSHIRKLE
ENEITA - ERIABR KA EA
BR - AR B IR A RE T SR it
SAEEMMAXHEES  MELNER
XA ERAEARTBEEARR - TF
EUEBRHBZERRERIREL
B3 8H ©

i FE B 3% PR AR AR AR AR R ADRUE 1R
RIRIL A B ORI ER B H
RERMEFN M EEAZELFH
[EE S $i

frotst SES P A IR
ZHEIEERR

163



Notes to Financial Statements
Yo 55 2 ) G

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

164

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as
finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments
and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable from 1 April 2018)" below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how
it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

2.4
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The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the WM& A TMBGEE  IAEES
following conditions are met: REHA ST B E B E

The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows.

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt
instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling.

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its
equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or [0ss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can
be measured reliably.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale investments and loans
and receivables, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case

2.4

E UG FBORBEEE (s

HEE @)
BRAFELEBRXRARZNEEE
(#%)
BATERSEERARZIVBEE
TIREAEMBRRNRIEAFET
R MAFESHFRINERE

7
s ©

%SRRI B AR R & B 3 4 T AT B E i
BEIEAEATELEMEEK
BARZKRERE - DREREAF
BERBEERARZBERERETT
RN RERIEERaNERSE
B WA o B B RS B A% ) 25 7 B
gRmASE  MkSHNSEAA

WEHE -

ARERRTE

MBEERVBHERKFE D /EA
FERKEZRARIHMBEEE A
HHEREURER KRR FRIE (N
M) o B E EETT A TR A
AFHERMRHER (EEZFBRK
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All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value presented in profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)"
below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After
initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in other income in profit or loss.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which
are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may
be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in
other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve to profit or loss in other gains or
losses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-
sale financial investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)" below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments are stated
at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may elect to
reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the
fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its
new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that has
been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

31 March 2019

2.4

WA 25 1 2 I e

—E-NF=A=t+—H

E UG FBORBEEE (s

HEE @)

AR ERBERE (B)

WP B EERATHEERNEHD
B RAEFSREANATERE
EREFEHEAA - Z AR
BHZEEN KRB ERAER
MEENRRIREFHANER DS
B BHEAANEI NS RHEM
ZRNRAERMNENEERGF
HAME HEEEREERER
B At ARaENeBEFRIRE
1B e

MBEE(K—RUBEEN D
KRB BEEEN D W
EA)TBEETIBERBE LER
(MEAKEBEZEEUBRRNEKRE
B)

WZEBEERBRERENE
MEEBE 3K

AEBEERNZREERGFR
EMEMNERN  RERIE—A
(8] 28 REERBR
ERENBERLT  RE=T%
BXNARBNRERENE
T Y@QASEEHEREZRA
BENBABOARKER :
ok (b) AN £% [ 3 45 48 3 =k R BB
ZIAE ER B AR R K E
W} EEEEZIARERES
1o

frotst SES P A IR
ZHEIEERR

171



Notes to Financial Statements
Yo 55 2 ) G

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

172

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

2.4

E UG FBORBEEE (s

AEENEEENZREERSR
ERENEMNHTLENZY &
FERENANRSKBRERBEZAE
EMARERE R K E R o frH I &
BEXNREZEEENBANLN A
B R ER - MEESRZAEENE
g AEBEEEREREE
NARBZBHESERBIR - HUHIE
AT ARBRKEREHEEE - B
EEEREEEENRBRAS EA
RN EF SEEITHE -

AEBEUNERTEANCEREEF
HFE2E ZREEREETIAZ
BHEEZREEERASEMES
EXfMzReREME Z&EET

=
g °

REBEW FIZAFELEDERA
ReMBEBIABRRABEES
BRE BHREEBERLENRE
BRIHNANRERERAKE
BHUBHWmEREREZMNE
BMEE  WARERMKEMU
BRR BHMREREREBRELE
B mRBEeREHNAKE L
R EMIEEIRAR -



Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In making
that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the
debt investments. In addition, the Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 —

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —

174

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss
increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the
end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the
period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in
profit or loss — is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity investments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through profit or loss.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale,
impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets
carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between
the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in profit or loss. Future
interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying
amount of the asset using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
The interest income is recorded as part of finance income. Impairment
losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss if the
subsequent increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised
in profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continved) 2.4

178

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case
of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 April 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 April 2018)"; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1
April 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company of the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in
equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity
instruments.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
bank balances and cash comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
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obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a MBI Z X EBEX - st EERER

provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and
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in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@)  Sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products
Revenue from the sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products is recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health
food products.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products provide customers with
rights of return. The rights of return give rise to variable
consideration:
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products (continued)

(a)

184

0)

(i)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the
amount of variable consideration that can be included in
the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the
expected future rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the
expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts
the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by
the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract.
The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the
expected future rebates is recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(@)  Sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products (continued)
(ii)  Loyalty points programme
The Group has a loyalty points programme, which allows
customers to accumulate points that can be redeemed for
free products. The loyalty points give rise to a separate
performance obligation as they provide a material right to
the customer. A portion of the transaction price is allocated
to the loyalty points awarded to customers based on
relative stand-alone selling price and recognised as a
contract liability until the points are redeemed. Revenue is
recognised upon redemption of products by the customer.
When estimating the stand-alone selling price of the loyalty
points, the Group considers the likelihood that the customer
will redeem the points. The Group updates its estimates of
the points that will be redeemed on a quarterly basis and
any adjustments to the contract liability balance are
charged against revenue.

(b)  Provision of management and promotion services
Revenue from the provision of management and promotion
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured reliably,
on the following bases:

(a

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold;

franchise fee income, on a straight-line basis over the franchise
period;

management and promotion fee income and commission
income when services are provided;

rental income, in the period in which the properties are let and
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or an
amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to
the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

A right-of-return asset represents the Group’s right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at
the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any
expected costs to recover the goods, including any potential decreases
in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the
measurement of the asset recorded for any revisions to its expected
level of returns, as well as any additional decreases in the value of the
returned goods.

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from the customer and is
measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to
return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

31 March 2019

2.4

WA 25 1 2 I e

—E-NF=A=t+—H

ST 5 BOR B (e

REEEERASE WD RS S
BEPRONEMWER - ZEER
REEGEAREE KK E SR
MERERKAGFE  BRERE
B EMEREEKE - AEEH
BHRERKFEMERTARER
EmEEMNEAEINLIEEHE R
BREEMNE -

RRAGBHRROE W (GER P
HWETREMRENEE  LRA
SERKAHFRETEFPNEHE
AR AKERZHREMRERE
BFRAERBF(RXSERNBEE
g) -

=R NS 3 Y A
HEMZAERSEAR  ARHA
BEITBRESS - AREZRE (R
REZR)BBARN BER 2K
AMEFHM - mESBBREHRRSE
ERESTACRE(AESER
ZRF]) e

BEETZUREEEZRIK
X 2RARETRZAFMES

RNFEBI BTG ERA — 8
AEBRAEE £ FFBIER
B R MIRE 30 °

ERERBAR KRB G 28
Bl RESRNFAXHERAERS
8 2 X 5B A I [ B AR 42 0

me EREREMRERFE B HF A
BEGE X HBRZRAFRAIR

5B M E R 2 IR E RN & &
KREBZERIAHENSZER
e REIRBRERMBRIEFTAZE
BENRO R EPEER 2 25X
B o

frotst SES P A IR
ZHEIEERR

187



Notes to Financial Statements
Yo 55 2 ) G

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

188

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense
is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute to a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’'s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continuedy 2.4 T EETGHBOERBEEE @)
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is ZEMBEHRRUAERARNIEEE
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group 7‘%73?55‘] AEBAZRERAITE
determines its own functional currency and items included in the HEBMheEEs mes %%ﬁ%ﬁ’]
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional E7I BWMERBEE DAZNEEES
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the o REBAEE TR H 2 INE

Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and

RSP PEAE BRSO AR
T B 52 25 B SR A B o LASIMS 3T (B 0

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the EXEEREBRE REWENEER
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting RBEARNERAERRE -BE
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary B 18 B %Z&Rﬁ?iﬁ’]%%ﬁi’]’“

items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

31 March 2019
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued) 3. BEEEHbE e
Impairment of goodwill BEREE
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an AEBELEFECHERRAM

annual basis. Moreover, given that the Chinese pharmaceutical and B o b ERFERRER S
health food products cash generating unit (the “Chinese REEFBELU(HRERSELE
pharmaceutical CGU") was loss making during the year, the directors of ) RFEREEGEEER - WEARF

the Company performed an impairment assessment on the goodwill of
the Chinese pharmaceutical CGU. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the Chinese pharmaceutical CGU to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the Chinese
pharmaceutical CGU and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details
are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Valuations of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial units in Hong Kong are
revalued at the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing
use basis by an independent professionally qualified valuer. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. In
making the estimation, information from current prices in an active
market for similar properties is considered and assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting
period are used.

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of
all non-financial non-current assets at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or the
Chinese pharmaceutical CGU and the Western pharmaceutical and
health food products cash-generating unit (the “Western
pharmaceutical CGU") (together, the “CGUs") and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

(1)

(if)

Investment in an associate

As at 31 March 2019, the Group held a 29.06% interest in a listed
associate, Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy One"), with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$324,062,000. As the market
value of Easy One's shares held by the Group is significantly lower
than the carrying amount of the Group'’s investment in Easy One,
there was an impairment indicator on the Group's investment in
Easy One.

Accordingly, the Group has performed an impairment assessment
on its investment in Easy One using a value in use calculation to
determine its recoverable amount. The value in use calculation
was based on the discounted cash flow method which was
complex and required management to use significant
judgements and make assumptions which were affected by
expected future market or economic conditions.

Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy as
disclosed in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Given that both
the Chinese pharmaceutical CGU and Western pharmaceutical
CGU were loss-making during the year, the directors of the
Company performed an impairment assessment of the property,
plant and equipment relating to these CGUs to determine their
recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment is calculated as the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and value in use, the calculations of
which involve the use of estimates.
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Valuation of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets,
their fair values are determined using a variety of valuation techniques
that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. The
estimates include considerations of certain unobservable inputs as
detailed in note 39 to the financial statements. Changes in assumptions
about these factors could affect the reported fair values of financial
instruments in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
level of the instruments classified in the fair value hierarchy. Significant
management judgements and estimates are required in determining
the valuation of financial instruments which are categorised within
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Impairment of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows when determining loss allowance for the expected
credit losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk.
These estimates are driven by a number of factors, such as risks of
default and loss given default, which can result in different levels of
allowances.

The Group's expected credit loss calculations on debt investments are
based on assumptions about risks of default and loss given default. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculations, based on credit risks of the
debtors or comparable companies in the market, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates (such as gross domestic
product and market volatility) at the end of each reporting period. It has
been the Group's policy to regularly review its models in the context of
actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income amounting to HK$852,023,000.
The related net reversal of impairment losses of financial assets
amounting to HK$80,353,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the
year, and the related cumulative loss allowance amounting to
HKS$101,781,000 was carried as at 31 March 2019. Further details of the
Group's debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, and the key assumptions and inputs used for expected credit
loss calculations are given in note 17 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@)  production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products — manufacturing, processing and sale of traditional
Chinese medicine which includes Chinese medicinal products
sold under the brand name of “Wai Yuen Tong” and a range of
products manufactured using selected medicinal materials with
traditional prescriptions, mainly in the PRC and Hong Kong;

(b) production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products — processing and sale of Western pharmaceutical
products and personal care products under the brand names of
“Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, respectively; and

(c) property investment — investment in commercial premises for
rental income.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure
of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's profit/(loss) before tax except
that other income and gains, net, finance costs, fair value gains/(losses)
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net, head office
and corporate income and expenses and share of profits and losses of
associates are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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31 March2019 =ZT—hF=A=+—H
4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Segment revenue and results
Year ended 31 March

oy AR @
CE e ET |
BE=A=t+—-ALEE

Production and Production and
sale of Chinese sale of Western
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
and health and health Property
food products food products investment Eliminations
EERBETER EERHERER
RERRER RERRER NERE b3 act
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZB-hF NE ZB-N% Z2-)\§ ZB-NF T \F ZB-1F 2T \F Z8-0F ZT)\F
HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
TRr TAr TEx ThEr TEx Tz TR Tz  TEz  ThEn
Segment revenue: AENE

Sales to external customers HETHREP 624,784 700217 115953 135888 10,746 9,676 - - 751,443 845781

Intersegment sales AEREE 87 12 - - 13,883 6729  (13970)  (6841) - -

Total it 624,831 700329 115,953 135,888 24,629 16405  (13,970) (6,841) 751,443 845,781
Segment results PEEE (64,924) (54,526)  (75,419) (52,853) 35,429 26,088 - - (104914) (81,291)
Otherincomeand gains, net At A R - F8 115,671 124002
Unallocated income/ FHEMA/ ()

(expenses), net R 52,510 (26239)
Finance costs BEMA (28,553)  (18,926)
Fair value gains/(losses) on RATESERRARL

financial assets at fair value BKEEZATE

through profit or loss, net Wiz /(B8) 28 593 (17.800)
Share of profits and AMEBERAER

losses of associates 46,387 (94,633)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREALaT /(B8 81,694  (114887)
Income tax expense FiEHAY (7,488)  (2281)
Profit/(loss) for the year ERRA/ (BB 74,246 (117,168)
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31 March 2019

4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BEBEF @
Other segment information HitmEER
Year ended 31 March BE=R=1+—HLEE
Production and Production and
sale of Chinese sale of Western
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
and health and health Property
food products food products investment Unallocated
LERHETER EERHERER
RERRER RERRER NERE ROE act
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
ZE-0F 2T\ ZB-0F 22\ Z8-NF ZF-\§ ZB-Nf %
HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Ti#x TRr ThAr TEx Thr TEx Tz TEx  TEx
Other segment information: ~ Ht 2 EEH :
Capital expenditure (note (i) BAREX (KL () 13,688 27,749 1,642 9792 350,000 - 70 10 365400 37551
Depreciation bk 32,925 34457 11,410 5425 5,474 5092 1,514 1839 51,323 46,813
Fair value gains/(losses) of RATEERRFARL
financial assets at fair value B EEZ N TE
through profit or loss, net W/ (BE) 38 - - - - - - 593 (17,800) 593 (17,800)
Fair value gains on investment & W% 2 A FEKE -
properties, net et - - - - 17,445 23356 - - 17,445 23356
Gainonearlyrepaymentofa  RPEBRATELM
debt investment at fair value 2ERSAE L
through other ERRE K&
comprehensive income - - - - - - 1,179 - 1,179 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of ~ EAKAERERE/
impairment losses) on (REEERRE) -
financial assets, net B 1,706 1,300 (980) 1027 - - (83,493) - (82,767) 2327
Impairment of goodwil HEHE 7,700 - - 7635 - - - - 7,700 7635
Impairment losses/(reversal of ¥ BB R BEE
impairment losses) of items HEBE/
of property, plant and (REFBRE)
equipment 1,205 3,735 - - (2,700) 7,800 - - (1,495) 11,535
Allowance for obsolete REFERE
inventories 6,170 1,298 3,284 3,542 - - - - 9,454 4840
Investments in associates REEARZRE - - - - - - 329,584 298148 329,584 298148
Share of profits and losses of AMEBERAER
associates, net T - - - - - - 46,387 (94633) 46,387 (94633)
Note: B3
(i) Capital expenditure includes additions to investment properties and property, plant and (i) BARZPENEZIREMERD
equipment. ¥ KB K& o
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BEBEF @
Geographical information b & & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REMEREFFEzZWH
2019 2018
—E-h&E =—Z—)\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET TATT
Hong Kong B 557,749 606,449
Mainland China F B A 156,925 208,153
Macau JEPS 32,005 13,431
Others Hh 4,764 17,748
751,443 845,781
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the LS BB TR F AT
customers. @& o
(b) Non-current assets (b) FRBEE
2019 2018
- )N\F
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FAIT
Hong Kong B8 1,746,008 1,540,689
Mainland China B P 3 98,504 113,083
Macau S PY 395 231
1,844,907 1,654,003
The non-current assets information above is based on the ERIERBEEERTIREE
locations of the assets and excluded financial instruments and FrifEw@E S - BETBEES
deferred tax assets. TARBEEFRIBEE °
Information about major customers ERTEREFZEHR
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, no revenue from BHE-_Z-NFR-ZFE-NF=A
transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more =t HIEFE WEKRGHEE—
of the total revenue of the Group. IRBEPR G 2 Wam RSB K=

BEBHY 10% 8K A _E o
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Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net 5. Woak P AN Bl Ak, 19
#
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REB 2 WA ITAT ¢

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZZT-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T

Revenue from contracts with customers XREZESQ 2z

Sale of goods HEEY 739,401 835,166
Management and promotion services BN T ERE 1,296 939

Revenue from other sources R B H M RR Z W=
Rental income from investment properties &Y E 2 HE WA 10,746 9,676
751,443 845,781

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
\ e ATCE 1 99



Notes to Financial Statements
YU 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —Z—hA&E=A=+—~H

5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 5. Woak P AN Bl Ak, 19
B w0
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) oFEbEER
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-ZE-NEF=ZA=+—H
LLFE
Segments DI
Production Production
and sale and sale
of Chinese of Western
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
and health and health
food products food products
£ER £ER
HEPER HERER
RERRER RERREM Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TERT THERT
Type of goods or services MRS E R
Sale of goods HERY 623,448 115,953 739,401
Management and promotion services ‘&3 & 5 @R 1,296 - 1,296
Total revenue from contracts REBFEH WA
with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
Geographical markets B HE
Hong Kong B 502,639 44,364 547,003
Mainland China Bl At 95,716 61,209 156,925
Macau k! 23,891 8,114 32,005
Others Hit 2,498 2,266 4,764
Total revenue from contracts REBFEHZW=RAEE
with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
Timing of revenue recognition KRR
Goods transferred ata pointintime A E—RREHEB EY) 623,448 115,953 739,401
Services transferred over time BE i B AR % 1,296 - 1,296
Total revenue from contracts REBEPEHN W= EEE
with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 5. Woak P AN Bl Ak, 19

)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEHNZWaES (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) ZDHFBEES@E

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts
with customers to the amounts disclosed in the segment
information:

For the year ended 31 March 2019

TXHEHIIKREEP &K 2 W
HEOBEEHMKREENSH
BE :

BE-_Z—hF=H=+—H

IHFEE
Segments S
Production Production
and sale and sale
of Chinese of Western
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
and health food and health food
products products
£ER £ER
HEPEEK HERER
RERRER RERREM #met
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TERT THET
Revenue from contracts REEFEHzNE
with customers
Fxternal customers IREP 624,744 115,953 740,697
Intersegment sales HEREE 87 - 87
Segment revenue DR 624,831 115,953 740,784
Intersegment adjustments DR AB R
and eliminations (87) - (87)
Total revenue from contracts REBEFPEN W= BE
with customers 624,744 115,953 740,697
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 5. Woak P AN Bl Ak, 19

)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEHZWE (8)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) ZDHFBEES@E
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in TRBRRAN 3 & B M T
the current reporting period that were included in the contract RZeH  HRWE YA
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised SHREE  URMBEHAET
from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods: B2 BB TR

2019
—2-NEF

HK$’000
T

Revenue recognised that was included in contract R EEVET AR LN BEZ
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: ~ Wz #ER :

Sale of goods HEEY 7,434
Management and promotion services BN T ERE -
7,434
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BITEE
The following information about the Group’s performance EHRAEBBETEENE R
obligations is summarised below: s
Sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food 5 & A 7 25 AR (E R dn E 0n
products
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the R ERRERME R
Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food products REXKBNEE  ANKET
and payment is generally due within 7 to 120 days from delivery, RRF#&721208 B 8 -
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally FE PR HRE AR
required. Some contracts provide customers with a right of return Ko BrEaHRBEFRERE
which gives rise to variable consideration subject to constraint. - MEEAMNAIZERERAT
B i) o
Management and promotion services B R E BIRT
The performance obligation is satisfied as services are rendered. BAOEEREEREREME
Management service contracts are for periods of one year or less, T - BEBRRBENRP—FX
or are billed based on the time incurred. AR - SRR EE ERETE o
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31 March 2019

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 5.

2019
—2-NEF

HK$’000
T

—EAF=A=+-F

Weds B FLAb B A B s, 1
A (w0

2018

—E—)N\F

HK$'000
FTAIT

Other income Hbgr A
Interest income on a loan receivable B —REE N B ERZ
from an associate FEHA 4,203 6,464
Interest income on financial assets BATEKERRARZ
at fair value through profit or loss W EE 2 F BUA 349 -
Interest income on financial assets BEATELEMEERBEARZ
at fair value through other comprehensive BEEE MM HERE
income/available-for-sale investments Z R EUA 90,179 99,143
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRFEWA 1,208 1,028
Dividends from financial assets at fair value R BiZ A FEKLHE M2 EKZS
through other comprehensive income and ~ ABRZ I # & &E MIZ A FE
financial assets at fair value through SRDRAR U BEE
profit or loss ) 8\ 3,145 3,353
Sub-lease rental income AR WA 13,075 12,964
Others Hh 2,333 1,050
114,492 124,002
Gains, net Wi BE
Gain on early repayment of a debt investment 12 P EBIZ A FELEAM
at fair value through other comprehensive F2EBRARZEBEE
income Z W as 1,179 -
1,179 -
Other income and gains, net HEMA Rz - JFEE 115,671 124,002
P77 S S I G B

e ATCE
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31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

6. Profit/(Loss) before Tax 6. BRBtuiafl ()
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ REEBBRBAER, (EE) R
(crediting): &,/ (Gt A) B8 EEB AR :

2019 2018
—E-nE —T-N\F

Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
M aE FET TATT

Cost of inventories recognised as an ERART 2 FEMRAK

expense (including allowance for (359,454,000 T2

obsolete inventories of HK$9,454,000 REFEEE (ZZT— N\F :

(2018: HK$4,840,000)) 4,840,000 7T) ) 449,915 501,987
Depreciation e 13 51,323 46,813
Research and development costs It 7% K B B A AR 7,902 15,705
Lease payments under operating leases + i R IEFRLTAE T

in respect of land and buildings: MERK :

Minimum lease payments =EHEER K 77,205 101,544

Contingent rents HAMEE 10,441 13,296
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN < 6,000 2,400
Employee benefit expense EERN X

(excluding directors’ remuneration (T"REEENE

(note 8)): (KtsEs)) :

Wages and salaries and I8 - #FekHEMmERN

other benefits 163,315 171,722

Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIE R 11,831 11,550

175,146 183,272

Foreign exchange differences, net MEH ZHE - FEE 3,723 2,610
Impairment losses/(reversal of B EREREE

impairment losses) on financial CREEERD ) -

assets, net: HER

Impairment losses of trade and bills B Z N IE R EKREE

receivables, net ZREBE  F5E 19 726 2,327

Reversal of impairment losses of BAVELE M2 R

debt investments at fair value AR 2 BB ERIE
through other comprehensive EERER - R
income, net 17 (80,353) =
Reversal of impairment losses of loan  FEU & Ft & Il 2 R {E B8
and interests receivables, net B[O - JFEEE 20 (3,140) -
(82,767) 2,327
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Profit/(Loss) before Tax (continued) 6.

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting): (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

31 March 2019

WA 25 1 2 I e

—EAF=A=+-F

PRBtaaEA (jE) @

AEBEBBAERN(EE) RN
B/ GEA) TRIEHEEAR : (&)

2019 2018
=EB-hF _—T)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBE TR
Gross rental income itk A PN L 5 (10,746) (9,676)
Less: direct outgoing expenses B B 491 58
(10,255) (9,618)
Gain on bargain purchase of additional B UEE — B E N &E 2
equity interests in an associate* HEHMISHE 2 W gs * 16(b) 38,026 -
Loss on deemed partial disposal of RIEH & — A &R R)E D
equity interests in an associate* IRHE 2 B 16(b) = 52,170
Loss on disposal of items of property, — HEWE - BE R&RE
plant and equipment el 3ti=| 4 -
Impairment of goodwil ** PR E 15 7,700 7,635
Impairment losses/(reversal of Y - B &R B RE
impairment losses) of items of &8, OREEE#EE) -
property, plant and equipment, net**  JH&E ** 13 (1,495) 11,535
* Gain on bargain purchase of additional equity interests in an associate for the year ended @ BE-_Z—hAhE=ZA=+—H8L#F
31 March 2019 and loss on deemed partial disposal of equity interests in an associate for EEBWE —RBBEQAR 28N
the year ended 31 March 2018 are included in “Share of profits and losses of associates” Bz amRkB8BE_T—N\F=A
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. =+ HBIEFERELE —HEZ
ARAIHAREZ BETAGEERE
REMPEREERAZ [HEEER
A o
o Impairment of goodwill and impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) of items of e BEERERDE  BE&REEB R
property, plant and equipment are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated BEECREBEER) T ALE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. BakEtEEkERAZ [EibH
X1
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
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31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

7. Finance Costs 7. HRERRA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEKRH ST :
2019 2018
—ZT-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZHE 28,553 18,926
8. Directors’ Remuneration 8. iM%
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules RIRE: R T BB R FTE S £
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing AN ETmRE]) - BB D FMER
Rules”) issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of £383(1)@) * (b) * (@ RN E &k & 7l
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (BEEEMNZER) BHIE —BH
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as BEANNESHMeMT :
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEFE —FTN\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Fees e 756 660
Other emoluments for executive directors: HITESZEMME :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBLREYWAZE 15,200 14,360
Performance-related bonuses* IR RIDITE A 2 AR TEAL * 2,308 573
Pension scheme contributions BREFHEIHR 20 72
17,598 15,005
18,354 15,665
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are * AARETHITESARSTHIEL
determined with reference to the Group's operating results, individual performance of TITEAL Ty 2 4 AN S (B AR AL 2 45
the directors and comparable market statistics during the year. EEERERRAMLEY TESR
FETEEE -
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31 March2019 —Z—hA&E=A=+—~

8. Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 8. HEIHHME
The remuneration paid to executive directors and independent non- FA- BNRITES RBIIENT
executive directors during the year was as follows: EREzMEHOT

Salaries,
allowances Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
& E2HEK HBRHA Bik&
e ENFE #HBzia FEIHR Az
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THEL THT FET T TET
2019 “E-1E
Executive directors; HTEE:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho kL - 12,000 2,308 18 14,326
Mr.Chan Chun Hong, Thomas ~ FRiRERSE A& - 661 - 18 679
Ms. Tang Mui Fun Biga L - 1,699 - 36 1,735
Ms. Tang Wai Man* HEa T - 840 - 18 858
- 15,200 2,308 90 17,598
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho REELE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon EC Suls 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou ExBERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FRERE 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 756
Total Bat 756 15,200 2,308 90 18,354
2018 —E-N\F
Executive directors; HTEE:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho BEmtk - 12,000 500 18 12,518
Mr.Chan Chun Hong, Thomas BRI 4 = 661 28 18 707
Ms. Tang Mui Fun Hishzt = 1,699 45 36 1,780
- 14,360 573 72 15,005
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho RiEELE 160 = = = 160
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon EXFELE 160 - - - 160
Mr. Cho Wing Mou RS 160 = - - 160
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FRELE 180 - - = 180
660 - - - 660
Total Bt 660 14,360 573 72 15,665
@ Ms. Tang Wai Man has been appointed as an executive director of the Company with & HEGLLT—_T-—NFHOA—BE
effect from 1 April 2018. ZEARRFMITES -
P77 S S I G B
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31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

Directors’ Remuneration (continued)

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
executive directors during the year (2018: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2018:
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2018: three) non-director, highest paid employees are as follows:

o S < )

FAR UEEMENBIIFNTE
2 (ZT—N\F : &) -

BE_ZT—NWFER-_ZT—N\F=A
=+—HIEFE BEESHESX
REREEMM ST -

hAmEH AL

FR - BREHFALTRERS (=
TN\F:HB)EE  AMSHE
REXHEsHE - HT=%(-F
—N\F ZR)FEEREFALH

FAMSFRBOT
2019 2018
—B-hEF ZZT-N\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
THET TFABTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EELNEYANE 2,970 4,485
Discretionary performance related bonuses 122 IR BY15 3 i 2 HHEATEAL 134 532
Pension scheme contributions RIREFT B 50 53
3,154 5,070

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FEFBBHEALZ ABEBEN
T THE :

Number of employees

EE A
2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = Z 1,000,000 %8 T 1 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 B JTE 1,500,000 78 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 78 7T & 2,000,000 78 7T - 2
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10. Income Tax 10. PWifast
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2018: BBENERRFRNIRBEBEEZH
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during TR TG Rl B K 165%( =&
the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at —J\E :16.5%) fE I B & - H e
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the R A A TE B 1R AN £R ] P AS
Group operates. MWER, RAEERMRITHRETE o
2019 2018
—E-NE —Z—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Current — Hong Kong RE — BE
Charge for the year REFZH 920 1,844
Under-provision/(over-provision) BAFERR,/(HBE)
in prior years 2B 2,848 (1,207)
Current — other jurisdiction NH — H A R AR
Charge for the year REEZH - 569
Deferred taxation (note 28) EFERT IR (i 3E28) 3,680 1,075
Total tax charge for the year REEHRIBLAT 7,448 2,281
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before tax RIR A A 7 R E K &1 i 8 A 7P
at the statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in which the fFErEEEREAE BARESE
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax BRELAEF (BB ERBOTIER
expense at the effective tax rates is as follows: XEBRIBEERYEFENHIERX
SRR
2019 2018
—E-NEFE —ZZ-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax BR&LATE A, (&) 81,694 (114,887)
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates of BRARBR,RIEERZEE,
different countries/jurisdictions HAMEKRAE ZHIE 11,104 (20,222)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT EARE 2 BN BRI IR E
previous periods Z PR 2,848 (1,207)
Profits and losses attributable to associates Bt &N B AR 2 0m F K B 18 (7,654) 7,007
Income not subject to tax BARTA (35,704) (24,951)
Expenses not deductible for tax AATH0F A 2 16,606 24,113
Tax losses utilised from previous periods ERBTHE o HIBEE (5,224) (354)
Tax losses not recognised AIERTIEEE 25,445 17,855
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences & F i@ 1 R FER 2 Al H15¢
previously not recognised TR AR - (257)
Deductible temporary differences AERZ AT ERF =58
not recognised 247 537
Effect of tax concession HsEBEzTE (220) (240)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate NARSEBERREAE 2 HIESZ 7,448 2,281
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10.

11.

12.

210

—EAF=A=+-F

Income Tax (continued)

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to HK$ 1,339,000
(2018: HKS2,773,000) is included in “Share of profits and losses of
associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Dividends

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

Earnings/(Loss) per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is based
on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year of 1,248,141,518 (2018: 1,265,142,888).

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 in
respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options outstanding had
no dilutive effect on the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts
presented.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019

10.
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A AE B & A 82 BT 1,339,000 % 7T
(ZZ— \4F : 2,773,000 7T) B
AAGSEEREMEZARSERA
2 [P EB e ARER] -

HX I

ExZeTERMNBE_T—NE=
A=t —BLEFERMNEMRE (=
T-N\F:E)-

B2 v 3% i REAS F5 A N HEQG
ezl (FHR)
BREXRAF,(HE) L EIRE
BRAEREREEARGLF AR
AR REREEITEER
B AN 4 S 15 B B B 1,248,141,518 %
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. PIZE, Wbs Beist i
Leasehold Furniture
landand  Leasehold Plantand and Motor ~ Computer Construction
buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles system in progress
&
THREF HE#E BERESZ HARRE RE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THL T THT THL THT
Cost: B
At 1 April 2017 RZE—t4NA—H 723,681 67,635 47799 28973 2148 14295 40486 925,017
Additions RE 137 8252 5643 4539 - 948 18032 37,551
Wiitten off HisH - (20,119) (99) (11,308) () (1,862) - (33,399)
Transfer gz - 9,008 18208 2140 - 1,635 (30991) -
Exchange realignment R 5894 764 - 66 4 5 - 6773
At 31 March 2018 and RZE-N\%
1 April 2018 =A=+-Bk
—Z-/\#mA-AH 729712 65,540 71,551 24410 2185 15,021 27527 935,946
Additions RE 5460 4562 2175 2136 - 345 72 15400
Acquisitions of subsidiaries ~ WEFFEHUHE 2
thatare not a B AR (HzE32)
business (note 32) 259,000 - - - - - - 259,000
Assets classified as held PEERELEL
for sale BE (69,000) - - - - - - (69,000)
Written off e - (930) = - = = = (930)
Disposal L& - (30) (5) %) - - - (131)
Transfer i - 3810 23484 397 - - (27,691) -
Exchange realignment B3 AR (8420) (1,446) - (128) (62) (86) (33) (10,75)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-h%
=A=1-H 916,752 71,506 97,205 26,719 2123 15,280 525 1,130,110
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31 March 2019 —ZE—h&=HA=+—8
13. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 13. VISE. Ws Bk s
Leasehold Furniture
landand  Leasehold Plantand and Motor ~ Computer Construction
buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles system in progress Total
HE
tHEET  HERE HEREE GARRE RE  BEZE  EBIR by
HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T TBx THx THT BT THx TBx
Accumulated REFTERAE
depreciation and
impairment:
At 1 April 2017 RZE—tFNA—H 27,691 36,083 6,719 20815 434 9,788 - 101,530
Provided for the year FREAR 24751 10,664 5219 3605 375 2199 - 4813
Witten off s - (20,19) (99) (11,308) (7) (1,862) - (33,39)
Impairment A 7800 3735 - - - - = 11,535
Exchange realignment A% = - - 52 30 5 - 87
At 31 March 2018 and RZE-N\E=A
1 April 2018 =t-HkK
“Z-\FmA-H 60242 30363 11,839 13,164 832 10,130 - 126570
Provided for the year FERE 25,008 11,170 9442 3832 345 1,526 - 51323
Assets classified as held PEABELEL
for sale BE (1,284) - - - - - - (1,284)
Written off HisH - (930) - - - - = (930)
Disposal HE - (30) ) (%) = = = (127)
Impairment/(reversal of W/ CRERE)
impairment) (2,700) 92 - 284 - - - (1,495)
Exchange realignment EHAE (674) (432) - (89) (52) ®3) - (1,270)
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE
ZA=t-H 80,592 41,062 21,280 17,095 1125 11,633 - 172,787
Carrying amount: BREE
At 31 March 2019 RIZ-NE
=ZA=1-H 836,160 30444 75,925 9,624 998 3647 525 957323
At 31 March 2018 RZB-N\E
=A=+-H 669,470 35177 59712 11,246 1353 4891 27521 809,376
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13.

Notes to Financial Statements

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

At 31 March 2019, certain of the Group's land and buildings with a net
carrying amount of HK$398,893,000 (2018: HK$142,666,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
27).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had property, plant and equipment,
before current year impairment, of HK$1,019,679,000 (2018:
HKS$804,068,000) relating to the cash-generating units of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food products, and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products. As mentioned in note 3 to the financial
statements, given that the two CGUs were loss-making during the year,
an impairment assessment has been performed. For the purpose of
impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, each
individual retail store is identified as a separate CGU. As a result of the
impairment assessment, a reversal of impairment loss of HK$2,700,000
(2018: an impairment loss of HK$7,800,000) was recognised in respect
of the leasehold land and buildings due to the increase in the
recoverable amount of certain leasehold land and buildings. In addition,
an impairment loss of HK$1,205,000 (2018: HK$3,735,000) was
recognised in respect of the leasehold improvements of certain retail
stores which continued to underperform during the year.

As at 31 March 2019, the aggregate recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment of a retail store of the Group for which
impairment loss has been reversed during the year ended 31 March
2019 amounted to HK$18,800,000. As at 31 March 2018, the aggregate
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment of a retail store of
the Group for which impairment loss has been recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2018 amounted to HK$17,000,000. The
recoverable amount was determined based on the fair value less costs
of disposal based on a market approach which took into account
current prices of properties of similar locations and conditions and
other unobservable inputs, and accordingly the fair value measurement
was categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

31 March 2019

13.

WA 25 1 2 I e

—E-AF=A=+-A

WO, R BBl o

R—ZFE—hAh&F=A=+—8 &%
B BR ™ /¥ {5 398,893,000/ T ( = &
— A\ : 142,666,000/ 70) 2& T £
HMEEF EARGETAEEZ
—RRITEEEDER (MH5E27) -

R-ZZFE—h&F=A=+—8 &%
ERERPERAERBERAR
MERRERRERZRESELS
EBZME  BER&E (F0BRA
FE R EAT)1,019,679,0005 7T (=
T — J\ £ : 804,068,000/ 7T ) ° 40 §f
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SRR EREIE 1,205,000 7T (=
T — J\£F : 3,735,00087C) °

R=ZZE—NAF=A=+—8 &%
EREzE—_ZT—h&=A=+—H
IEEEREREBEEN —RHAZEE
Y% - E RERE 2 e AR
7%18,800,000/87TT c RZE—/\F=
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14. P&

14. Investment Properties

2019 2018
—B-E ZT)N\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year FHERMEE 503,000 479,000
Accrued rent-free rental income EsrRAEES WA (357) 644
Acquisitions of subsidiaries that are not St i FE 3£ 75 BT /B 8 R

a business (note 32) (BisE32) 91,000 =
Net gains from fair value adjustments NFERE 2 Wam F58 17,445 23,356
611,088 503,000

Less: included in assets classified as held B EFADEEARIEHEZ
for sale (note 24) B (FI5E24) (53,088) -
Carrying amount at end of year FREE@E 558,000 503,000

All the Group’s investment properties are commercial properties in
Hong Kong. The investment properties were revalued by Asset
Appraisal Limited, an independent professionally qualified valuer, at 31
March 2019. The finance department of the Group has a team that
reviews the valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial
reporting purposes and reports directly to senior management of the
Company. Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between management and the valuer twice a year when the valuation
is performed for interim and annual financial reporting. At the end of
each reporting period, the finance department holds discussion with
the independent valuer to verify major inputs to the independent
valuation report. The finance department also assesses property
valuation movements when comparing to the prior year valuation
report.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 35(a) to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2019, the Group's investment properties with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$611,088,000 (2018: HK$503,000,000) and certain
rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure the general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included
on page 275.
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31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

14. Investment Properties (continued) 14. BBV w0
Fair value hierarchy DNEREER
The recurring fair value measurement for all the commercial properties AEEFMEEBYENKETERT
of the Group uses significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). Bt 2HHAETATTERH AH
B(E=) -
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FRN BE—REF_R2B2AF
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 Bt EMEER  TEEASEY
(2018: Nil). F=R(ZF-N\F:E)-
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of BEAE="RATEZRNATE
the fair value hierarchy: T2 2R
Total
#at
HK$'000
FHEIT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2017 N-_E—+FNE—HZERE 479,000
Accrued rent-free rental income EEtRERESUA 644
Net gains from fair value adjustments recognised ERERERN A LERAR 2 W= FE
in profit or loss 23,356
Carrying amount at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R -ZT—N\F=A=+—HX
—E-)\FmA-AZEEE 503,000
Accrued rent-free rental income ERtREES KA (357)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries that are not a business o s FE S TS B A B (M RE32)
(note 32) 91,000
Net gains from fair value adjustments recognised ERERERNATERAR 2 W F5E
in profit or loss 17,445
611,088
Less: included in assets classified as held for sale B ST A EARBEREZ
(note 24) BE (M5E24) (53,088)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019 RZZE—NF=ZA=+T—BZEEE 558,000
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14. Investment Properties (continued) 14.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

BB @)

DNFREER (H)
NTRREMELERRBZGE
TERTEBABIBE 2 HE

Significant
unobservable
Valuation technique input
fRE R i EXRRAEREAYE
Commercial Direct comparison method  Price per square foot (HKS)
properties BEELEA FERRE®ECGET)
[EhikZES

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the valuation of investment properties
were based on the direct comparison method by reference to
comparable market transactions and adjusted for differences in location
and physical attributes.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment
properties.
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15. Goodwill

Notes to Financial Statements
Y 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

15. W&

HK$'000
TABIT

At 1 April 2017:

R-ZF—tFMA—HB:

Cost B AR 298,964
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (283,629)
Net carrying amount AREFE 15,335
Cost at 1 April 2017, net of accumulated impairment ~ —ZF—+4p0 A — B KA -
ik R5HRE 15,335
Impairment during the year FRRE (7,635)
At 31 March 2018 R-FE-N\F=A=+—H 7,700
At 31 March 2018: RZE-N\F=ZA=+—8:
Cost [FN 298,964
Accumulated impairment Z2:tRE (291,264)
Net carrying amount BREVEE 7,700
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of accumulated impairment  —Z— \EPY A — B &I AN -
kR REHRE 7,700
Impairment during the year FRNRIE (7,700)
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NF=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2019: RZE-NF=ZA=+—8:
Cost BN 298,964
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE (298,964)
Net carrying amount ARTEFE -
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
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15. GOOdWI” (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated
to the Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU (2018: the Chinese Pharmaceutical
CGU and Western Pharmaceutical CGU) for impairment testing. The
recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based on value in
use calculations using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by management. The pre-tax
discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are as follows:

15.

RA2E (1)

BB RE R

HEBEHMEZHEEOE T
BRSELBEM(ZT—/\F : P
REeELBMNMNAERCELBA)
MERERM - REeELEMZA
WEEgEDIRERBEFEERE
B RIBEBEBHEZ EFHUK
BEELZASREBVUEE - R
EREBAERNRAIIRELT

Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU AR ZEIR G E AR B
Western Pharmaceutical CGU PHEEIR G EA B

The cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a
steady growth rate of 3% (2018: 3%).

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to Chinese Pharmaceutical
CGU is as follows:

11.0% 11.8%
N/A T3E A 11.8%

BBAFHNRSIRETIE3% (=
T—)\5 : 3%) e R KA

PREFERSELENULIEHEZ
FEEAT

2019 2018
—E-nE —T-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU AR ZEIR G E AR B AL

FRLE AR

- 7,700

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the CGUs for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. The following describes each
key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are based on
historical operating results, expected market development as well as
industry forecasts.

Expected changes in selling prices and direct costs — The expected
amounts are based on historical operating records and expectation of
future changes in the market.
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15.

16.

Notes to Financial Statements

GOOdWI” (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Discount rates — The discount rates are based on estimates of the
required rate of returns that reflect the current market assessment of
the time value of money, general market risks and the risks specific to
the CGUs.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a full impairment of
HK$7,700,000 was made for the goodwill in the Chinese Pharmaceutical
CGU as a result of the deteriorating economic environment and
weakening consumption.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, a full impairment of
HK$7,635,000 was made for the goodwill in the Western Pharmaceutical
CGU as a result of the increase in competition of products similar to the
Group in the market, the postponement in the rollout of new products
and significant capital investment in the Western Pharmaceutical CGU.

Investments in Associates

31 March 2019

15.

16.

Notes

MYt

WA 25 1 2 I e

—F-NF=A=+—F

RA2E (1)

7T 1R ()

BhIRR — BRI R HIRRAEE R E
BREBRE —MMmERREES
EXENBERR MBI GHME
B REFTH o
RBE=_T—hF=A=+—H1
FE - Haﬁé%ﬁélﬁiafi%{t&/aféﬁ
55 AEBRPERSELENUL
&2 5 2 HURE 7,700,000 7T °

RBE-_ZT—N\F=A=+—H1t
FE - ARTS EEANEBEREU
ERBBEFEMN - EROHELT
ERNABESELBEMIEHEX
BAKRE  AEERAERESEL
BB A7 2 B 1E 2 BUR E 7,635,000
BIT ©

R W5 2

NTIPE &<
2019
—EB-NF

2018

—\F
HK$'000
TAIT

HK$’000
TET

Cost of investments in associates: REEE QR 2B
Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost REB LT 2D R (b) 600,031 585,241
Unlisted shares, at cost LTI - R 7,081 4,331
Less: impairment losses recognised B EERBESE (214,815) (214,815)
392,297 374,757
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAG UL RS 18 B 1R &
other comprehensive income, net HE2mEWE
of dividends received % 2 WELS & (64,733) (78,111)
Share of other reserve FE(E E b 2,020 1,502
329,584 298,148
The Group’s trade receivable balances with the associates are disclosed REBEBENR 2B S EKKIEA

in note 19 to the financial statements.

RERRT IS 7H‘% R 19HEE -

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
e ATCE

219



Notes to Financial Statements
YU 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —ZE—hAE=A=+—H

16. Investments in Associates (continued) 16. RS ] 2 BEE )
Particulars of a material associate are as follows: —EEEBEQR ZFBOT :

Percentage of

Place of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable
shares held and business to the Group Principal activity
e BTRG a1y AV AEBEE FEXER
#F15 BRREEME FrERERERLH
Easy One* Ordinary shares Cayman Islands/ 29.06 (Note (b)) Investment holding
HKS$0.01 each Hong Kong
255" BRAEEET HEHS B 29.06 (M43 (b)) KEER
2 EB
= Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the subsidiaries * RERZFERET - Z2EZHMER
of Easy One are the provision of financial service in Hong Kong and property RIZEEXBRNEERHES AR
development in the PRC. The financial statements of this associate are not audited by BRAFHENYEER - ZHE QA
Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network. Z R RI AL BB LKA
B FT R K & 5T AD 3 % AT 2 Bk 4B
R E ALK B A REZ o
Notes: B 5
(@) Included in the cost of investments in associates is goodwill arising from the acquisition (@) REEERRIZRERTBEWES
of Easy One. The movement in the cost of investment attributable to goodwill is set out STELEZEE RERAEIEEE
below. ZEEEFIMT -
2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHIT
At beginning of year RE 23,231 27,828
Deemed partial disposal of equity interests in Easy One &R {EZ 7 HE 5 H= 2 A HER - 4,597)
At end of year RER 23,231 23,231
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16. Investments in Associates (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Year ended 31 March 2018

Notes to Financial Statements
YO 25 2 I G

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

16. RWRE A2 BEE @)
Mg (&)

=7

(b) HE-_Z-N\F=A=+—HIF

On 23 November 2017, Easy One and Kingston Securities Limited (“Kingston”), the placing
agent, entered into a placing agreement, pursuant to which Easy One conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, and Kingston conditionally agreed to place on a best effort
basis, a maximum of 92,000,000 shares of Easy One to not less than six placees at the
price of HK$0.235 per placing share (the “2017 Easy One Placing”). The 2017 Easy One
Placing was completed on 28 December 2017.

Upon completion of the 2017 Easy One Placing, the Group's equity interests in Easy One
were diluted from 28.51% to 23.80% and an aggregate loss on deemed partial disposal of
equity interests in Easy One of approximately HK$52,170,000 was recognised by the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 and included in “Share of profits and losses of
associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

Year ended 31 March 2019

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group acquired a total of 29,300,000 shares of
Easy One from the open market at an aggregate consideration of HK$14,790,000, and the
Group's equity interests in Easy One increased from 23.80% to 29.06%. As a result, an
aggregate gain on bargain purchase of equity interests in Easy One of HK$38,026,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2019 and included in “Share of profits and losses
of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

E

R=ZF—+tF+—A=+=0" 55
STHEERESMNEFSFERAA
(T&£ME DT RS Bt
55 B IFHERERRET - e
EERGEREBRENEENGRE
ER7D 0235 BT Z BRENDRA
iz 7 g A B2 & 5 % 92,000,000 18 5 5
ERN(ZZE—tF55=RE]) -
T tFSHTRER_T—+L
E+—B=-+NBZEK -

BT tFHHSREERNKE ' K
SERZHEZREN2851%8F
£2380% AKBREBE=T—/\F
A=+ BHLEERREELE
S5 BRBEEZERBELEY
52,170,000 ¢ * Wit AdRE i85 &
HitvzAEkmRZ [DEHEARE
= e

RBE_Z—NF=A=+—H1t
FE AEBRAFAMHEUALNRE
14,790,000 7 7T Y i & $£ 29,300,000 A%
S5ERG  AEERS 5T 2 Bk
£ 23.80% 2 1 = 29.06% A It - &
E-_T-hE=A=+—BHLEE
ZERRAZERES HERENE
Wz %% 38,026,000 74 TL A 5T A SR & 1B 2
REMEEKZER [ DS A RIS
e

frotst SES P A IR
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16. Investments in Associates (continued) 16. RIFFEB A ZHE @)
Notes: (continued) s - (88)
© The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Easy © TEEEZ T (REEEEHRER
One, a material associate of the Group, reconciled to the carrying amount in the Al —) 2B AR AREERS B
consolidated financial statements: MR AREE 2 H R -
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Current assets MENVEE 1,189,073 1,376,039
Non-current assets FEREBEE 396,748 558,284
Current liabilities nEaR (473,671) (729,108)
Non-current liabilities B AE (76,944) (77,581)
Net assets AEEE 1,035,206 1,127,634
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the associate: AREBRIE L N R Z SR :
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A B HEA ) L Al 29.06% 23.80%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, REBD(EHE AR Z BEFE -
excluding goodwill TREmE 300,831 268,377
Goodwill on acquisition (less cumulative impairment) Wi 28 OB 25HRE) 23,231 23,231
Carrying amount of the investment at 31 March R=A=+—AMREREE 324,062 291,608

2019 2018

—Z-hF —T-)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FAT

Revenue & 130,761 205,129
Profit/(loss) for the year REEZ T (EE) 53,097 (160,391)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year NEFHMEEUES/ (EB) (119,267) 98,894
Total comprehensive loss for the year ANEEZHEEIBAE (66,170) (61,497)
Dividend received BUhE 8 - -
Market value of the Group's investment at 31 March REZA=+—RAKEKREZATE 80,859 56,278

(d) The following table illustrates the aggregate summarised financial information of the (d) TEREMEAEFHLEATINIEEE
Group's associates that are not individually material: EAHIE @R RS
2019 2018
—ZE-NF —T-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Share of the associates’ profits/(losses) for the year FE(REG S DR AEERF,(FE) (2,582) 1,470
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive loss BB A 2 mEEE (136) -
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive FEMEEE A AR 2 ERES(B1R) a8
income/(loss) (2,718) 1,470
Dividend received BUAR 2 1,054 =
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REERBE AR ZKE
investments in associates ZHERREE 5,522 6,540
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N A SR BN EATITENIN
Wk 25 & Ik H 46 £

17. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income/Available-for-sale

Investments <
2019 2018
—E-hE ZT)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERx FHET
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BRATZEEHE M2 EKE AR
other comprehensive income ZHKREE

Listed equity investments, at fair value FHRERE - IRATE (), (i) 87,388 -
Listed debt investments, at fair value FHEBRE  ZATE (iii), (iv) 165,146 -
Unlisted debt investment, at fair value JELEHERIE  IRATE (iii), (iv) 686,877 -

Available-for-sale investments AEHERE (i
Listed debt investment, at fair value FHEBRE BATE - 2,029
Unlisted debt investment, at fair value FETEBERE HATE - 909,562
939,411 911,591

Portion classified as current assets PHEARSEESD (710,788) -

Non-current portion FREE D 228,623 911,591

Notes: B3 -

(i) The above equity investments are investments in companies listed on the Stock (i) FREERE R EBE AP T A Al A9 IR
Exchange and were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive B BRAEERRZSREBNE
income as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature. fﬂ" ﬁg PRI ARRNEIE Gich: i = -/

BEAEMEEREAR -
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group received dividends in the amount of REBE-_ZT-—NF=A=+—HIE
HK$3,145,000 from the equity investments designated at fair value through other FE - AEEBEERATELERM
comprehensive income and recognised them in profit or oss. 2EBEARZRERE KR
3,145,000 7T iR B, - I 18 25
"73 o

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2018, the gross loss in respect of the Group's available- (i) REBE_ZT-—N\F=ZA=+—HIE
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to FE - ARENEMEEREERZ
HK$6,263,000. A E R B 2 485518 56,263,000

BT ©

(i) At 31 March 2019, certain of the Group’s equity investments and debt investments at fair @iy RZZE-—NAF=ZA=+—H x5E
value through other comprehensive income of HK$65,430,000 and HK$146,181,000, ETEATELEMES WS AR
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group ZBMERERBEBRE H 5
(2018: Nil) (note 34). 65,430,000 7 7T & 146,181,000 7T E.

ERAEE —RRITRAEHIER (=
T—)\GF : &) (FizE34) o
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
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17. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other 17. 25 V(A RSl 4 i B0 A A
Comprehensive Income/Available-for-sale MRz WA B & ml e G 4
Investments (continued) & ()

Notes: (continued) s - (88)
(iv)  Impairment assessment of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive vy RAFELEHMEENRRARZE
income BARE 2 BERT
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019 HE T NF=A=1+—HIF
[EIRIR B BRI T 4R &5 2E B 995 2 fl
1=}
As at 31 March 2019, none of the debt investments were overdue (2018: Nil) and all the R=ZFT—AF=A=+—0 BER
debt investments were categorised within Stage 1, except for an unlisted debt BIEBH(ZE—N\F: &)
investment which was categorised within Stage 2, for the measurement of expected HHEEBENGTEMS - MERER
credit losses. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering BREGHIRRE PR - I LETE
the expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of default BREDERE_MER - REHREH
approach with reference to risk of default and losses given default of the issuers or HAERAEREREEBBETRE
comparable companies. As at 31 March 2019, the probability of default applied ranged A MEMEEBENERERE
from 0.02% to 25.0% (1 April 2018: 0.02% to 38.0%) and the loss given default was KEBRE R 2 E B R BT
estimated to be approximately 50.9% to 59.3% (1 April 2018: 52.6% to 59.3%). AR LA R A R R BB ETH

H-N-_T—NF=A=+—8" &
HIBE R AT 0.02% Z= 25.0% (Z T — )\
FEP0A—H :002%Z380%) * st
BHBEBYHA09%E93%( ==
—\EMA—H :526%%59.3%) °

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of debt investments at fair BRATFELHMEEMBREARZ &
value through other comprehensive income are as follows: BIREZREBBREZSMNT
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
At beginning of year REH] - -
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 RABEBUBREEEIRNTE 182,134 =
At beginning of year (restated) REN (EEF) 182,134 =
Reversal of impairment losses, net (note 6) BEREEE - F5E (HEe)
Reversal upon redemption B B 1% 2 [B] (43,554) =
Changes in risk parameters [\ Bz 2 B B (37,548) =
New investments purchased BEIKE 749 =
(80,353) -
At end of year RER 101,781 -
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18. f+15

2019 2018

ZB-hEFE —T-N\F

HK$’000 HKS'000

THET FABTT

Raw materials and consumables BEEEEE S 49,770 27,755
Work in progress 2R 2,861 2,898
Finished goods RURK 108,877 152,522
161,508 183,175

Trade and Bills Receivables

19. B2 5 ME WS 0A B FE MR

2019 2018

—E-)N\F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET FET

Trade receivables 2 5 e EIE 97,323 112,456
Bills receivable B - 640
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEHRE (5,113) (1,663)
92,210 111433

The Group's trading terms with its retail customers are mainly cash on
delivery whereas the trading terms with wholesale customers are
mainly on credit. The credit period ranges from 7 to 120 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit and the credit limit is reviewed
regularly. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are amounts due from the
Group's associates of HK$13,871,000 (2018: HKS$7,480,000) which are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

AEEEETERFPNE HHERE
EREIMNNR METHEZTFPH
BRGREBREE - EEHH7A
E10A1% - REPHARSER
REAGTEFPMNERARESTH
BB o AN 5 B B R 4B B B R
BHHRBBREERLNEEERRERE
RE - -BRFBEEHFREEAR
RIS o ENIA LA R AL E
MEZRURRBESRBEZTRE
P #YEERETOEERR

AEBEWEE S BB KRIBERE
EEMERRIEMEERE &
SEWKBERE - NEBEESE
U 3R T8 B0 4 B U A A [ B N B R
113,871,000 (=& — N\ F:
7,480,000/ 7C) « HIEMAEEEE
ERREMNEUEERREES -
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B T RO I I WG 5

19. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 19.

226

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

(0

B 5 HIER R AR
ARG BERE % 2 RS I
mF :

2019 2018
—B-hE —Z—)N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET TABTT

Within 1 month KERERPNN 46,305 43,120
1 to 3 months 12 3@ A 29,108 40,212
3 to 6 months 3ZE6{EA 13,173 21,307
Over 6 months 2@ e {E A 3,624 6,154
92,210 110,793

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

BHRWFBZREREESHNT

2019 2018

—E-NEFE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of year REA) 1,663 2,611

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 FRNE B s 2R o5%

VB 3,581 —

At beginning of year (restated) REY] (KEF) 5,244 2611
Impairment losses, net (note 6) REEE - R (fiske) 726 2,327
Exchange realignment ME H, I8 B (199) —
Amount written off as uncollectible B iR < ER I B IR (658) (3275)
At end of year RER 5,113 1,663

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for
more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

19. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019

(continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2019

Within

1 month

DR

& A

Expected credit loss rate ~ FTEEAE B BB X 0.5% 1%

Gross carrying amount BEREE

(HK$'000) (F#7T) 69,641 4,483
Expected credit losses HHEEER

(HK$'000) (T 319 38

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March 2018

Included in the Group's trade receivable balances are debtors with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$22,518,000 which were past due at
the end of the reporting period for which the Group had not provided
for an impairment loss as the directors assessed that the balances
would be recovered based on their settlement records. The Group did
not hold any collateral over these balances.

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables,
which was measured based on incurred credit losses under HKAS 39, as
at 31 March 2018, was a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HKS$1,178,000 that were considered irrecoverable by
management after consideration of the credit quality of those
individual customers based on their settlement records. The Group did
not hold any collateral over these balances.

WA 25 1 2 I e

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

19. B 5 M Wk D e I Wi 52 8
(8D

BE-_Z—hE=HA=+—HLE
ERBEEEMEREERNFIRZ
WA (&)
TXHEIAEENBEEERES
HE ZEBGFIENEERKRER

R=ZF-—NAFE=A=+—H

Past due
g

1to3 3to6 Over

months months 6 months

1Z3 326 BiEe

&R &R &R
1% 1% 77% 5%
11,442 5,812 5,945 97,323
82 72 4,602 5113

BE—Z-N\F=ZHA=+-—-BLH
ERBEEESTEAE 39 ZRE
AEBESRKFIBLEHTEER
BRTH {8 22,518,000 8 7T * MR & HI R
Dy B RIE  EREE 2
FAitk EEFEBBARE T
B+ A 5 [ 0 4 A R (E B 1R B
H AEBYERZEEHRITHT
(EEASERTE

R=ZZE—N\F=A=+—8 - Lt
BRIBEBB ST ERFEORNEESE
EEBETENE ZERIKIERE
BETRBEMENREER S EKRIE
1,178,000 7L - BEEEENE
MBEFMERLCHEZERBEENEE
BEEE REZZFERFEEER
Bl REBEVERZEEHIFTEL
(EEESEN
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19. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 19.

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March 2018

(continued)

An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at 31 March 2018 that were
not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired under HKAS
39is as follows:

B T RO I I WG 5
(8D

BE-_Z—N\E=HA=+—HLE
ERBEERBESTERE39H ZRE
(&)
RZZFE—NF=ZA=+—H " BE
BB 2T 4RI 5 39 5% 1 4% (& Bl 3k £
ERAVERE R E 5 EBGIE KRR 5
MR

2018

—E-)N\F

HK$'000

FH&T

Neither past due nor impaired REEATNARBE 88,275
Less than 1 month past due BER P 1 1B A 11,142
1to 3 months past due #H 1 =38 A 8,712
3 to 6 months past due wHI3 = 618 A 1,508
Over 6 months past due B HARE A 6 A A 1,156
110,793

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of
customers that had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion that no
provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances were still considered fully recoverable.
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20. Loan and Interests Receivables 20. FEWBCE SRS
2019 2018
—E-hFE —FT)N\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
THT FE T
Loan receivable, unsecured JEE TR - KT - 100,000
Interests receivables FEUF S 27,494 34,087
27,494 134,087
Less: Impairment allowance R ERE (3,463) =
24,031 134,087

At 31 March 2018, the loan receivable was stated at amortised cost with
a principal amount of HK$100,000,000 and an effective interest rate of
6.5% per annum with a maturity date in October 2018.

The carrying amount of the loan receivable approximated to its fair
value. The loan has been fully repaid during the year.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loan and
interests receivables are as follows:

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 2019

R-ZZE—NE=ZA=+—8 &%
8 /5 100,000,000 7 7T 2 fE W B 337
BHERANE  BERFEMNEA6S
B REBBA—ZT—N\F+AH-

0

+
T

& W B R BR T (E B2 H A R B 4R
cBERERNFRAZEER -

FE AR B 2R R ) B R R B S 18 B 1
BT :

BE-_ZE—hE=A=+—HLE
EREERBVMEBRELEAFEIRZ
AR

2019 2018

—E-hFE —T)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHER FHETT

At beginning of year RFH) - -
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 KNB B EREERFE R

& 6,603 -

At beginning of year (restated) REY) (KRE&ES) 6,603 -

Reversal of impairment losses, net (note 6) B ERERSE - F8E (MisEe) (3,140) -

At end of year RER 3,463 -
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20. Loan and Interests Receivables (continued) 20. FMEWMCE R A (s

As at 31 March 2019, none of the loan and interests receivables were
overdue (2018: Nil) and all the balances were categorised within Stage
1, except for an interest receivable of an unlisted debt investment
which was categorised within Stage 2, for the measurement of
expected credit losses. An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering the expected credit losses, which are
estimated by applying the probability of default approach with
reference to the risks of default and losses given default of the
borrowers or comparable companies. As at 31 March 2019, the
probability of default applied ranged from 0.02% to 25.0% (1 April 2018:
0.02% to 38.0%) and the loss given default was estimated to be
approximately 50.9% to 59.3% (1 April 2018: 52.6% to 59.3%).

At 31 March 2018, all the loan and interests receivables were not past
due, and not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired,
and related to borrowers for whom there was no recent history of
default. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company were
of the opinion that no provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was
necessary in respect of these balances as there had not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.
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21. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

WA 25 1 2 I e

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

PARECIR, P < B At M
AR

2019 2018

—E-hE —Z—)\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FE T FHEIT

Prepayments TEfTRIR 13,419 54,250

Deposits paid for the acquisition of property, WM - KER&REZ

plant and equipment BEffEER 3,499 36,929
Rental and other deposits HekEMES 32,840 35,901
Other receivables =y e S 14,844 8,002
Right-of-return assets EEREE 3,398 =
68,000 135,082

Impairment allowance AR - -
Less: Deposits classified as non-current assets & : D AIERBEE 2 RS (21,702) (49,475)
Portion classified as current assets NERRBEERNED 46,298 85,607

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits,
deposits with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have
no history of default. The financial assets included in the above balances
were not overdue and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement of
expected credit losses. Where applicable, an impairment analysis is
performed at each reporting date by considering the probability of
default and the timing and amount of future cash flows. Given the
Group has not experienced any significant credit loss exposure in the
past, the directors of the Company considered that the allowance for
expected credit losses for these deposits and receivables is not
significant.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default.

RehHEMBEFARIZEESR
T HRTEIZRERRBRAR
MR R HF 2 BFE - 5t
AL ESRZHHEES BB
YHERFERREERBRZE —
R NEERSAHEERED
BERARKAEREZHR RS
ETRED T (ER) - ERALE
BBEARFHBEREEFRER
B ARAREFERR/RAZZFRER
FEWRBEEL 2 BREEBERER
YAEK e

FREEBRRBBIIARE - 5TA
bl A ER 2 B TS A B B HA N R R
HIRDER 2 RUEIR B -
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22. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

22. R PERRER AR 2

B e
2019 2018
—EBE-hE —T-—NEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FAT
Listed equity investments at fair value FIRERE - BRATE - 125,683
Unlisted mutual funds at fair value FEMEBRES  RATE 1,886 1,910
Listed perpetual bonds at fair value EHoxERES  RATE 19,403 -
21,289 127,593

The above investments at 31 March 2019 were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to
recognise the fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive
income.

The fair value of unlisted mutual funds is determined based on the
quoted market prices provided by fund administrators with reference
to prices derived from the over-the-counter market.

At the end of the reporting period, the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss that are denominated in USD, other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities, amounted to
HK$21,289,000 (2018: HK$1,910,000).

At 31 March 2019, certain of the Group's financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$19,403,000 were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (2018: Nil) (note 34).
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23. Bank Balances and Cash

WA 25 1 2 I e

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

23. HUTHIER KBS

2019 2018

—E-hE ZT-N\F

HK$’000 HKS'000

THT FET

Bank balances and cash IRITER AR ® 149,209 260,864
Time deposits TEHTF R 22,000 159,985
171,209 420,849

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of
six months or less depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the effective short term time deposit
rates ranging from 0.0001% to 1.59% (2018: 0.0001% to 1.12%) per
annum. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying
amounts of the bank balances and cash approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 March 2019, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”) amounted to HK$37,109,000 (2018:
HK$69,382,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

BRI EFIRBESHRITERF X
ATEZZEAETE c RHEHE
K2 IFHEANMEAKEA N
R SAEEZHNBRLSEIRM
TE ¢ WM F0.0001% E 1.59% (=T
—N\FE N F0.0001%FE 1.12%) 7 &
RRHTEHEREN KB - R1T
48R OE BRE SO T R i B A iR
HESL AEERIFZIERIT - BITHE
HEB S ZRAEREAFEEES -

R-ZE—NE=ZA=+—8 &%
BURARE(TAREDFEZRS
KSR 1T 45 84 537,109,000 T (=&
— J\ £ : 69,382,000/ 75) - AR
T EBRABRAHEMER - A -
AR 35 R B A0 3 1 BB A 2 AR 1 ) R (4
B -EERMNEEERTE) ~A56H
A5 R IR MR AT HNEE BT 2 SR 1T
BARE RSB ABEMERE o
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24, SRR NG 2 BORE oy
FA Ly 18 H 5 2072 e 12 A

24. Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Liabilities

Directly Associated with the Assets Classified as

Held for Sale

Z i

2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
FExT
Assets classified as held for sale PTEABEHEZEE
Assets of a disposal subsidiary classified PERFELEZ
as held for sale HE—RWBRAREE
— Union Target — WA 0) 53,110
Non-current assets classified as held for sale DEARIELE ZIERDEE
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - BEREE (ii) 67,716
120,826
Liabilities directly associated with the assets TEARELELEERERZER
classified as held for sale
Liabilities of a disposal subsidiary classified as DERBFIELEZ
held for sale HE—HIBARIAR
— Union Target — A (i) 361
Notes: fEE -
(i) On 28 February 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement (i) RZZBE—NE-A=+/\H " ~£H

BT E= I MNEREE RS 0 N
X {E 53,088,000 7T i) & i@ 2 & 5B
RIERRAAREBORRER %X
SR_T—NEFENATMEBEREKX °

with independent third parties to dispose of the entire equity interests in Union Target
and the shareholder loan owed to the Group at a consideration of HK$53,088,000. The
transaction was completed on 14 June 2019.

Further details of this disposal are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 28
February 2019.

ZEEFTHEZE-—SHFBENER
ARRA=-FT—-—AF=-_A=+/\H
/NG
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24. Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Liabilities
Directly Associated with the Assets Classified as

Held for Sale (continued)

Notes: (continued)

() (continued)

The assets and liabilities of Union Target (excluding an inter-company loan and amounts
due from group companies which are eliminated on consolidation) as at 31 March 2019

are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
Y 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —Z—hE=HA=+—H

24, SRR NG 2 BORE oy
FA Ly 18 H 5 2072 e 12 A

Z Bl as)
MisE : ()
(i) (#8)

RZZT—NFE=A=+—H B@Emn
BERABETRERGAKERY
NG I 60583 & NTEA
BT :

Union Target

s
HK$'000
T
Assets BE
Investment property REMZE 53,088
Deposits & 22
Assets of a disposal subsidiary classified as held for sale PEARELEZHE B AREE 53,110
Liabilities af
Other payables H AR 361
Liabilities of a disposal subsidiary classified as held for sale PEARKRELEZHE BB AR AR 361
Net assets directly associated with the disposal subsidiary M ERB AR EEERZ EEFE 52,749
(ii) On 28 March 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement (i) RZF—AF=A=+/N\H Fx&HE

with an independent third party to dispose of a property classified as leasehold land and
buildings included in property, plant and equipment at a consideration of
HK$102,800,000. The transaction was completed on 30 May 2019.

Further details of this disposal are set out in the Company's announcement dated 28

March 2019.

BB B = AR R E B e A
K18 102,800,000/ 7T (H E 5T A
WERZENDEATEE + 1 RIE
FHYE - ZRRIN =T —NERA
=+HAZEX -

ZHEERZE - TFHBFHANARF
HBA—ZE-NF=A-—+N\BHZR
# o
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25. Trade Payables 25. H Y MEARIE

2019 2018

—E-hFE —FT)N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THET FHET

Trade payables B 5N E 35,959 60,177
An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting BORNFERBEHRRBREESR

period, based on the invoice date is as follows: BEAZBRERDATHO T :

2019 2018

—E-hE Z—ZZT-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Within 1 month & A LAR 14,923 52,661

1to 3 months 1231848 6,547 5,254

3 to 6 months 3E6fEA 7,608 1,704

Over 6 months A6 & A 6,881 558

35,959 60,177
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term BHRNFKEANGHE  FHHERE
of 30 to 60 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in 302600 - REEE A MR R
place to ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame. EIRIE  WIRFTE A RIBERIE

EEEHRANM -
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26. Other Payables and Accruals 26. LAt AT K0 S RE ST 22 ]
2019 2018
—EB-hE  —T)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET
Receipts in advance B U FE 10,398 12,987
Rental deposits received B EEE 4,588 3,857
Contract liabilities BHEE @ 7,098 -
Refund liabilities RPAE 6,089 -
Other payables Hofth fE 1 318 (b) 22,808 24259
Accruals fExtE A 58,741 59,719
109,722 100,822
Less: Portion classified as non-current B DBAERBEEILD
liabilities (1,883) (2,450)
Portion classified as current liabilities PEAERDAGERS 107,839 98,372
Notes: B 3
(a) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018 are as follows: (a) R-_FE-—NF=A=t+—HHE=F
—N\NEHA—BHENEEFEN
T
31 March 2019 1 April 2018
—E-hE —ZT-N\F
=A=+—8” mA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Short-term advances received from customers B& F W E R E R 3R
Sale of goods HEEY 7,098 7434
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver Chinese and Western & B BB TE T UER A 3R AR P %
pharmaceutical and health food products. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2019 was RRBREGERZEHBR -N=F
mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances received from customers in relation —NFENEENRISEEZEHRF
to the sale of goods at the end of the year. Rt E Y mm % P WERE R A
B ©
(b)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one year. The (b) HMEMRETHE  BEE—FR
carrying amounts of the above other payables approximate to their fair values. 08 o bt E A FE S A AR (B B

HAFEMAS -
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27. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings 27. st HUTIRE
2019 2018
“E-1E - \F
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
A (50 i FRT AT i 7
Current:
BA
Bank loans — secured HIBOR+1.5 On demand 150,000 - - -
BOEHR— AER BBRIT REEEXE
EEZi3-N
+1.5E
Bank loans — secured HIBOR+  2019-2020 82,290 HIBOR+ 2018-2019 264,790
(1.56-1.65) (1.56-1.65)
BOEHR— AER ERRT —E-NEZE BBRIT —T-N\FZ
G373 S— 2.3 R%HE Z—T-NF
+(1.56 2 +(156 8
-1.65E) -165E)
232,290 264,790
Non-current:
JEENER
Bank loans — secured HIBOR+1.56 2026 619,937 HIBOR+1.56 2026 662,227
RITER — FER EEET —BIRE BRRT ZTIRE
EE2/3N EEZi¥:)
+1.56 B +156[E
852,227 927,017
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27. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings (continued) 27. tRAYTIHR @
2019 2018
ZB-hEFE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHEIT
Analysed into: WA
Bank loans repayable: BTy FHER ZRITER
Within one year or on demand —FRNH R EEE R 232,290 264,790
In the second year M EF A 44,790 42,290
In the third to fifth years, inclusive —EREFRN(BEEEMF) 164,412 151,869
Beyond five years RAEAE 410,735 468,068
852,227 927,017

Notes: ML -

(a) Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group's land and buildings (note 13) @ $§'§ & ?iﬁﬁ% ?f%’uju A
and investment properties (note 14), together with certain rental income generated ﬁ§5ﬁ398'?93800}%7t(:§_}\$ :
therefrom, amounting to HK$398,893,000 (2018: HK$142,666,000) and HK$611,088,000 14266600078 7T.) 2 + 3 K% 5 (MY
(2018: HK$503,000,000), respectively. #13) }611,088,0008 7T (= F — )\

£ 1 503,000,000 7T ) 2 & W (K
H14) ERELEZETHSKRA
R o

o = EoEVENNEN v} 374
(b) All bank loans of the Group bear interest at floating interest rates and are denominated in L AR B P A R AT B DAY B R

Hong Kong dollars. TR KRB ITIIE -

AEBZRITERZEHAEELR
FEEE °

(c) The carrying amounts of the bank loans of the Group approximate to their fair values. ©

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
e ATCE 2 39



Notes to Financial Statements
YU 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —ZE—hAE=A=+—H
AR A RIE]

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are FRELEREABREEZZBN
as follows: T 8

28. Deferred Tax 28.

Deferred tax liabilities EEFEAE

240

Unrealised fair

Unrealised fair value gain on
Depreciation valuegainon financial assets
allowance financial assets at fair value
in excess of atfairvalue  through other
related through  comprehensive
depreciation profit or loss income
BOFEE BOFER
BakAR Htt2EKE
BAEE ZHBEE IN:FAk S
EN AR BEZRER
TERHE AT ERE AV ERE #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TET TEx THET TET
At 1 April 2017 R-Z—+&EMA—H 2511 3359 - 5870
Deferred tax charged to profitor AR B RING 2
loss during the year EIER R 24,600 1,994 - 26,594
At 31 March 2018 RZZ—\F
=A=1+-H 27,111 5353 - 32464
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 AN E BT F5 3R &5 A
FORHNTE = (5353) 5353 -
At 1 April 2018 (restated) RZZE-\FMA—H
(4=&5)) 27111 - 5353 32464
Deferred tax charged to profitor ERRBRRITRZ
loss during the year BT 4627 - - 4627
Deferred tax credited to other R E M 2 E U2 A
comprehensive income during  Z IEFER: A
the year - - (3,521) (3,521)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF
=A=+-H 31,738 - 1,832 33,570
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28. DEfQH'Ed Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Notes to Financial Statements

WA 25 1 2 I e

31 March2019 —ZE—AE=A=+—H

28. ELEFTIA 1)
ELBEEE

Depreciation

Loss available in excess of
for offsetting related Impairment
against future depreciation on financial
taxable profit allowance assets
36 88 7 3R
ERBEN BBEERE
ZUREE RHENNE HEEERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT THET
At 1 April 2017 R-Z—+FMA—H 9,608 4,098 55 13,761
Deferred tax credited to profitor FRARIBERTAL
loss during the year EERIA 24,624 676 219 25,519
At31 March 2018 RIB-N\E
=HA=+—H 34,232 4,774 274 39,280
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 RN E BT F5 3R 4 24
FORNTE - - 49 49
At 1 April 2018 (restated) R=ZZ—-\EMA—A
(mE5) 34,232 4774 33 39,329
Deferred tax credited to profitor ERRIBERTAZ
loss during the year ERERIE 592 180 175 947
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NF
=R=+—H 34,824 4,954 498 40,276
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities HERENMmMS & TREHIEE

have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group

for financial reporting purposes:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

ERABECEREMBARREAE
B o LT RAEE AR IE IR AR
B IE B O S EH A DT -

2019
“E-NE

2018
—ET-N\F
HKS$'000
FET

HK$'000
TR

R R M B R MR

consolidated statement of financial RIEHTEE TR
position 10,122 13,196
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the ~ R&GA BN & AR
consolidated statement of financial RIERTEE EFRE
position (3,416) (6,380)
6,706 6,816
D770 S P AT FR N ]
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242

28. Deferred Tax (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
arising in Hong Kong and Macau of HK$456,926,000 (2018:
HK$417,295,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group also has unused tax losses arising in the PRC of HK$9,464,000
(2018: HK$8,354,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, there were no significant temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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31 March2019 —ZE—AE=A=+—H

29. Share Capital 29. A
Shares &)
2019 2018
—E-hE —Z)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Authorised: ETE
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 60,000,000,000 Fx &% 0.01 AT
HK$0.01 each R 600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
1,231,642,888 (2018: 1,265,142,888) 1,231,642,888 (Z&— \4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 1,265,142,888) IR G AR 0.01 B 7T
2 BB 12,316 12,651
During the year, the movements in the share capital and share premium FA - RNRARAR R D =B 2 &
account of the Company were summarised as follows: ERLAL N T

Number
of shares Issued Share
inissue capital premium Total

B&T ERT
RG#E e R aE Ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAT

At1 April 2017,31 March 2018,  R=Z—+FMA—H -

and 1 April 2018 —Z-)\F
ZA=t-8Bk
“Z-\EMA—H 1,265,142,888 12,651 2,116,420 2,129,071
Cancellation of shares repurchased 5 5 58 21 i {7 @) (33,500,000) (335) (9621) (9,956)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-N&F
=H=1—H 1,231,642,888 12,316 2,106,799 2,119,115
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31 March2019 —ZE—AF=A=+—H
29. Share Capltal (continued) 29. HQ2!§ (%)

Shares (continued) B 17 (&)

Note: Bt aE -

(a) The Company purchased 33,500,000 of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total (a) F R AR AR R (E 9,956,000 %
consideration of HK$9,956,000 during the year. The purchased shares were cancelled JC PR Bif 22 BT B8 B 33,500,000 A% A% 15 °
during the year ended 31 March 2019. ZEEBERNENREBEZE=Z—N

F=A=T—BHILFE=FH-
Details of the shares repurchased by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 RARRBEZZT—NF=A=1+—
are summarised below: HILFEBERMNRMDFBRMAT
Number Highest Lowest
of shares price price Aggregate
Month of repurchase repurchased per share per share price
e A7 BERGBE BSRESEE SRBEER wE
HKS HK$'000
BT FAT
September 2018 —E—NENA 24,000,000 0.300 0.275 7,000
October 2018 —E-N\¥+A 9,500,000 0310 0.305 2,956
33,500,000 9,956

Share options B AR

Details of the Company's share option scheme are set out in note 30 to RAE 2z ERES &8 2 FF 15 ER B

the financial statements. TR EE 30 ©
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30. Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 September
2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) was terminated with the approval by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on 22
August 2013 and a new share option scheme of the Company (the
2013 Scheme”) was approved to be adopted by the shareholders of
the Company on 22 August 2013. The 2013 Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years from that day, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by shareholders in a general meeting. As a result, the Company
can no longer grant any further options under the 2003 Scheme.

Upon the termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share options were
granted thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior to
the termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during the
prescribed exercise period in accordance with the terms of the 2003
Scheme.

The 2013 Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the board of directors may grant options
to directors and eligible employees of the Company or its subsidiaries
to let them subscribe for shares in the Company at a consideration
equal to the higher of the closing price of the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange at the date of offer of grant and the average
closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date of
grant, upon payment of HKS1. Options may be exercised at any time
from the date of grant of the share options up to the tenth anniversary
of the date of grant as determined by the directors at their discretion.

31 March 2019

30.
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30. Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which
options may be granted, when aggregated with any other share option
scheme of the Company, shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time excluding any shares issued
upon the exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2013 Scheme.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2013 Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as
at the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to an eligible person under the 2013 Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the aggregate number of shares for the time being issued
and issuable under the 2013 Scheme.

No share options were outstanding under the 2013 Scheme as at 31
March 2019 and 2018.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2003 Scheme
during the year:

30.

el Y R G 81 o)

AN B AR R R S e 2 B AD BR
BLER ERREARFEMEA
BREERLZBRERSRZ
BB TRBEEAARTER
BITRARZ30% (T EERITERE
—E-ZFFERE 2 BREM
T2 EMRD) - Tiw L &R -
TRBE - - =8 REHER
RITEZ A B BT AT 31T 2 IR
- PEBBRH —T—=F:t2
B EE R ZBEITRMZ10% -

BE—ZT—=F8A R FTAEERK
AT Z BRI k2R hD B -
TEBBBRE-T—=FialgR
BETRABITROBEZ1% -

R-E-NEFR-_ZE-N\F=A
=+—B —E-=FHETLE
iR R T2 B A A

RIBE-ZZ=FF38  ATEKRE
REARRRITHE :

2019 2018
—B-nE —E-N\E

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options  exercise price of options

hn#EF1 T
TRE BREHE IEE  BREHA
HK$ '000 HKS '000

per share per share
BRER T4 BRRETT T
At beginning of year REEA]) 14.226 39 13.350 47
Forfeited during the year RNERR U 7.420 (2) 9.079 (8)

Expired during the year RERE R 20.693 (20) =
At end of year RER 7.420 17 14226 39

BE_Z-NAFER-_Z-/\F=A
=T —BLEFE YERBHTE
EATRERAE -

There were no share options granted or exercised for the years ended
31 March 2019 and 2018.

BE_Z—NFrR_ZTE—N\F=A8
=+—HALEFE BMECHEIRUR
D ARERERNNTRK -

There was no share-based payment recognised during the years ended
31 March 2019 and 2018.
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30. Share Optlon Scheme (continued) 30. Eﬁﬂﬁ%%f%u (f8)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options REE R ARITE 2 BRE 21T
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: EERITREHAT
2019 —E-hF

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period*

BRERE TEE* TTEHR*

‘000 HKS per share
46 BRAERT

12.5.2011 to 11.5.2020
—E——FHA+=H
17 7.420 E-E_ZEFERA+—H

2018 —E-N\F

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period*

EREHAE TTfEE~ 1T{E R

‘000 HKS per share
T BT

8.1.2010t0 7.1.2019
—E-ZFF—-—AN\H=ZE

20 20.693 —2—hF—AtH
12.5.2011 to 11.5.2020

—E——FRA+=ZHE

19 7.420 —T-FFRA+—H
39
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or . 8 PO 2 17 {50 {0 A 70 A B AT A 3
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. T3R8 2 B B AN A B AR At SRR Y

BT IATE

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 17,238 (2018: RBEHR > ARARARBE-_FTT=
39,170) share options outstanding under the 2003 Scheme. The exercise FHEREZBRAES 1723810
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present (ZZ— N\ 3917010 ) BE A4
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 17,238 additional RITEE o RBEARD AR 2 RAZRE
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$172 B BBITEERITEZBARERY
(2018: HK$392) and share premium of HK$128,000 (2018: HK$553,000) EWEEINEITI17 38R AR T 2 &
(before issue expenses). AR R MRA 1728 T (ZE =\

F 13927 70) MR 1D)% (B 128,00078
T (== — )\ % : 553,000/ 7t ) (kK
HBREITRAL) ©

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had RZEVERRENLER  AQA
17,238 share options outstanding under the 2003 Scheme, which R -_TT=-FFRL 2 BRE
represented approximately 0.001% of the Company’s shares in issue at 017,238 (0 BB AR E M ORTTIE - AR
that date. NAZABBITZIRM#0.001% °
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31. Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 123 and 124 of the consolidated financial
statements.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued ordinary
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group
reorganisation in 1995.

The contributed surplus represents the credits arising from the
capital reduction effected by the Company less the amount
utilised for the purpose of the bonus issue of shares by the
Company.

The other reserve represents the Group’s share of other reserve of
its associate.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a
portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC has
been transferred to the reserve funds which are restricted to use.

248 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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WRC S SR 25 V2T 2 W 2 i)
AEERFRUBHEEFEMT

32. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries that are not a Business 32.

The net assets acquired by the Group during the year are as follows:

Oriental Precious Shiny
Sino Investments World Wang To Total
RE KE @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THT TAEx THT THT THET
Net assets acquired: Pl EEFE -
Property, plant and equipment %1% R k& & 190,000 69,000 = = 259,000
Investment properties BEME = = 52,000 39,000 91,000
Other receivables H e Uy B 39 45 = 123 207
Tax recoverable Y E A - - = 34 34
Bank balances RITHEH 46 32 32 36 146
Other payables and accruals B RIER
EStER (2850) . (386) (300) (3.536)
Tax payable FERTIR (13) - (30) > (43)
187,022 69077 51616 38,893 346,808
Satisfied by: HATARER
Cash RBe 187,222 69,077 51,616 38,893 346,808
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions of Oriental B B WK B R E- Precious

Investments * J£HE & Wang To 2 3R &

Sino, Precious Investments, Shiny World and Wang To is as follows:

MEDWAT :
Oriental Precious Shiny
Sino  Investments World Wang To Total
RE *E @t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FAL FAT THET FAT
Cash consideration A (187,222) (69,077) (51,616) (38,893) (346,808)
Deposits paid as at 31 March 2018 RZE—N\E=F=1—H
ke 19,000 6900 5200 3900 35,000
Bank balances acquired Pk 2 SR1THE % 46 R 32 36 146
Net outflow of cash and cash FAFRREREEE
equivalents included in cash flows  BRERENBEE K
from investing activities for the year B & BB E R HFE (168,176) (62,145) (46,384) (34957) (311,662)
Transaction costs of the acquisition 5t AR BEE /K2
included in cash flows from BemEZKESR
operating activities MR KA (187) (69) (52) (39) (347)
(168,363) (62,214) (46,436) (34,996) (312,009)
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
B U 249
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32. Acquisitions of Subsidiaries that are not a Business

33.

250

(continued)

On 7 February 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with East Run Investments Limited, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of Wang On Properties Limited ("WOP"), a 75% owned
subsidiary of Wang On, in respect of the acquisition of the entire issued
share capital of Oriental Sino, Precious Investments, Shiny World and
Wang To (collectively, the “Target Companies”) and shareholder’s loans
of the Target Companies owed to WOP at a total consideration of
HK$350,000,000. The transaction constituted a connected transaction
of the Group and was completed on 25 April 2018.

Pursuant to the relevant sale and purchase agreement, the cash
consideration was adjusted to HK$346,808,000 based on the net asset
value of the Target Companies as at 25 April 2018 (the date of
completion).

The above acquisitions have been accounted for by the Group as

acquisitions of assets as the entities acquired by the Group do not
constitute a business.

Note to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

32.

33.

Wik I S 25 PR BT 2 W) 2 Wil
(#)

R=ZZE—NF-_AtRH ' AEEH
REFBBISHEROHBRARARL
HMEERAR ([ ALHE])WEE
% & M} B A A East Run Investments
Limitedel Y —M E B &% NE A
% LA 48 33 & X 8 350,000,000 7 7T U2
BE B ZE -« Precious Investments * Yt IR
KWwang To (i [BZRA ] M2
HEZTRARERERARNER
HMEZRRER - ZRXIERAE
BEN@EERS ER_ZE—\FM@E
A=-+HRB%K -

REHBEEEHZ  ReRERE
BEARR-_ZE—N\NENA=-+H
(KB MEEFERARS
346,808,000 78 JT ©

i A 75 g B U 1 B R 30 T AR 2
% HAEE ERREARSA
A AR -

o 7 B i R Ik
RAZHELZEERE

Bank

borrowings

BITEE

HKS$'000

FH&T

At 1 April 2017 R-ZZE—tFMWA—AH 759,307

Changes from financing cash flows MEREREEH 167,710
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE—NF=ZA=+—HK

—E-)\FmA—H 927,017

Changes from financing cash flows MEREREZE) (74,790)

At 31 March 2019 RZZE—-—hF=A=+—8H 852,227
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34. Pledge of Assets

35.

At 31 March 2019, the Group pledged certain of its financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$211,611,000 (2018: Nil) and HK$19,403,000 (2018: Nil), respectively,
as securities for general banking facilities granted to the Group. Details
are included in note 17 and note 22, respectively, to the financial
statements.

Details of the Group's bank borrowings which are secured by the assets
of the Group are included in notes 13, 14 and 27 to the financial
statements.

Operating Lease Arrangements

(@) Aslessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) and sub-
leases its office premises under operating lease arrangements,
with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to four years.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

31 March 2019

34.

35.

WA 25 1 2 I e

—EAF=A=+-F

&
R—ZFE—hAh&F=A=+—8 &%
ERFESETRAFTELEMEE
WS AR BEERERATFEL
B ARZVBEE  REFEE
2 Al &211,611,0008 (=& — N\
1 48) }19,403,0008 L (ZZT— N\
FEm) ERASEER —RRTT
BhE 2R o 152 RIE R B
KRBt 17 RFiRE22

NAEBEEFREROARKBEIRT
EEFBENMBRERME 3 14
K27

R E e
(a) fERBHBEA

AEBERBEEHELF LA
HEEME(MF14) RO H
HWAYE  HEZHEFH
NF—EmE - BEHERR K
ERBLXMNRESR - LEH
REER2BTHAHBESE
THE -

RZZB-NF=A=+—0H"
AEBERBEEBEPITLZT
AR 2 R EME LB AR A
THEHEE 2 AR BN RENR
TN

2019 2018
—E-hE T)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAT
Within one year —&ER 16,392 20,085
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FEERF(BEEEMF) 13,267 9,844
29,659 29,929
Pr G G S S AT FR AN T
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35. Operating Lease Arrangements (continued)

(b) Aslessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties and retail shops
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to six years.

Certain leases have contingent rental payable which is based on
the turnover of the relevant retail shops. The contingent rent paid
for the year was HK$10,419,000 (2018: HK$13,296,000).

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

35.

w8 2 fH B 2 HE ()

(b) {EBEEA
AEBERECLASRHAE
HETHASYERTEE
HoMEIAREEA—EA
= o

ETHAEXAENES ZHEEL
DR ERTE G &%
FE- FABMNKARES
10,419,000/ L (=& — \ & :
13,296,000 8 7T) °

R-ZT—h&E=A=+—8"
AEBRBERAIHEESCERLD
AR T FHREEZ RREE
THEREBEWT -

2019 2018

—E-NE —E-)N\F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

THET FHAT

Within one year —&FR 66,215 59,758

In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FEERF(BEEEMF) 66,525 66,299

132,740 126,057

36. Capital Commitments 36. EAKHE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 35(b) RIREHIR - B _E XM 5 35(b) 5F it
above, the Group had the following capital commitments at the end of CIREHEAEIN  AEEZEXR

the reporting period:

APENT

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET

Contracted, but not provided for: ERIKVEREHREME
— Property, plant and equipment — W - R NERE 2,503 2,575
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB KB A 7 - 315,000
2,503 317,575
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37. Related Party Transactions

(a)

Transactions with related parties

Notes to Financial Statements

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year:

Wang On and its subsidiaries
(other than the Group)

xR EMW B AR (FRAKESN)

31 March 2019

WA 25 1 2 I e

—EAF=A=+-F

37. BB RS

(a)

Notes

P &

BEEBEZXS

Bz S B EmR E M AR Frat
ZRZIN  REER A
GEITEITATEAR S ¢

2019
—g-hE

2018
—E—-)N\F
HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
TER

— Rental income earned by the — AEERDHBES KA 0]
Group* 9,700 9,652
— Rental expenses incurred by —AEEEEANHEESFEY (i)
the Group 2,068 9,482*
— Management fee incurred by —AEEEANERE (i)
the Group - 10
— Sales of Chinese —AREEEPEER* (if)
pharmaceutical products
by the Group* 6,855 9,379
Associates AN
— Sales of Chinese —REEHEREER (if)
pharmaceutical products
by the Group 21,173 23,488
— Rental income earned by the — AEERDMBSHA (i)
Group 1,445 2,044
— Management and promotion — REBBENEER 0)
fees earned by the Group rEEE 1,081 1,107
— Interest income on a loan — REBBEIMNERZ (iii)
earned by the Group FE WA 4,203 6,464
Notes: Fif & -
(i) The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the Group and 0 %R 5 TH AR RN 5 ] S

the related parties.

(if) The sales to the related parties were made according to the published prices and

conditions that the Group offered to its customers.

(iii)

The interest was charged by the Group on a loan advanced to Easy One which

has been fully repaid during the year. Details of the terms of the relevant loan are

set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

These related party transactions also constitute continuing connected

transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

B 77 AR L W56 R 2 MR TT

(i) HAMSELZEEDRE
FRERMERFRHEZER
MR R ARAFHETT

AEERASFERHZE
HBEEF S - ZEKERF
NEE - HAERZGRZ
BN R 20 ©

(iii)

x e W AP
BERS (TR EMRAUE
T4AE) o
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37. Related Party Transactions (continued) 37.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

HLH G T 2285 ()
(b) AEETIETEEASCHS

2019 2018

—B-hE —ZT-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Short term employment benefits SR 5,613 5,905

Post-employment benefits BER 1A 84 /1

Total Bt 5,697 5,976
The above compensation of key management personnel excludes TERERABNULEHETE
the directors’ remuneration, details of which are set out in note 8 FEEMWE  EFHMENFE

to the financial statements. ENEE e R

38. Financial Instruments by Category 38.

Except for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, available-for-sale investments and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, as disclosed in note 17 and note 22, respectively,
to the financial statements, all other financial assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 March 2019 are classified as financial assets and liabilities
at amortised cost, respectively (2018: loans and receivables, and
financial liabilities at amortised cost, respectively).

39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 39.
Instruments

The carrying amount of the fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair value, are as follows:

FERAUN 0 G 1) <l 1L

RIEATFTELHEMEZEKRSEARZ
MHEE  AIEHEREREZAF
BEEBRRARZHBEE (DT
BRI 5E 17 I sE 22 BB ) b
AEBRZ=ZZT-—NF=HA=+—H
NBEEMPBEEREBESEAR
REEK A ENYEEERAE
(ZZ—N\F : DR AERRERR
BEARZEHER AT ENMEA

&) °

Bl TR Z P B P
ik
AEEEBITAREERAFES
BEENEBIARIN ZREER
DFELT

Carrying amounts Fair values

REE
31 March
2019

AFE
31 March 31 March 31 March
2018 2019 2018

Z$-0F “F\F ZB-AE SF)F
ZA=t+-B =ZA=t—H ZA=t-B =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT  TEr  TEn

HK$’000
TER

Financial liabilities BBasE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ATRRITIEE 852,227

927,017 852,227 927,017
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39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of bank balances and
cash, trade and bills receivables, trade payables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, loan and
interests receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and the current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the
Company are responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance
department reports directly to the director and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
director. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March
2019 was assessed to be insignificant.

31 March 2019
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39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments, listed debt investments and
listed perpetual bonds are based on quoted market prices, except for
one investment which was determined based on the market approach
with reference to the prices recently paid for similar assets and the
market comparables due to the suspension of share trading of the
relevant investment. The fair values of unlisted mutual funds are
determined based on the quoted market prices provided by fund
administrators with reference to prices derived from the over-the-
counter market. The fair values of unlisted debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, which were previously classified
as available-for-sale investments, have been estimated using a
discounted cash flow valuation model based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The directors of the
Company believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the
valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in profit or loss and other comprehensive income, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the end
of the reporting period.

For the fair value of a listed equity investment designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income which is suspended for trading,
the market approach is adopted and enterprise value versus earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA") ("EV-to-
EBITDA"), discount for lack of control (“DLOC") and discount for lack of
marketability ("“DLOM") were used as inputs to the valuation model. For
the fair value of the unlisted debt investment classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, which were
previously classified as available-for-sale investments, management has
estimated the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives
as inputs to the valuation model and has quantified this as a reduction
in fair value using less favourable assumptions, and an increase in fair
value using more favourable assumptions.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation
of financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 March 2019:

Valuation Significant

technique unobservable input

fhER % EATTRERARE

31 Ma

39.

RE

WA 25 1 2 I e

rch2019 —ZT—NF=A=+—H

il T E 2 O AE S
R ()
MTAR-E—hAE=A=+—8
SR T AMBMEZEARATATBERE A
HIE B R 8RR DT

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

DNYEHRARBE HBE

As at 31 March 2019

R=B-NE=A=1+-H

Alisted equity investment Market approach EV-to-EBITDA
classified as financial assets iR T (EEE EBITDA
at fair value through other
comprehensive income and
the share trading of
which was suspended

PERERATELEMEE
W R HBEEBRS

EERH 2 LhRERE
DLOC
DLOM
Unlisted debt investment Discounted cash flow  Credit spread
classified as financial assets method FREZE

at fair value through other BRAEREEL

comprehensive income
PRRBEATELHMEE

W AR EMEBRE

13.31 times
13311%

16.7%

20.0%

13.7%

1% increase/(decrease) in
EV-to-EBITDA would result
in increase/(decrease) in fair
value by HK$45,000/
(HKS$53,000)

P EBEYEBTOAZ N, (D)
1% 2 ATEEEM/ (D)
4500078 7,/(53,000 7T)

1% increase/(decrease) in DLOC
would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
(HK$248,000)/! HK$261 ,000

pLoCHE M,/ (R4
1% 152 A ( ﬁ )/ M
(248,000 7T),/261,000 8 7

1% increase/(decrease) in DLOM
would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
(HK$248,000)/HKS 261,000

DLOM B,/ (&)

1%L AFE D),/ Em
(248,000 7T) /261,000 7

1% increase/(decrease) in
credit spread would result
in (decrease)/increase in
fair value by (HK$3,899,000)/
HK$3,956,000

EREZEEM/ (RD)
1%L AFECRD),/Em
(3,899,000t /3956,000 78 7T

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
e ATCE 25 7
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39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation
of financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 March 2018:

Valuation Significant

technique unobservable input

fHEA BEATABREALR

39.

Range

18 E

il TR 2 2 6 fe i
R ()
MTAR-E—NE=A=+—8
SR T AMBMEZEARATATBERE A
HIE B R 8RR DT

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input

RYEHEAREHEE

As at 31 March 2018

R=ZB-Nf¥=ZA=+-H

Alisted equity investment Market approach EV-to-EBITDA
classified as financial assets g% T EEEE EBITDA
at fair value through profit or
loss and the share trading of
which was suspended

PRRBRATERBRE
ANz BEEARS
EExH2 tmkERE

DLOC
DLOM
Unlisted available-for-sale Discounted cash flow Credit spread
debt investment method FREE

FEMAHREERBRE HRASRE)
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189 times

189 &%

16.7%

10.2%

9.04%

1% increase/(decrease) in
EV-to-EBITDA would result
inincrease/(decrease) in fair
value by HK$70,000/
(HK$140,000)

DEEEHBIDALM, (RD)
1%L AFEEN/ (RD)
70,0007,/ (14000078 7T.)

1% increase/(decrease) in DLOC
would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
HKS$209,000

DLOCHE M,/ (D)

1% # 2 AFECRD) /g0
209,000787C

1% increase/(decrease) in DLOM
would result in (decrease)/
increase in fair value by
HK$349,000

DLOMIE A,/ (&) 1%

ESATECHD),/
349,000 7T

1% increase/(decrease) in
credit spread would result
in (decrease)/increase in fair
value by (HK$12,699,000)/
HK$13,003,000

EREEEM/ (BD)
1% K2 A FE D), /LM
(126990007%87T),/13,003,000 % 7T
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39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 39. Sl T H 22 PE R PAE
Instruments (continued) Fitl w0
Fair value hierarchy DA EER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of THRFAREESRITEZ A FE
the Group's financial instruments: ATEER
Assets measured at fair value: RAVEAEZEE
As at 31 March 2019 R=-ZB-AF=R=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERATY&E 2NV EE

Quoted prices  Significant  Significant
inactive observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

REBME BEATHEE EAFTHE

ZHRE WAHE WARE
(B—#%) (B=&) (=) mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET TERT

Financial assets at fair value through 12/ B & H i 2 E i 26

other comprehensive income; ANERZMBEE :

Listed equity investments FTRERE 71,270 - 16,118 87,388
Listed debt investments EHEBERE 165,146 - - 165,146
Unlisted debt investment FLETMEBRE - - 686,877 686,877

Financial assets at fair value through 22 FELIEH R AR

profit or loss: ZHBEE
Unlisted mutual funds FETEEES - 1,886 - 1,886
Listed perpetual bonds EiKERS 19,403 - - 19,403

255,819 1,886 702,995 960,700

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
\ e ATCE 25 9



Notes to Financial Statements
YU 25 i 2 W e

31 March2019 —Z—hA&E=A=+—~H

39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 39. Sl T H 22 PE R PAE
Instruments (continued) R ()
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) BALEFEZEE . (#)
As at 31 March 2018 R-E—NE=A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ERATIREZ A FENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (REVEE))
WERME BEAUER EXTIEHER
LB w8 A SR ) A SR

(B—%H) (B=H) (B=4%) BT
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT FHET TET
Available-for-sale investments: ARHERE
Listed debt investment FHERIEE 2,029 = - 2,029
Unlisted debt investment JELETMEBERE = = 909,562 909,562
Financial assets at fair value BRATFELBRSRAR
through profit or loss: ZMBEE
Listed equity investments EFikRERE 102,163 = 23,520 125,683
Unlisted mutual funds FETEERES = 1,910 = 1,910
104,192 1,910 933,082 1,039,184
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39. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 39. Sl T H 22 PE R PAE
Instruments (continued) 3 146
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years RATEE  E=RAFEHFE
areasfollows: ——  # 2HMT
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 April 2017 RZE—tFMHA—AH 912,093
Transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 (Note) F—RMEBEE =5 (M) 36,225
Imputed interest income recognised in profit or loss AR 2 st 2 U A 3,732
Loss recognised in profit or loss JJL’\TE R B8 (12,705)
Loss recognised in other comprehensive income REMEEKRIERZ EE (6,263)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE-\F=A=+—H
RZZE—-NFHA—H 933,082
Imputed interest income recognised in profit or loss A B HER Z 5T 7 B U A 5,125
Redemption of debt investments BOEHIRE (220,000)
Loss recognised in other comprehensive income RE A 2 E W R < B 18 (15,212)
At 31 March 2019 R—ZE—hFE=ZA=+—H 702,995
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as RZF-NEFRZF-/N\F=A
at 31 March 2019 and 2018. =+ -8 AREUEZAFER
E2HMBEE-
Note: FfE -
The transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 was due to the suspension of share trading of an equity F—RBBEEF=RIIEN—BRAFE
investment at fair value through profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2018. The Group's Zé‘ﬁa ﬁAEEZHX@TXﬁEA%E ToNF
policy is to recognise transfer into and transfer out of Level 3 as at the date of event on change in A=t RLESEEERNER - A%H
circumstances that caused the transfer. ZHRABAE=4ANE %:?&@fﬁz Hk
MR BB B AEER 2 AR ERE AR
i o

fir 0 8 2 P AT R
e ATCE 2 6 1
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies  40.

262

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
bank borrowings disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
parent, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and bills
receivables, loan and interests receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, bank balances and
cash, trade payables, bank borrowings and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risks
(currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), liquidity risk and
credit risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risk.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

Market risks

(i

Currency risk

The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases and foreign currency
bank deposits, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 2.4% (2018: 1.9%) of the Group’s bank
deposits are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the group entities. Substantially all
of the Group's sales are denominated in the relevant group
entities’ functional currencies, whilst almost 87.1% (2018:
84.0%) of the purchase costs are denominated in the
relevant group entities’ functional currencies.

The Group currently does not implement hedging activities
to hedge against foreign currency exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange rate
fluctuation of the foreign currencies stated above against
the functional currencies of the respective group entities.

If the RMB exchange rate had increased/decreased by 5%
and other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
for the year ended 31 March 2019 would have decreased/
increased by HKS$76,000 (2018: loss for the year would have
increased/decreased by HK$383,000).

The Group’s exposures to currency risk of other currencies
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore
no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

31 March 2019
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

264

Market risks (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 27 to the financial
statements) and bank deposits (see note 23 to the financial
statements) at prevailing market interest rates. The Group
has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest
rate risk and will consider hedging significant interest rate
risk should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of one to three months
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. The Group currently
does not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings and bank deposits at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming that the amount
of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

Market risks (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

If interest rates had increased/decreased by 50 basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 would have
decreased/increased by HK$3,466,000 (2018: loss for the
year would have increased/decreased by HK$3,202,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has increased during
the current year mainly due to the decrease in variable-rate
time deposits.

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on bank balances
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore
no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because the fair value of
equity investments included in financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (2018: equity
investments included in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) is measured by reference to the prevailing
market price. Details of equity investments included in
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income and equity investments included in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 March 2019 and
31 March 2018 are set out in note 17 and note 22,
respectively, to the financial statements.

31 March 2019
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

266

Market risks (continued)

(iii)

Price risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a policy to hedge the
price risk. However, management closely monitors such risk
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risks.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to equity investments included in financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(2018: equity investments included in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss) at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming that the amount
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 10% (2018: 10%) increase
or decrease is used when reporting price risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in the
prevailing market price.

If the market price of equity investments included in
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (2018: equity investments included in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss) had increased/
decreased by 10% (2018: 10%) and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s other comprehensive loss for the
year ended 31 March 2019 would have decreased/increased
by HK$8,377,000 (2018: loss for the year would have
decreased/increased by HK$10,654,000).
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest cash flows are at floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

31 March 2019

WA 25 1 2 I e
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40. W 55 a4 BEH B B BOR

(0

a.

B e B B R R BUR ()

REE SR

EERBECARITE A%
BERRESEEERATM
ZReERREFEEBREKF
URAEELERHRES R
BReRERDTE - EEA
BEERRITERER @ LBR
BRERRL -

MEEE R E R X
TRAJAEEM BB EHER
BHFEH - LRBREBEAEE K
RREBERARZMBEABEARE
RReRERY - IEMBA
182 B 53 B AR ¥R 9 7E & 50 B 1A
BE e

TEREMNERASRER
g - WAERESRERTE -
KR BAIRERERR
FI o

Weighted  On demand Total
average  orless than 1to5 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year years 5 years cash flows amount
BREXH ABRRE
MEFIHE PR-F -Z8f RENE RERE REE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR TR TR TiEn
Asat31March2019  R=ZF-hE
ZA=t-H
Trade payables BHRENFA - 35,959 - - 35,959 35,959
Other payables and accruals £ ftt e 508
RIEHER - 27,396 1,883 - 29,279 29,279
Bank borrowings — variable $R{TEE — %8
rates 3.21 254,681 276,636 435,396 966,713 852,227
318,036 278,519 435,396 1,031,951 917,465
Asat 31 March 2018 R-E-N%§
=ZB=+-H
Trade payables BoRIFIE - 60,177 - - 60,177 60,177
Other payables and accruals £ it fEf 708
REHER - 28116 2450 - 30566 30566
Bank borrowings — variable $R{TEE — %8
rates 216 278,893 307,734 425,005 1,011,632 927,017
367,186 310,184 425,005 1,102,375 1,017,760
70 B P AT RN

267

e ATCE



Notes to Financial Statements
Yo 55 2 ) G

31 March2019 —Z—h&E=A=+—H

40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

268

Liquidity risks (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In order to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the credit risk is significantly
reduced.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March 2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March 2019. For listed debt investments, the
Group also monitors them by using external credit ratings. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies ~ 40. 1 %5 Ja\ b 4% BiL H B3 S B3

(continued) (f8)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. HBEMREEBZRRBEEM®)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERE (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March 2019 RZFE-AF=A=1+—HH
(continued) 5 B R R FAERE R (1)

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
HHEE
5F | 2HAEBEEES

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage2  Stage3 approach Total
F-RR SF-RR F=KR @BtrE gt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
THErx FHExr TFTEx FExX THE=R

Debt investments at fair value I AFELEMEE
through other comprehensive 425 A B 2 EFEIRE

income — Aa to CCC —AaZECCC 165,146 686,877 - - 852,023
Trade and bills receivables* B S ERZIE R
FEM AR * - - - 92,210 92,210

Loan and interests receivables  EWE Z K& F 2 3,704 20,327 - - 24,031
Financial assets included in SFATERNFIE B
prepayments, deposits and RE M RN IEZ

other receivables — Normal**  BAf8&E — [EF ** 51,183 - - - 51,183
Bank balances and cash RITAR RIS 171,209 - - - 171,209

391,242 707,204 92,210 1,190,656

o For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for * RAKBEAETEFE
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to BEZE S REWHERS -
the financial statements. BEBEEETE 2ERR

BT SRR PIRE 19 R EE -

e The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and * MEt ATERRIE  ZRE R E
other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and fth, F& W SR IE 2 B 75 & EE MR
there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant BHRTEENBETRTEE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the EBVRBERARZEER
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful’. BEEEN EEERER

RIEF] BRI BBEE
ZIEEEEBHERIFRE] -
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e ATCE 2 69
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

270

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure as at 31 March 2018

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge obligations by the
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group has a concentration of
credit risk in an unlisted debt investment issued by CAP of
HK$686,877,000 (2018: HK$909,562,000) as set out in note 17 to
the financial statements. In addition, as at 31 March 2018, the
Group had a concentration of credit risk in a loan advanced to
Easy One of HK$100,000,000, which has been fully repaid during
the year ended 31 March 2019 as set out in note 20 to the
financial statements. As CAP and Easy One are listed entities, the
management of the Group reviews their published financial
information regularly to ensure that the principal and interest are
recoverable at the respective maturity dates.

Although the bank balances are concentrated on certain
counterparties, the credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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909,562,000 8 7T ) (&M B 75 3
KM E17)e LN RZF
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40. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

b.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2019 and 2018.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company. Net debt is calculated as the total of interest-bearing
bank borrowings, less bank balances and cash. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

31 March 2019

WA 25 1 2 I e

—EAF=A=+-F

40. J 5 g o B AR B B O
(#)

b.

ErER
AEBERERNEERER
REAEEFELLHNES
REFREEARLD - BER
REIHEBERREERK
e

AEEREEERENEEY
BARBETEERARE - K
SE A ARARRIKTERE
BARRETHRRIEITHR
- BE_T-NLFER_F
—NF=ZA=+—BLFE
N BREEMER - BRK
R ETNRES -

AEEMNARELE(ARF
PR R B ARG BB DA E TS
FE)EEER - B FETD
ZETBRITERRRBRITE
BRERSFESE - HEHR
B BELRAT

2019 2018

“E-hE —T-)N\E

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FExT FET

Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 27) 5+ B 5R1TEE (FizE27) 852,227 927,017

Less: Bank balances and cash (note 23) B IRITER RIS (FTFE23) (171,209) (420,849)

Net debt BEFH 681,018 506,168

Equity attributable to owners of the parent A 1A AEIEHEZR 2,444,118 2,554,504

Gearing ratio BELX 28% 20%
D770 S P AT FR N ]

271

e ATCE



Notes to Financial Statements
Yo 55 2 ) G

31 March 2019

—E-AF=A=t+—R

41. Events after the Reporting Period

0]

(ii)

(iii)

On 18 April 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of an investment property and a property classified as leasehold
land and buildings included in property, plant and equipment at
an aggregate consideration of HK$60,500,000. The transaction
was completed on 28 June 2019.

Further details of this disposal are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 19 April 2019.

On 30 April 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of the entire equity interests in Wang To and the shareholder loan
owed to the Group at a consideration of HK$47,000,000. The
transaction is expected to be completed in July 2019.

Further details of this disposal are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 30 April 2019.

On 9 May 2019, the Group entered into a provisional sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of the entire equity interests in Shiny World and the shareholder
loan owed to the Group at a consideration of HK$52,800,000. The
transaction is expected to be completed in August 2019.

Further details of this disposal are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 9 May 2019.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the
transactions have not been completed, it is not practicable to
disclose further details about these transactions.

42. Comparative Amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and re-presented
to conform with the current year's presentation and disclosures.

272
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43. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Notes to Financial Statements

31 March 2019

43.

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries
Financial assets at fair value through

FRBEE
RMBRAIZIRE
BAFELHBEEKE AR

WA 25 1 2 I e

—EAF=A=+-F

A w| S IR B2
ARBERRARAMBRREZ
BRI

2019
—F-NF

2018
—T-N\F
HK$'000
THET

HK$'000
TET

other comprehensive income B EE 21,958 -
21,958 =
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries NG 3,157,037 2,959,091
Other receivables H b W FRIA 608 345
Financial assets at fair value through BATEEBER AR HBKEE
profit or loss - 43,299
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRIRE 21,668 124,817
3,179,313 3,127,552
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Due to subsidiaries AN NGO 884,184 729,255
Other payables and accruals HitENRIBRETE R 13,943 4,282
898,127 733,537
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 2,281,186 2,394,015
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABEE 2,303,144 2,394,015
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Deferred tax liability EERIEEE 167 4,739
Net assets BEFE 2,302,977 2,389,276
EQUITY B
Issued capital BT 12,316 12,651
Reserves (note) e () 2,290,661 2,376,625
Total equity B 2,302,977 2,389,276
Tang Ching Ho Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
BRE PR 4% B2
Director Director
EF EF
. =
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43. AR a2 g

43. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(continued)

=
=)
i3

Note:

RARIEEHERERIINT

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share Fair value Retained
option reserve profits/
Share Special Contributed reserve (non-  (accumulated
premium reserve surplus (note) recycling) losses)
BRERE ATERE REEH,
ROEE BHIRE RHRH (Fa#E) (RFB1R)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$ 0
T FT
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+FMA—-A 2,116,420 (27,150) 275,693 383 = 420 2,365,766
Profit and total comprehensive FRERNR2ERERE
income for the year - = = — - 10,859 10,859
Forfeiture of share options BEARAER I - - - (51) - 51 =
At31 March 2018 R=FB-N\F=A=+—H 2116420 (27,150) 275,693 332 - 11,330 2,376,625
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 RENEBE RS %R
FoTMTE = = - - 28533 (28533) =
At 1 April 2018 (restated) RZE—-\FNA—A
(&%) 2,116,420 (27,150) 275,693 332 28533 (17,203) 2,376,625
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (58523) (58523)
Other comprehensive loss FEEMPERE
for the year:
Change in fair value of financial BRAFEEE M2 E RS
assets at fair value through ANEZHBEEZ
other comprehensive income AP EES - - - - (17,820) = (17,820)
Total comprehensive loss FEZABBRE
for the year - - - - (17,820) (58,523) (76,343)
Shares repurchased and cancelled FEE R SR D (FiE29)
(note 29) (9,621) = = - - = (9.621)
Forfeiture of share options SRR - - - (246) = 246 =
At31 March 2019 R-Z-NE=A=+—H 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 86 10,713 (75,480) 2,290,661

M : BRERGBEERARTRZEEY
B2 AFECE-THIERRE
BHmRME24BBARD RERZ
NRZEFBER) - HIAABEED
I FHSEREEEMRA - M
MiERERRINEBRREK &
AERHEEEREET

e T B 5
MBRREHEFER-_F—NF
AR\ R EETIE -

Note: The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet
to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share
capital when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits

should the related options expire or be forfeited after the vesting period.

44. Approval of the Financial Statements 44.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 28 June 2019.
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Investment Properties

Location
Mok

Shop B, G/F, Nos. 23-33 Shui Wo Street,

Kwun Tong, Kowloon

BEER E TR M7 23-33 SR ¢ T~ BER 4R

Shop G, 103 Hip Wo Street, Kwun Tong,

Kowloon

FUBEBRIE 19 14T 103 5% G S &

G/F, 581 Nathan Road, Mongkok, Kowloon

NEHABIE

G/F, Bowring Building, No. 14 Bowring Street,

Kowloon

NEEBEF4REEANET

Shop A, G/F, No. 76B To Kwa Wan Road,

Kowloon

Nge £ I

Shop B, G/F, the Cockloft Yan Oi House,

\\\\\\

581 5 T

B 76BN ABR A

No. 237 Sha Tsui Road,

No. 87 & 89 Chuen Lung Street,

Tsuen Wan, New Territories
HREED

CEEM T BHERE

A28 237 5% &%

Shop B on Ground Floor,
Nos. 106-108 Shau Kei Wan Road,

Hong Kong

Y ¥

\\\\\\

=8

B 106-108 5% 4t T~ B4d

Shop 3 on Level 1, Jade Plaza,

JIIBEAT 87 K2 89 5%

No. 3 On Chee Road,

Particulars of Properties

Commercial
premises for rental

hHEEAYE

Commercial
premises for rental

HERAYE

Commercial
premises for rental

HEEAYE

Commercial
premises for rental

HHEEAYE

Commercial
premises for rental

iz ask /e
Commercial

premises for rental

HERAYE

Commercial
premises for rental

HERAYE

Commercial
premises for rental

Tenure

FH

Medium term lease
REITRAY
Medium term lease
REIFE A
Medium term lease

h HAFE 4D
Medium term lease
R EAFE AT

Long term lease
RHEIHELD

Medium term lease

B 4

Medium term lease

B 4

Medium term lease

IR

Attributable
interest of the

Group
REEZ EIEER

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Tai Po, New Territories

MANBLEEIFRFLER1E3%RHE L EBAYE h EAFE 49

fir 0 8 2 P AT R

e ATCE 275



Five Year Financial Summary
TR M s

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling TXAAEBRA A EMREE 2 50
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BE - ABENKEERERBE - DEEE
published audited financial statements and reclassified/re-presented as B A2 BB R Bk - Wik T XAT#E
appropriate, is set out below. EREEENSE EFEY -

Results SERHE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-ALEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

—B-0F ZF)N\F ZFL£F ZFF ZThF
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS$000  HK$'000

FEx FET FET FET FET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS REREER
Revenue s 751,443 845,781 738,440 825,331 831,088
Profit/(loss) before tax from FECEEE 2 BRTLAT
continuing operations wH/ (E18) 81,694 (114,887) (96,359) 29,066 120,778
Income tax credit/(expense) Friskife,/ (Fx) (7,448) (2,281) 2432 (3,839) (7)
Profit/(loss) for the year from BECEER I AEE
continuing operations sl (E18) 74,246 (117,168) (93,927) 25227 120,761
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRI FER
Profit/(loss) for the year from ERIEEBCAFEE
a discontinued operation wH, (E8) - - - - 90
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AEEHF/ (BE) 74,246 (117,168) (93,927) 25,227 120,851
Attributable to: ATALREL :
Owners of the parent SRAFHEA A 74,627 (115,581) (93,303) 25,387 120,979
Non-controlling interests JEFERSRE RS (381) (1,587) (624) (160) (128)
74,246 (117,168) (93,927) 25,227 120,851
Assets, Liabilities and Non-Controlling Interests i, AR B A

At 31 March
R=BA=+—~H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

—2-AE “FT-\F “FT-+F “FT-AF “T-5F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET FHET FHET TET
Total assets B 3,454,670 3656461 3573251 3237452 2,823,903
Total liabilities BEE (1,006,581)  (1,096,436) (915,528) (907,896) (777,948)

2,448,089 2,560,025 2,657,723 2,329,556 2,045,955

Fquity attributable to owners of ~ BFA R A AFEMEHEZ
the parent 2,444,118 2554504 2651791 2322490 2,038,729
Non-controlling interests RS 3,971 5,521 5,932 7,066 7,226

2,448,089 2,560,025 2,657,723 2,329,556 2,045,955

276 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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